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OPERATING FIGURES

Profit and loss
2017

2016

Revenues

K€

88,542

77,245

EBIT

K€

13,829

10,497

Net profit for the period

K€

9,073

7,129

2017

2016

Balance sheet and cashflow statement figures

Total assets

K€

71,342

66,637

Equity ratio

%

79.6

78.5

CF from operating activities

K€

12,752

95

CF from investing activities

K€

-3,428

-1,968

CF from financing activities

K€

-3,999

-3,554

Cash and cash equivalents

K€

11,506

6,517

2017

2016

Share

Result per share

€

1.02

0.80

Dividend per share*

€

0.60

0.45

2017

2016

Employees at year-end

415

382

Employees in annual average

402

375

Employees

*Dividend proposal 0,60 € per dividend-bearing share for the financial year 2017

SEGMENT
INFORMATION

PRODUCT
GROUPS

Revenue distribution of product groups 2017

24,201
16 %
13,557

50,784

15 %

Revenue
in K€

69 %

2,105

Revenue distribution of product groups 2016

1,389

10,335
15 %

EBIT*
in K€
17 %
68 %

8.7

20.4

■ Optical and X-ray series inspection systems

10.2

■ Special optical and X-ray inspection systems
EBIT-Margin*
in %

■ Europe

■ Americas

■ Asia

* in consideration of consolidation differences

■ Service

VISCOM.
VISION TECHNOLOGY.
Viscom has been successfully represented on the market with
its inspection solutions since 1984. From its origins as a pioneer
in the field of industrial image processing, it has grown into a
company with 415 employees and revenue of around € 88.5
million. Its portfolio focuses on high-quality inspection systems
for the electronics industry, especially automated optical inspection systems, solder paste inspection and mounting and solder
joint inspection, as well as X-ray inspection. The company is now
one of the leading global providers and the European market

leader in this area. With its core competency of component
inspection, Viscom is a specialist for quality assurance in electronics production. The company offers series systems and
customer-specific inspection solutions.
Viscom inspection systems are leading-edge technological
products that are used successfully around the world by highprofile companies across a wide range of industries.

INCOMING ORDERS

REVENUE

EBIT

EBIT-MARGIN

EQUITY RATIO

€ 90.3 MILLION

€ 88.5 MILLION

€ 13.8 MILLION

15.6 %

79.6 %

Hanover, Germany
Paris, France
Atlanta, USA

Shanghai,
China

Singapore

Headquarters
Own subsidiaries
Support- & Service Centers
Region with local support
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FOREWORD
FROM THE EXECUTIVE BOARD
We demonstrated our strength and continued on our successful

Our aim is to allow you, the loyal shareholders of Viscom AG,

path in the 2017 financial year. The technological and strategic

to participate in the Group’s positive economic development.

orientation of the Group again proved to be the right one.

Together with the Supervisory Board, we will propose a di-

We comfortably achieved our forecast for the past financial year

vidend payment of € 0.60 per dividend-bearing share to the

and successfully realised our goals.

Annual General Meeting on 30 May 2018. This corresponds to a
dividend yield of 2.0 % based on the closing share price at the
end of 2017.

„We offer custommade solutions
for any inspection
job and combine
sophisticated
engineering with
easy handling.“

Our high-end technological developments are setting new
standards – in areas from 3D and X-ray technology to networked integration. At the same time, Viscom’s intensified presence
is making an impression in the regions that are important to
the Group. For example, our Chinese branch celebrated its tenth
anniversary last year.
We are particularly pleased to be able to offer strong solutions
and partnerships for Industry 4.0 – from our open interface for

Dr. Martin Heuser
Member of the Executive Board (Technology)

We generated double-digit growth in consolidated revenue,
which rose by 14.6 % to € 88.5 million. Operating profit (EBIT)
improved by as much as 31.7 % to € 13.8 million. Accordingly,
our return on revenue increased from 13.6 % in the previous
year to 15.6 % in the year under review. The Group’s extremely
positive development was driven by excellent performance in
all regions and divisions. In 2017 alone, we increased our revenue from serial products by 17.3 % and our revenue from services by an outstanding 21.4 % year-on-year. At 15 %, the share
of revenue attributable to special products remained largely
unchanged as against the previous year (17 %). Our statement
of financial position also has solid foundations, as illustrated
by our equity ratio of 79.6 %.
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third-party systems through to our participation in the Hermes
Standard, which is defining standards for the intelligent networking of the individual systems on a production line. Viscom is a
partner in pioneering projects for various customer industries
around the world. We are optimistic about the future.
We operate in an extremely strong growth market. The continued upturn in the proportion of electronics and the ongoing
miniaturisation of electronic components are the driving factors
behind the market potential enjoyed by our inspection systems.
They are also the market developments behind megatrends
like e-mobility and autonomous vehicles. These advancements
are continuously creating new and more stringent process and
quality requirements. Our customers meet these requirements
by using our technologies to guarantee the quality of complex

In 2018, Viscom will again systematically leverage the growth
opportunities that present themselves. We are aiming for revenue of between € 93 million and € 98 million and an EBIT-Margin

„Customers
worldwide value
our technological
lead and our
potential.“

Volker Pape
Member of the Executive Board (Sales)

of 13 to 15 %. An order backlog of € 19.8 million at the end of
2017 represents a good starting point for achieving this.

„Our staff‘s
know-how, their
motivation and
Viscom‘s team
spirit are the key
to our success.“

assemblies. Industry 4.0, which is now fairly well established,
is increasingly being accompanied by calls for the use of artificial intelligence, and particularly for specific projects for appli-

Dirk Schwingel
Member of the Executive Board (Finances)

cations in electronics production and quality assurance. There
are two reasons why Viscom is already excellently positioned
compared with its competitors in this respect: Firstly, we offer
a complete technology portfolio for the inspection industry.
This means we can boast in-depth process expertise and have
already developed intelligent system communications on the
production line with the Quality Uplink. We have also been investing in research in this area for many years and are working
internally, represented by a team of IT specialists, on various spe-

We would like to take this opportunity to thank our employees
for their dedication and loyalty and our customers, business
partners and shareholders for the trust they have placed in us.
We look forward to continuing on our path with you in 2018.
The Executive Board

cific implementations for applications in industrial production
in the near future.
This gives us extremely good foundations for continuing to
gain market share and remaining firmly on our growth path in

Dr. Martin Heuser

Volker Pape

Dirk Schwingel

future.
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REPORT OF THE
SUPERVISORY BOARD
The following section comprises the Supervisory Board’s report on its activities in the 2017 financial year, and in particular the
focal points of its monitoring and advisory functions, compliance with the German Corporate Governance Code, and the audit
of the single-entity and consolidated financial statements.

Dear Ladies and Gentlemen,
The figures presented by the management of Viscom AG for the
2017 financial year were extremely satisfactory. Thanks to the
contribution of all its branches, subsidiaries and divisions, the
Group continued on its growth path and closed the year under
review extremely successfully. Consolidated revenue increased

transactions that were important for the business and that
required its approval, and discussed each of them with the
Executive Board. The Supervisory Board also satisfied itself that
the Executive Board had developed its effective and efficient
corporate compliance system and the internal risk management
and control system for the Viscom Group.

by 14.6 % year-on-year to € 88,542 thousand, while operating
profit amounted to € 13,829 thousand, corresponding to an

Composition of the Supervisory Board

EBIT-Margin of 15.6 %. These figures are within the increased

In compliance with section 11 (1) of the Articles of Association

target range issued by the management on 20 July 2017.

in conjunction with section 95 sentences 1 to 4, section 96 (1),
section 101 (1) AktG, the Supervisory Board of the company

Advising the Executive Board and
Monitoring Management
In the 2017 financial year, the Supervisory Board carried out the
duties and obligations required of it by law and the Articles of
Association, continuously monitoring the Executive Board’s
management of the company and regularly acting in an advisory capacity on corporate management issues in order to
ensure that the Executive Board acted in accordance with the
relevant rules and statutory provisions. It also obtained regular,
prompt and comprehensive information on the development

consists of three members who are elected by the Annual
General Meeting without it being bound by any specific proposals. In the 2017 financial year, the three members of the
Supervisory Board of Viscom AG were Bernd Hackmann (Chairman of the Supervisory Board), Klaus Friedland (Deputy Chairman of the Supervisory Board) and Prof. Ludger Overmeyer.
The terms of office of the three appointed Supervisory Board
members are identical and will expire at the end of the Annual
General Meeting that approves the actions of the members of
the Supervisory Board for the 2018 financial year.

of business operations over the course of the year, the company
strategy and its implementation, planning, the risk situation,

Meetings of the Supervisory Board

risk management measures and compliance. The Supervisory

The Supervisory Board held seven regular meetings in the 2017

Board continuously monitored management on the basis of

financial year, including one meeting for an efficiency review

written and verbal Executive Board reports and joint meetings,

under exclusion of the Executive Board. The meetings took place

receiving explanations from the Executive Board of any devia-

on 24 January, 14 March, 3 May, 31 May, 2 August, 7 Novem-

tions from plans and objectives for business developments and

ber and 5 December. At these meetings, the Supervisory Board

the reasons for these. The Supervisory Board carefully examined

was provided with prompt and comprehensive information on
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Klaus Friedland

Bernd Hackmann

Prof. Dr. Ludger Overmeyer

Deputy Chairman of the Supervisory Board

Chairman of the Supervisory Board

Member of the Supervisory Board

current business policies, relevant aspects of company planning

Board. The Supervisory Board was involved in all decisions of

including financial, investment and human resources planning,

fundamental importance to the company. The single-entity

the course of business, the company’s current revenue, earnings

and consolidated financial statements, the management report

and liquidity position, budget planning, the economic situa-

and Group management report and the interim reports were

tion of the company and the Group including risk factors and

discussed in detail with the Executive Board prior to their publi-

risk management, as well as corporate compliance within the

cation. In addition, the Supervisory Board was presented with

Group, strategic objectives and all major organisational and per-

transactions requiring its approval. These were approved fol-

sonnel changes. All meetings were held in person. Resolutions

lowing detailed examination and discussion with the Executive

on urgent matters were also passed outside meetings, both in

Board. Among other things, these included the annual adoption

conference calls and in writing. At the beginning of the sessions,

of the budget for the next financial year, comprising revenue,

the Supervisory Board regularly consulted on matters relating

cost, earnings, investment, human resources and financial plan-

to the Supervisory Board without the presence of the Executive

ning including statements of cash flows for the company and
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its affiliated companies, and the purchase of additional land by

The meeting to review the accounts on 14 March 2017 focused

Viscom AG to build a car park for the company’s employees. The

on the adoption of the single-entity and consolidated financial

Executive Board provided the Supervisory Board with the key

statements for 2016, including the management reports, the

figures required to assess business developments, in each case

Executive Board’s proposal for the appropriation of net retained

including comparisons with the current budget and the prior-

profits, the Corporate Governance Statement and Corporate

year figures, as part of monthly reporting. Reporting by the Exe-

Governance Report as well as the Executive Board report on the

cutive Board took place on request and in response to specific

relationships between Viscom AG and its affiliated companies.

enquiries by the Supervisory Board, as well as periodically accor-

During the meeting, which was also attended by the auditors,

ding to the rules of procedure for the Executive Board issued by

the Executive Board issued a comprehensive report to the

the Supervisory Board.

Supervisory Board on the basis of detailed documents. The
auditors reported on the material findings of their audit. The

Additionally, the Chairman of the Supervisory Board was regu-

single-entity and consolidated financial statements for 2016

larly informed about current business events by the Executive

and the management reports were approved, meaning that the

Board.

annual financial statements of Viscom AG have been adopted.
The Supervisory Board approved the proposal by the Executive

Focal points of the Supervisory Board‘s
discussions and examinations
Information passed from the Executive Board to the Supervisory
Board focused on the revenue situation as well as its effects
on the business operations of Viscom AG and the Group. Key
topics discussed at the meetings of the Supervisory Board in
the 2017 financial year included the strategic direction of the
company and its further development, the business operations
of the Group and the individual business areas. The Supervisory
Board discussed the organisation, and in particular risk management and the economic, financial and strategic situation of the
company and each of its business areas, as well as key questions
of corporate policy and strategy, with the Executive Board.
Furthermore, the Executive Board and Supervisory Board discussed developments on the international markets and at the
locations of the company’s subsidiaries in the USA, Asia and
France, as well as the general global competitive structure and
possible areas for diversification. Another key topic discussed
by the Supervisory Board was succession planning for the
Executive Board of Viscom AG.

Board on the appropriation of net retained profits. The Supervisory Board did not raise any objections to the audited Executive Board report on the relationships between Viscom AG and
its affiliated companies. In addition, the agenda and the proposed resolutions for the Annual General Meeting 2017 were
approved.
At the meeting on 3 May 2017, the Supervisory Board intensively
addressed the development of business operations during the
first three months of the year in the context of the consolidated interim financial statements as of 31 March 2017. Individual risks were also discussed in greater detail based on risk early
detection management.
A detailed review of the Annual General Meeting took place at
the meeting on 31 May 2017. This meeting also resolved the
targets for the proportion of women on the Supervisory Board
and the Executive Board of Viscom AG. Further details on these
resolutions can be found in the Corporate Governance Statement and Corporate Governance Report, which are included
in the 2017 Group management report in Viscom AG’s Annual
Report for the 2017 financial year.
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The meeting on 2 August 2017 focused on the development of

conflicts of interest affecting the Executive Board or Supervisory

business in the first six months of the year in the context of the

Board members requiring immediate declaration to the Super-

consolidated interim financial statements, which the Executive

visory Board and disclosure at the Annual General Meeting.

Board and Supervisory Board discussed and reviewed in detail.
During the 2017 financial year, the Supervisory Board – without
From autumn 2017, the Supervisory Board began its discussions

the presence of the Executive Board – assessed the efficiency

on long-term succession planning together with Viscom AG’s

of its activities in line with the requirements of the German

Executive Board in accordance with the recommendation of

Corporate Governance Code. This assessment took place on

section 5.1.2 of the German Corporate Governance Code.

24 January 2017. The meeting was conducted largely on the
basis of checklists. In addition to the long-term assessment of

The Supervisory Board on 7 November 2017 focused on the

past resolutions, the assessment focused on efficient coopera-

consolidated interim financial statements as of 30 September

tion within the Supervisory Board, between the Chairman of the

2017. Potential individual risks were also discussed in greater

Supervisory Board and the other Supervisory Board members,

detail based on risk early detection management.

and between the Supervisory Board and the Executive Board.
No material aspects requiring improvement were identified. The

At their meeting on 5 December 2017, the Executive Board and

meeting also focused on the preparation of a profile of skills and

Supervisory Board discussed in detail and adopted the annual

expertise for the entire Supervisory Board within the meaning

planning, including financial, investment and human resources

of section 5.4.1 (2) of the German Corporate Governance Code.

planning, for the 2018 financial year on the basis of extensive
documentation. The Executive Board also provided the Super-

Above and beyond this, the Executive Board and Supervisory

visory Board with an overview of the current status of the com-

Board submitted the annual declaration of compliance with

pliance programme and its implementation. The potential

the German Corporate Governance Code on 28 February 2018.

obligations with regard to sustainability reporting were also

This declaration has been made permanently available to the

discussed in detail.

public on Viscom AG’s website. The Executive Board, including
on behalf of the Supervisory Board, reports on the company’s

Each of the Supervisory Board meetings was attended by all

corporate governance in the Corporate Governance Statement

of the Supervisory Board members.

published by Viscom AG in accordance with section 289f HGB.

Corporate Governance

Accounting

Information on the aspects of the company’s corporate gover-

PricewaterhouseCoopers GmbH Wirtschaftsprüfungsgesellschaft,

nance relating to the Supervisory Board can be found in the

Hanover office, was elected as the auditor for the single-entity

Corporate Governance Statement in accordance with section

and consolidated financial statements of Viscom AG for the year

289f of the German Commercial Code (HGB), which is included

ended 31 December 2017 by the Annual General Meeting of the

in Viscom AG’s Annual Report for the 2017 financial year. The

company on 31 May 2017 and duly engaged by the Supervisory

remuneration of the individual Supervisory Board members is

Board. The Supervisory Board then negotiated and awarded

reported in the Corporate Governance Statement, which forms

the audit assignment. It was agreed that the auditors should

part of the management report. There were no indications of

promptly report all findings and occurrences of significance to
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the tasks of the Supervisory Board as they were identified by the

The report on Viscom AG’s relations with affiliated companies

auditors in the course of their audit. Furthermore, it was agreed

prepared by the Executive Board of Viscom AG in accordance

that the auditors were to inform the Supervisory Board and/or

with section 312 AktG was also examined by the auditor Price-

include a comment in the audit report if, in conducting their

waterhouseCoopers GmbH Wirtschaftsprüfungsgesellschaft.

audit, they became aware of any information indicating an inaccuracy in the declaration of compliance with the German

The auditor issued the following audit opinion:

Corporate Governance Code issued by the Executive Board and

“Following our mandatory audit and examination, we confirm

the Supervisory Board.

that
1. the factual information contained in the report is accurate,

The 2017 annual financial statements of Viscom AG prepared
by the Executive Board in accordance with HGB and the con-

2. the payments made by the company for the transactions
listed in the report were not inappropriate.”

solidated financial statements prepared in accordance with the
International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) as adopted by

The Supervisory Board meeting to review the accounts took

the EU for the year ended 31 December 2017, the management

place on 13 March 2018. The documents relating to the single-

report and Group management reports, together with the ac-

entity and consolidated financial statements, the Executive

counting records, were audited and issued with an unqualified

Board’s report on Viscom AG’s relations with affiliated compa-

audit opinion.

nies, the Executive Board’s proposal for the appropriation of
net retained profits, the long-form audit report on the financial

The audit focused in particular on revenue recognition, the

statements and all other documents and meeting reports were

measurement of the completed and incompleted products

provided to the members of the Supervisory Board in a timely

(inventories) as well as the impairment testing of the activation

manner prior to this meeting. This documentation was discussed

and depreciation of development expenses in the consolidated

in detail during the Supervisory Board accounts review meeting.

financial statements. In addition, the auditor inspected Viscom

The auditor attended the meeting, reported on the audit and

AG’s existing risk early detection system in accordance with

its results, and provided information on its findings concerning

section 317 (4) HGB and, as a result of this assessment, came

the internal control system and accounting-related risk mana-

to the conclusion that the Executive Board has established an

gement. The auditor was also on hand to answer questions,

appropriate information and monitoring system whose design

provide additional information and discuss the documents.

and use is appropriate to identify developments that could
endanger the company’s continued existence at an early stage.
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Following a detailed discussion of the audit and its results with

The Supervisory Board would like to thank the members of the

the auditor, a thorough examination of the audit reports pro-

Executive Board, the management of the subsidiaries, the heads

vided by the auditor and its own examination and discussion

of the divisions, the Works Council as well as all employees of the

of the single-entity and consolidated financial statements, the

Viscom Group for their high level of personal commitment and

management report, the Group management report and the

their work in the 2017 financial year, which helped the Group to

Executive Board’s proposal for the use of retained earnings, the

achieve its extremely strong results.

Supervisory Board approved the results of the audit. The Supervisory Board determined that there were no objections based

Hanover, 13 March 2018

on the final results of its examination. At its accounts review
meeting on 13 March 2018, the Supervisory Board approved

For the Supervisory Board

the single-entity and consolidated financial statements, the
management report and the Group management report for
the 2017 financial year, meaning that the single-entity financial
statements have been adopted (section 172 sentence 1 AktG).
Bernd Hackmann
The Supervisory Board approved the proposal by the Executive

Chairman of the Supervisory Board

Board on the appropriation of net retained profits taking into
account the development of earnings and the financial position. The Supervisory Board also examined the report of the Executive Board on Viscom AG’s relations with affiliated companies
and, based on its own examination and discussion of the report,
agreed with the audit results of the auditor. At its meeting on
13 March 2018, the Supervisory Board determined that there
were no objections against the declarations of the Executive
Board at the end of the report on Viscom AG’s relations with
affiliated companies based on the final results of its examination.
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VISCOM’S SHARES
Basic information on Viscom’s shares
German Securities Code Number (WKN)

784686

ISIN

DE 000 7846867

Ticker symbol

V6C

Market segment

Regulated market (Prime Standard)

Category

No-par value bearer shares

Share capital (€)

9.02 million

Share capital (units)

9,020,000

Number of voting shares

8,885,060

2017

2016

2015

Year-end share price *

€

29.59

13.30

14.70

Highest share price during the year *

€

30.80

15.60

17.35

Lowest share price during the year *

€

13.85

11.56

11.25

€ million

266.90

119.97

132.59

Earnings per share

€

1.02

0.80

0.40

Dividend per share **

€

0.60

0.45

0.40

Market capitalisation (end of year)

* All share price information is based on XETRA daily closing prices
** Dividend proposal of € 0.60 per dividend-bearing share for the 2017 financial year

Market conditions
2017 was a year of above-average stock market performance,
with a near total absence of setbacks, corrections and, in particular, volatility and fluctuations. Low interest rates, the strength
of the global economy and solid economic growth were the
fundamental factors behind the positive development on the
stock markets. Almost all of the major share indices around
the world recorded healthy gains. Geopolitical risks also did little
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to curb the mood on the global financial markets. The DAX,
which represents the German stock market, closed the year up
12.51 %. The German MDAX (+18.08 %), SDAX (+24.87 %) and
TecDAX (+39.59 %) indices also enjoyed an extremely successful
2017. The euro gained ground towards the end of 2017, closing
the year up 14.15 % at USD 1.2005.

VISCOM’S SHARE PRICE PERFORMANCE
compared with the DAX and TecDAX in 2017
■ Viscom (Xetra): 212.9 %

■ DAX (Xetra): 111.4 %

■ TecDAX (Perf.) (Xetra): 137.4 %
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Viscom share price
Viscom’s share price saw an extremely encouraging upward
trend in the 2017 stock market year. The low for the year of € 13.85
was recorded on 3 January 2017. The revenue and earnings
figures published during 2017 and the ambitious targets for
the 2017 financial year ensured continued positive impetus for
the share price as the year progressed.
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Viscom’s shares reached a high for the year of € 30.80 on
18 December 2017. The share price averaged € 21.16 across 2017
as a whole and closed the year at € 29.59. In percentage terms,
this meant Viscom’s share price increased by around 119 %
between the beginning and the end of the year.

Analyst recommendations
Three financial analysts cover and comment on Viscom’s shares
on a regular basis. At 31 December 2017, the share had two
buy recommendations and one accumulate recommendation.
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SHAREHOLDER STRUCTURE
■ Allianz 7.4 %

■ Viscom AG 1.5 %

■ Freefloat 31.5 %

■ Shareholders of long standing 59.6 %

Shareholder structure
The shareholder structure of Viscom AG is characterised by the
high degree of involvement on the part of the company founders and Executive Board members Dr. Martin Heuser and Volker
Pape. 59.6 % of the shares are held by Dr. Martin Heuser and
Volker Pape, either directly or via HPC Vermögensverwaltung
GmbH. 7.4 % of the shares are held by Allianz. Viscom AG holds
1.5 % of its own shares, which the company repurchased in
2008/2009 as part of a share buy-back programme. The 31.5 %
of shares that are in free float are spread primarily among investors in Germany and other European countries.

Annual General Meeting 2017
The Annual General Meeting of Viscom AG was held at the Old
Town Hall in Hanover on 31 May 2017. Of the company’s voting
share capital of € 8,885,060.00, divided into 8,885,060 no par
value shares, a total of 6,556,389 no-par value shares with the
same number of votes were represented during the voting
process; this corresponds to 73.79 % of the voting share capital.
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All agenda items were adopted by the shareholders and shareholder representatives with the necessary majority. The actions
of the Executive Board and Supervisory Board were approved.
The distribution of a dividend of € 0.45 per share for the 2016
financial year was resolved.
The next Annual General Meeting of Viscom AG is scheduled
to take place at the Old Town Hall in Hanover on 30 May 2018.

Dividend proposal for the 2017 financial year
The Executive Board and Supervisory Board will propose a
dividend payment of € 0.60 per dividend-bearing share to the
Annual General Meeting on 30 May 2018. With its intention
to distribute at least 50 % of the net profit generated, the management is following the dividend policy that Viscom AG has
communicated for several years now. This proposed dividend is
based on the company’s expected economic development
under consideration of funds required for business operations.

Investor Relations
The objective of our investor relations activities is to enable all
capital market participants to evaluate Viscom AG objectively.
We achieve this by means of continuous, open communication.
Viscom AG held numerous one-on-one meetings with analysts
and investors in 2017 and appeared at Deutsche Börse’s German
Equity Forum in Frankfurt.
Extensive information on Viscom’s shares can be found in
the Investor Relations section of the company’s website at
www.viscom.com.
You can also contact the Investor Relations department at the
following address:
Viscom AG
Investor Relations
Anna Borkowski
Carl-Buderus-Straße 9-15
30455 Hanover
Germany
E-mail: investor.relations@viscom.de
Tel.: +49 511 94996-861
Fax: +49 511 94996-555
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THE STRATEGY.
Tailored solutions
for every inspection task!

Our corporate strategy is geared towards generating sustainable value in order to further secure Viscom’s future viability.
The requirements made of Viscom’s inspection systems are becoming increasingly specific, not least because of the permanent
miniaturisation of components and the ongoing process of digitalisation and networking. As a result, our highly qualified
engineers work in partnership with our customers to develop tailored solutions and open up additional opportunities for new
inspection systems, software components and services. Our global presence allows us to ensure smooth system integration,
optimised workflows, training and comprehensive support. Quickly, expertly and hassle-free.

TECHNOLOGY

electronics are essential markets for us. At the same time, we are

Viscom’s innovative solutions ensure optimal insight!

intensifying our presence in future-oriented segments. Viscom’s
primary objective is the expansion of its market position in the

Technological innovation remains a vital strategic success factor

high-volume production of globally active contract manufactu-

and the only way we can satisfy the constantly changing mar-

rers and the development of new areas of application with the

ket conditions. We work on highly innovation-driven technolo-

aim of diversification.

gies while developing new markets and leveraging potential in
order to expertly master the challenges of globalisation and the

We invest continuously in optimising our inspection systems

rapid pace of technological change. Automotive and industrial

and deliver proof of our performance compared with competitor
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systems in on-site demonstrations for our customers. One focal

We constantly optimise and expand our product portfolio on

point of inspection technology is 3D inspection. The market is

this basis. Close cooperation with our international customers

increasingly demanding solutions in this area. Viscom offers the

forms the basis for customising Viscom products precisely to

corresponding solutions for optical inspection, X-ray inspection

their needs.

Drucker

3D-SPI

Closed Loop

Bestücker

3D-AOI

Quality Uplink

3D-AOI/3D-AXI

Verifikation

3D-MXI

Closed Loop

Inspection-line in SMT production

and paste print inspection, ensuring 100 % error detection for

At the leading trade fair productronica in November 2017,

the products of tomorrow.

we received the “productronica innovation award” in the Inspection & Quality category for the X7056-II, our latest system for

In addition, the networking of individual systems within a pro-

automated 3D X-ray inspection. The X7056-II is the next gene-

duction line is becoming increasingly important in the current

ration of the popular predecessor, the X7056RS. With its new

era. These approaches are also familiar in the context of “Indus-

xFastFlow handling, the system is ideally designed for use within

try 4.0”. To this end, 16 production suppliers, including Viscom,

production lines. Up to three PCBs can be handled simultane-

launched “The Hermes Standard” in March 2017. The aim of the

ously. The xFastFlow enables component infeed and outfeed

standard is to define new specifications for communication

times of less than four seconds.

between the machines on a production line. This will enable
PCBs to pass smoothly through all the individual stations of an
automated production line together with information such as
dimensions or transport speed.

Winner of the
innovation award 2017
Inspection system X7056-II
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Best inspection quality
for secure electronics
Engine Management Systems

Electronic Controls
Infotainment & Driver Interface

Connection Systems
Electrical/Electronic Distribution Systems

MARKETS
Always with our finger on the pulse!
Shaping the current market environment and responding

and the goal of autonomous driving are also providing great

swiftly to technological trends is our credo. Our company enjoys

impetus for this development: Vehicles will use electronic trans-

secure growth prospects thanks to the growth in the electro-

mitters and receivers to communicate with each other as well as

nics market and various megatrends. In particular, we believe

with the decentralised control system. The sensors connected

that major global customers offer significant growth potential,

to the control system must also deliver error-free, failure-free

which we are directly targeting. Our main aim is to outperform

data about the vehicle environment. And all of these electronic

our undoubtedly strong competitors in customer evaluations

components can be tested by our inspection systems in order

and demonstrate our technical expertise.

to ensure permanent quality and process control.

Electronics alone will continue to account for even more of the

Our strong presence in the key global sales markets allows us

value added of a vehicle in future. As the electronic control of

to identify the latest developments and their requirements,

power electronics is essential in order to ensure optimal compo-

respond to them, and optimise our strategy with a focus on the

nent efficiency, the number of control units installed in vehicles

market.

will continue to increase. The trend towards networked vehicles
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COMPETITION
… and with a keen eye on the competition!
Our product range covers the complete range of optical inspec-

Viscom has strong competitors on the global market, especially

tion and X-ray inspection, and we naturally face strong compe-

from Korea and Japan. In Viscom’s home market of Germany,

tition in some of these areas. Competitive pressure has been on

there are only two other internationally oriented providers of

the rise for a number of years, especially from the Asian region.

inspection systems.

Every year, new companies enter the market and exhibit their
systems at the leading Chinese trade fairs, Nepcon Shanghai

We are countering this competition with corresponding product

and Nepcon Shenzhen. While these systems are presented with

innovations and enhancements to our software and camera

a professional housing design, they cannot compete with the

technology, and have succeeded in positively distancing our-

global players when it comes to software and camera techno-

selves from our competitors in continuous benchmarks and

logy. Two providers have only just succeeded in establishing

evaluations.

themselves locally in the lower price and performance segment.
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SOCIAL RESPONSIBILITY.
A focus on responsibility and sustainability!
As an employer, we are happy to comply with the high degree of responsibility we have in terms of ensuring our actions are
socially responsible, resource-efficient and environmentally aware. Social commitment and a responsibility to our employees
constitute another important element of our corporate culture. As a leading global manufacturer of optical and X-ray inspection systems for the electronics industry, we are aware of our responsibility when it comes to these criteria. With this in mind,
sustainable corporate governance is at the heart of everything we do.
Since 2014, we have been a partner of the Blue Competence sustainability initiative of
the German Mechanical Engineering Industry Association (VDMA), which seeks to promote sustainability in mechanical and plant engineering and raise awareness of sustainable solutions within the industry. This means we undertake to observe the 12 principles of
the VDMA sustainability initiative. We believe a responsible approach to natural resources
and social responsibility are key aspects of our activity as a company. We express this in
the form of sustainable products and production and management processes. Continuous improvement forms the basis for the development and enhancement of sustainable
solutions.
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RESPONSIBILITY FOR OUR EMPLOYEES
Viscom’s corporate culture is characterised by modern, futureoriented human resources management with a focus on
people. Every day, our employees contribute their experience,
their ideas and their outstanding commitment in order to
ensure the company’s long-term success.
We help our employees to achieve a healthy work-life balance
and support their physical and mental health through our
“Vikis” company crèche, occupational health management and a
broad range of working time models.
The Viscom Group had a total of 415 employees at the end of
the financial year, an increase of 8.6 % compared with the
previous year.

Employee distribution by region 2016/2017

We provide enthusiastic young people with the opportunity to
obtain excellent professional training at an innovative company.
At present, we are actively training employees as industrial clerks,
IT specialists for system integration, IT specialists for applications
development, electronics technicians for devices and systems,
and warehouse logistics specialists. In 2017, the Group had a
total of 13 trainees at its headquarters in Hanover-Badenstedt.
In addition, the company’s suggestion scheme, also known as
idea management, gives employees of Viscom AG the opportunity to contribute their suggestions and ideas to the organisation, thereby further improving economic efficiency with the
involvement of the entire workforce and helping to secure jobs
and the future of the company. The scheme aims to make ideas
usable and ensure appropriate recognition for the respective
employees, as well as promoting a high degree of identification
with the company. We want to harness the idea potential of all
employees – not only managers and experts – for the benefit of
the company as a whole.

56

52
22
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56

52

2017

2016
310

■ Europe

■ Americas

337

■ Asia

Employee development keeps us fit for the future

Employee distribution by full-time/part-time 2016/2017

34

29

Employee satisfaction forms the basis for our company’s success
in a dynamic and challenging environment. Since 2014, Viscom
AG has conducted regular employee surveys in order to allow
us to identify what drives our success as a company, harness
unutilised potential and make use of the feedback provided by
our employees for the sustainable development of Viscom AG.

2017

2016
353

■ full-time

The active exchange and transfer of expertise between employees is also promoted by way of annual international sales and
service events and employee assignments at our branches and
subsidiaries around the world. The professional development
opportunities offered to our employees are completed with
corresponding language courses and seminars.

381

■ part-time
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Actively supporting a healthy work-life balance

DEVELOPING YOUNG TALENTS

We offer all employees the right working time model for their
respective phase of life. In addition to working from home and
flexitime and part-time working arrangements, we support
leave periods such as caregiver leave.

The school pupils of today are the specialists of tomorrow. The
industry has recognised that the building blocks for an interest
in technology need to be laid at primary school age.

However, we believe family-friendliness means more than just
flexible working time models. We also help parents to achieve a
smooth transition back into working life. Our company crèche,
“Vikis”, at our headquarters in Hanover-Badenstedt provides
loving and proficient all-day care for 15 children up to the age
of three. This helps our employees to achieve the best possible
work-life balance.

Occupational health management
Our occupational health management adopts a holistic approach. The mental health of our employees is at least as
important as their physical health.
The positive effects of promoting health and well-being in the
workplace are clearly documented. Sickness absence rates
are lower, productivity is higher, employees are more satisfied.
Processes are optimised. Customer satisfaction can even improve as a result, because better quality means fewer complaints.
We use a wide range of measures in a targeted manner, from
healthy workplace design through to offering our employees
courses and consultations on health matters such as healthy
eating and stress management.

Occupational safety
The safety of our employees and our operational procedures enjoys the very highest priority. Through high standards, targeted
training and the permanent improvement of safety precautions,
we seek to prevent accidents in the workplace while ensuring
that our employees have a detailed understanding of the safetyrelated regulations and provisions they are required to observe.
In this area, too, we provide our employees with regular training
and courses.
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Technology means getting a grasp on things, both literally and
figuratively. Children can learn from textbooks and videos, but
they develop a far more effective understanding of complex
relationships when the learning process involves not only their
eyes and ears, but also their hands or even their whole body.
The KiTec project, which was developed by the Wissensfabrik
– Unternehmen für Deutschland corporate network in conjunction with educational experts, gives primary-age children
the opportunity to build and construct things in order to gain
hands-on experience. For more than five years, Viscom has
worked in partnership with the Hanover-based organisation
KiWiZ e.V. to support four primary schools by financing KiTec
boxes – kits containing tools and materials for use in class – as
well as the training required by teachers to ensure the materials
are used as intended.

The annual Research Prize competitions organised by KiWiZ e.V.,
in which children from all participating primary schools get to
present the masterpieces they have constructed and created in
front of a jury of experts, are extremely popular. In the process,
the children also learn how to work in a group and develop
social skills that will help them in their later working life. In the
hope that some of these young talents will eventually apply for
an apprenticeship or come to Viscom after completing their
training, Viscom sees its financial contribution to these activities
as a long-term investment with a calculable risk but incalculable
upside potential for the future. In any case, it also represents
a small contribution to securing Germany’s position as a production location for sophisticated and innovative technologies.

ENVIRONMENT
As an industrial company, environmental protection and resource efficiency are close to our heart and constitute a key pillar
of our day-to-day activity.
Electrical energy accounts for around 40 % of the energy consumed globally, and this figure is expected to rise to 60 %
by 2040. In response to this, significant efforts are being undertaken to make materials, electronics and entire production
processes more energy-efficient. Electronics also have an ecological footprint.

Complex electronics have found their way into almost every area of public life. When it comes to energy efficiency, it is
not only the products themselves but also the manufacturing
and processing methods that are being subjected to scrutiny.
Inspection systems for quality assurance, e.g. for optical inspection and X-ray testing, help to sustainably improve workflows
and contribute to energy savings in the production process by
allowing errors to be identified at an early stage in order to prevent wastage, for instance. Intelligent inspection systems also
allow the process itself to be analysed and optimised in a targeted manner. The efficiency-oriented solutions and developments offered by Viscom allow companies to reduce costs and
improve competitiveness, as well as making an important contribution to the attainment of environmental protection targets.
Viscom customers have already been able to take advantage of
government subsidy programmes when investing in inspection
systems, as Viscom works to ensure maximum energy efficiency even at the design stage. It achieves this through the use
of efficient control electronics, as well as by optimising lighting technology with LEDs and using performance-optimised
system computers.
Viscom also ensures transparency with regard to its own energy
consumption and identifies all potential energy efficiency
improvements as part of the implementation of the Energy
Efficiency Directive (2012/27/EU).
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COMPLIANCE

serious legal infringements to Viscom AG. This allows the Compliance Officer and where applicable the Executive Board to work
towards containing damage and preventing further damage.
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RISKS

ADHERENCE
LIABILITY
DATA PROTECTION

ANALYSIS
IMPLEMENTATION

MANAGEMENT

SYSTEMS

RULES

CODE

AUDIT

COMPLIANCE
COMPANY

They are available to Group employees on the intranet, where
they can be accessed at all times in German and English.
A whistle-blower system allows employees to report certain

IDENTIFY

In order to actively meet local and international responsibilities,
the Executive Board has developed, approved and introduced a
compliance policy and corresponding annex for the employees
that goes beyond the statutory rules of conduct applicable to
all members of governing bodies and employees of the Viscom
Group. This “Corporate Compliance Policy” stipulates how to
deal with business partners and government institutions, how
to maintain secrecy, independence and objectivity and how
to act in cases of conflict of interest. These principles include a
prohibition on corruption and cartel agreements, compliance
with data security guidelines, equal opportunity and adherence
to product safety and occupational health regulations.

Compliance is an integral part of Viscom’s business processes
and has formed the basis for a comprehensive and long-term
management process, which is an ongoing and central task for
the company. The topic of compliance must evolve constantly
in order to react to the opportunities for improvement and the
changing demands of global business. It forms the basis for
ongoing change and improvement, making it a living process
within the company.

CONDUCT

Compliance with the law is our duty as a company, and it is in
every company’s own interest to reduce risks. We see it as our
responsibility to adhere to all laws and internal regulations, while
voluntary obligations and ethical principles also form an integral
part of our corporate culture.

PREVENT

OUTLOOK.
What the future holds and how we will reach our goals!
The increasing digitalisation of production processes, the growing proportion of electronics and the miniaturisation of electronic components are fundamental challenges requiring sustainable and intelligent inspection solutions for quality assurance
and process optimisation. This is precisely where we see our
products making a difference and offering significant market
potential.
From automotive electronics and aviation through to production processes in industrial electronics, our aim is for our customers to manufacture error-free products and control their processes effectively. Accordingly, we focus our innovative strength
on developing high-performance inspection solutions that will
continue to guarantee the quality of complex assemblies in
future.
The automotive and industrial electronics sector has historically
been Viscom’s most important sales market. At the same time,
we are continuously intensifying our presence in future-oriented segments. In particular, we believe that the major technological segment of Computer, Communication and Consumer
offers potential for future market diversification and that we can
significantly increase our share of business attributable to this
area. Accordingly, our objectives remain clearly defined: To reinforce our market position in the automotive supply industry,
expand our market position in the high-volume production of
globally active contract manufacturers, and hence also expand
our market position in the Asian region in particular.

With these aspects in mind, we will continue to press ahead on
our growth path and leverage the available market potential
in a wide range of electronics segments. At the same time, we
will continue to strengthen our global presence through permanent technological and innovative development. We intend
to harness megatrends and benefit from current trends such as
autonomous driving, e-mobility, the miniaturisation of electronic components and the general and continuous rise in quality
standards. We will also increasingly address the topics of Industry 4.0, big data and artificial intelligence within our software
development in order to ensure that we keep our finger on the
pulse of the market in future, thereby allowing us to offer our
customers the best possible technologies.
Dear shareholders, what can you expect from 2018 and what
are our company’s forecasts for the year?
As previously, our dividend policy states that at least 50 % of our
net profit will be distributed. Accordingly, the Supervisory Board
and Executive Board will propose a dividend payment of € 0.60
per dividend-bearing share to the Annual General Meeting on
30 May 2018. As in the previous years, this proposed dividend
is based on the company’s expected economic development
under consideration of funds required for business operations.
The undistributed portion of our net profit will be used primarily to finance the company’s continued growth. In addition, the
management is forecasting revenue of between € 93 million
and € 98 million and an EBIT-Margin of between 13 % and 15 %
for the 2018 financial year.
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GROUP MANAGEMENT REPORT 2017
BASIC INFORMATION ON THE GROUP
Business model of the Group

Board and Supervisory Board published in the German Federal
Gazette (Bundesanzeiger) on 10 July 2013.

Structure of the Company and its investees
Viscom AG, Hanover (hereinafter: Viscom AG), is the parent com-

As of 31 December 2017, Viscom AG held committed capital

pany of the Viscom Group (hereinafter referred to as Viscom).

reserves in accordance with section 272 (2) no. 1 HGB amounting to € 14,557,160.08.

Viscom AG is registered with Hanover Registry Court under
commercial register number 59616.

On 29 July 2008, the Executive Board, with the approval of the
Annual General Meeting on 12 June 2008 and after consultation

With subsidiaries in Asia, America, Europe and Africa that are di-

with the Supervisory Board, decided to acquire up to 902,000 of

rectly or indirectly wholly-owned by Viscom AG, the Group has

the Company’s own shares by 31 March 2009. By the reporting

an efficient, market-oriented organisational structure. All of the

date of 31 March 2009, the Company had bought back 134,940

companies are focused on their respective customer groups

shares. As of 31 December 2017, Viscom AG held approximately

and their requirements. This enables them to act and respond

1.50 % of its own shares.

quickly and in a flexible manner. They also benefit from the
advantages of belonging to a larger group, thus enabling the

The Executive Board of Viscom AG consisted of three members

mutual exchange and utilisation of knowledge and experience.

as of 31 December 2017:

Production takes place exclusively in the Group’s home base,
Hanover. This means that Viscom enjoys the production advan-

Dr. Martin Heuser: Technology

tages of one of the most highly developed industrial locations,

Volker Pape: Sales

allowing it to guarantee a very high quality level for its products.

Dirk Schwingel: Finance

In 2001, Viscom GmbH changed its legal form to that of a Ger-

The Executive Board is monitored by the three members of

man stock corporation (Aktiengesellschaft) and became Viscom

the Supervisory Board:

AG. The Company’s share capital is divided into 9,020,000 shares,
of which 59.64 % are held directly or indirectly through HPC

Bernd Hackmann (Chairman)

Vermögensverwaltung GmbH by the Company’s founders and

Klaus Friedland (Deputy Chairman)

Executive Board members Dr. Martin Heuser and Volker Pape.

Prof. Dr. Ludger Overmeyer

7.36 % of the shares are held by Allianz.
Segments and key locations
The Extraordinary General Meeting held on 20 August 2013

Viscom develops, manufactures and sells high-quality auto-

agreed to convert a part of the committed capital reserves

mated inspection systems for use in industrial production. The

(€ 22,550 thousand) into free capital reserves (section 272 (2)

Company’s business activities are broken down on the basis of

no. 4 of the German Commercial Code (HGB)) by way of an

work required for the project-specific adaptation of standard

increase in the Company’s share capital from corporate funds

components and systems, as well as the technology used to

without issuing new shares and a subsequent reduction in ca-

identify potential production errors using the inspection sys-

pital. This is in accordance with the proposals by the Executive

tems.
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In geographical terms, the Company’s business incorporates the

Major business processes are managed and supported with the

European market with its headquarters in Hanover and a subsi-

help of the business software proALPHA. The order processing

diary in Paris, France; the American market with its subsidiary in

module included in this system is used by all Viscom locations

Atlanta, USA; and the Asian market with its subsidiary in Singa-

around the world.

pore, which in turn has its own subsidiary in Shanghai, China.
The sales company in Tunis, Tunisia, a subsidiary of the French

Legal and economic factors

subsidiary, is allocated to the geographical segment Europe.

There were no fundamental changes to the legal and economic

The company is developing the North African sales market.

framework with a material effect on the Company in the 2017
financial year. For details of the development of economic

Business processes

framework conditions in the 2017 financial year, please refer to

The inspection systems are developed and produced at Viscom

the economic report below.

AG’s headquarters in Hanover. This is where all the centralised
functions, such as business administration, development, pro-

Management system

duction, service and sales management, are based.

The key performance indicators according to which the Viscom
Group is managed are incoming orders, revenue, EBIT (operating

The Company’s product development activities are focused

profit or segment earnings) and the EBIT-Margin (EBIT/revenue).

on fundamental development work for future generations of
inspection systems, as well as project-specific development

The management of the Group is based on a reporting system

for the adaptation of basic machine types to meet customer-

that takes the form of monthly reports submitted to manage-

specific requirements.

ment and the heads of the business areas. These monthly reports include the consolidated income statement and indivi-

A large part of production is order-based. This draws on in-

dual breakdowns for the various Group companies.

house pre-production of various assemblies.
The reports also include a detailed presentation of the cost
Sales activities are performed by sales employees of Viscom AG

structure at Viscom AG and its Group companies. They provide

and its Group companies, as well as by agents acting on the

information on revenue in the Group’s machine installation re-

market as industry representatives for mechanical engineering

gions, incoming orders, the order backlog, the number of em-

firms.

ployees, cash and cash equivalents, total receivables and receivables from subsidiaries, orders placed for the purchase of goods

High reliability is also one of the most important aspects when

and inventories of goods as well as completed and partially

using an inspection system. This requires regular maintenance,

completed systems.

repair and calibration. The Service business area supports
Viscom customers with regard to these tasks. Fast reaction times

In addition, they provide an overview of employee turnover,

are ensured thanks to the global presence of Viscom’s service

the sickness absence rate and per capita revenue, as well as key

employees.

indicators for project management, product development, production and logistics.
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The statements contained in the monthly reports are analysed

The more images provided for 3D reconstruction, the better the

in regular meetings between the Executive Board, all of the

quality of the information obtained. The new S3088 ultra chrome

heads of the business areas and the managing directors of the

completes the S3088 ultra system family, which already features

individual branches. Any action that may be necessary results

two successful products: the S3088 ultra blue and the S3088 ultra

in decisions which are usually implemented in the short term.

gold. All three products allow customers to perform the highquality 3D inspection of electronic assemblies, but with different

Viscom AG was listed in the Prime Standard of the regulated

focal points. The S3088 ultra gold is the high-end inline system,

market on the Frankfurt Stock Exchange on 31 December 2017.

combining maximum throughput with optimal resolution and

The Company publishes quarterly and half-yearly consolidated

analysis quality. The S3088 ultra chrome is cost-optimised and

financial reports in accordance with IFRS.

offers the throughput of the S3088 ultra gold, making it predestined for the Asian market. All the system types use sensor mo-

Research and development

dules based on the tried and tested Viscom XM 3D technology

The main focus of development activities is on the further deve-

adapted to reflect the respective purpose.

lopment of existing system solutions as well as the implementation of new market requirements in the field of optical and

The X7056RS inspection system has been Viscom’s series system

X-ray inspection processes. This area also focuses on the definition

for the automated X-ray inspection of PCBs including hidden

of new products and machines.

solder joints that cannot be inspected optically. In 2017, Viscom
presented the successor system, the X7056-II, which offers a

Viscom works continuously on developing new and improving

number of improvements. One key aspect of the development

existing products. In terms of serial products, activities in the

work was reducing the handling time, i.e. the time it takes to

field of automated optical inspection (AOI) in 2017 focused on

unload an inspected PCB from the system and load the next PCB

the launch of the 3D-AOI S3088 ultra chrome inline system. In

to be inspected. No inspection can take place during this time.

automated X-ray inspection (AXI), the X7056-II system, which is

As such, throughput has increased considerably thanks to the re-

the successor to the X7056RS, was presented. Following the suc-

duction in the handling time between the X7056RS and X7056-II

cessful placement of the X8011-II and X8068 system platforms

by more than a factor of 2. The X7056-II is fitted solely with Flat

for manual and semi-automatic X-rays, the next step is the ex-

Panel Detector (FPD) X-ray sensors, which offer high image qua-

pansion of the X8068 for inclusion in automatic line concepts.

lity and enable planar computer tomography (planar CT) when

Supplementing the standard system X7056-II, this machine type

combined with an xy conveyor axis below the FPD. Planar CT

will be suited for processing larger and heavier objects above and

allows layered images of the solder joints to be generated, there-

beyond typical PCBs, thereby allowing customers to perform in-

by further improving analysis quality. With linear axes for moving

line inspection even in special cases like these. X-ray business is

the FPD, the X7056-II offers increased options and higher speed.

also supported by the expanded integration of Viscom’s all-metal
X-ray tubes in third-party measurement and inspection systems.

This is all the more important as X-ray inspection is increasingly
being used in the series production of electronic assemblies. One

In the area of automated optical inspection, the 3D evaluation

of the drivers of this trend is the growing miniaturisation of com-

of soldered PCBs is now standard. The XM sensor modules used

ponents and the more frequent use of components with hidden

in this process use fringe projection to obtain 3D information.

solder joints.
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As well as the inspection of soldered connections on “conven-

The foundations for this development were laid in 2017, and the

tional” PCBs, Viscom offers inspection solutions for wire bonds,

first installations of AXI systems using vVision will take place in

i.e. electrical bonds using extremely fine gold, copper or alumi-

2018.

nium wires that are welded onto the components. The demands
in terms of camera technology require even stronger resolutions

Further important software modules for Industry 4.0 were develo-

than for soldered connections in SMD components. In 2017,

ped in 2017. In addition to the existing MES solutions (“Manufac-

Viscom XM technology was used in the first XM Bond camera

turing Execution System”, allowing customers to transfer the pro-

module. This will be supplemented by additional modules in

cess data from Viscom inspections to superior control systems),

2018, leading to even better 2D image quality while significantly

networking software for the individual production steps gained

reducing the inspection cycle time.

in importance in the past year. On a production line for electronic assemblies, the key production steps are stencil printing,

Alongside 2D inspection, the three-dimensional inspection of

component mounting, and soldering in the soldering oven. The

wire bonds will increase in future. A comprehensive inspection

networking software ensures data exchange with the mounting

concept for wire connections is currently being developed and

machines and stencil printers in particular. The Viscom data pro-

will be ready to go into series production for thick wire connec-

vided allows customers to improve the quality of these produc-

tions by the end of 2018.

tion steps. The software package is rounded off by the transferability of result data through to the manual X-ray systems X8011

vVision has been used successfully as a software platform for op-

and X8068, which can be used to subject critical assemblies to a

tical solder joint inspection for several years. vVision significantly

further detailed examination.

simplifies the operation and engineering of inspection programs
for the PCBs being inspected. Release version 2.4 of the software

Artificial intelligence and deep learning represent new areas of

was published in 2017 and has opened up significant new bene-

software development. Examples of existing applications include

fits for customers, particularly with regard to the initial optimisati-

translation and gaming software, where some of the results have

on of inspection programs. The quick optimisation of inspection

been nothing short of astonishing. In 2018, Viscom will launch a

programs leads to better test results and lower verification costs.

number of software projects aimed at examining the extent to
which these methods can be used in automated PCB inspection.

While vVision was previously used primarily by new customers,

One potential area of application would be improving system

release version 2.6, which will be published in 2018, will also al-

operation and making it even easier to optimise the inspection

low existing customers to begin using vVision. Release version

results.

2.6 offers functions and features that are particularly important
for existing customers wishing to switch to vVision. Another fo-

The successful transfer of scientific findings into practical applica-

cal point of software development is the provision of vVision for

tions at Viscom has been another building block of research and

automated X-ray inspection (AXI). vVision was previously used

development for several years now. Together with the Leibniz

primarily for the automated optical inspection of assemblies. The

University Hanover, Viscom is promoting such a transfer process

expansion of the available applications to include AXI means cu-

within the scope of research and development projects, in which

stomers can enjoy the benefits of vVision for X-ray inspection, too.

scientific knowledge is applied in developing solutions to specific
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issues relevant to the market. In addition to these projects, the

The further development of the quality management system

Company continued to intensify its cooperation with universities

resulted in continuous quality improvements. Viscom has been

in 2017 by offering a number of internships and bachelor’s and

consistently certified under DIN EN ISO 9001:2015 by the Ger-

master’s theses.

man Society for the Certification of Management Systems since
January 2005 and has also been certified under DIN EN ISO

Expenditure for research and development, excluding construc-

9001:2015 since 19 February 2017.

tive changes for customer-specific adaptations, amounted to
6.2 % of revenue (previous year: 6.4 %). Development costs total-

Basic principles of the remuneration system

ling € 2,317 thousand were capitalised in the past financial year

The remuneration report for Viscom AG’s Executive Board and

(previous year: € 1,450 thousand), resulting in a capitalisation ratio

Supervisory Board members is included in the corporate gover-

of around 58 % for 2017 (previous year: around 39 %). Capitali-

nance report, which forms part of the management report.

sed development costs were written down as scheduled in the
amount of € 1,477 thousand (previous year: € 1,109 thousand).

30

ECONOMIC REPORT

Macroeconomic and sector development

compared with the previous year (3.0 %). Investment in equipment, which primarily relates to machines, systems and vehicles,

Macroeconomic development

increased by 3.5 % year-on-year on a price-adjusted basis. Ger-

The global economy continued to consolidate and enjoyed

man exports enjoyed continued growth, with average price-

further solid development in 2017. This positive development

adjusted exports of goods and services 4.7 % higher than in the

was not curbed by the various geopolitical and economic risks.

previous year. Germany’s economic output in 2017 was genera-

The USA and Japan enjoyed dynamic growth in 2017, while

ted by an average of just under 44.3 million employees working

economic performance in the euro zone was surprisingly lively.

in the country – the highest level since reunification.

The Chinese economy underwent a phase of strong expansion.
The upturn in the major economies also stimulated economic

Sector development

activity in the emerging economies as a whole in 2017.

The inspection of electronic assemblies is Viscom’s main revenue segment. Consequently, Viscom is primarily represented in

Economic growth in the USA in the past year fell below the tar-

the automotive supplier segment within the electronics indus-

get of three percent issued by President Donald Trump, with

try, one of the largest branches of industry in the world.

price-adjusted gross domestic product (GDP) increasing by
2.3 % as an average for the year as a whole. The US economy lost

Technical developments in the electronics industry have been

a little momentum in the fourth quarter of 2017 compared with

an innovation driver for Viscom over the last few years. The vo-

the two preceding quarters, but the third-longest expansion in

lumes and quality requirements of increasingly complex and

US economic history remains intact and is expected to continue

ever-smaller electronic assemblies are seeing constant growth,

in 2018.

meaning that they can be reliably tested only using automated
inspection systems. The automotive electronics sector is the

Growth in the Chinese economy accelerated in 2017 on the

main market for Viscom’s products.

back of the more lively global economy. Gross domestic product
increased by 6.9 %. This meant that the world’s second-largest

In recent years, Viscom has intensified its efforts to gain a foot-

economy after the USA grew more than three times faster than

hold in other industries such as telecommunication, industrial

the largest European economy, Germany.

electronics and semiconductor production. The Company has
already established itself with a broader base among SMEs in

The economic situation in Germany in 2017 was characterised

Europe. At the same time, it is continuing to focus on electronic

by strong growth, with almost every sector making a positive

manufacturing services (EMS) in the computers, communica-

contribution to economic development. All in all, price-adjusted

tion and consumer (3C) sector in Asia in particular.

GDP increased by 2.2 % year-on-year in 2017. This meant the
German economy grew for the eighth year in succession and

The German mechanical engineering sector is heavily depen-

recorded its strongest growth rate since 2011. Positive impetus

dent on international markets and, according to the German

in the past year resulted from the further upturn in consumer

Mechanical Engineering Industry Association (VDMA), the trend

spending, increased investment on the part of many compa-

towards the internationalisation of German mechanical engi-

nies, and the high level of global demand for products made in

neering and the corresponding customer industries remains

Germany. Gross capital expenditure saw above-average growth

intact.
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Target sectors, target markets and target customers

Close and long-term customer contacts form the basis for com-

The inspection systems manufactured by Viscom are employed

prehensive and customised service. The results of this coopera-

primarily within the electronics industry. Producers of electronic

tion are incorporated into the development of new system solu-

components are the main customer segment, accounting for

tions and the refinement of proven systems. This allows Viscom to

84 % of revenue (previous year: 82 %). Some of these companies

develop new solutions and open up future markets thanks to

are involved in production for end consumers. However, the

a high degree of innovation and customer proximity.

majority of Viscom’s customers are suppliers for other companies that manufacture products such as electronic assemblies

Customer structure

which are integrated into end products as supplier parts – for

Viscom generated around 58 % of its revenue with its five largest

example, motor controllers in vehicles. The remaining 16 % of

customers (previous year: around 54 %). A further 30 % of reve-

revenue (previous year: 18 %) is attributable to manufacturers

nue was generated with 50 customers. The remaining revenue

from other industries, such as medical technology. In addition, a

was generated with a total of 318 different customers.

substantial proportion of customers are from the entertainment
and home electronics sector.

Markets
With its optical, X-ray and combined inspection systems, Viscom

With the increasing use of in-car electronics and the high relia-

is particularly well represented in production operations with

bility requirements for vehicle systems, the automotive industry

the very highest quality requirements.

has developed into one of the most significant customer groups
for the inspection of electronic assemblies.

Accordingly, its main customers are companies who make
product safety a top priority. The automotive electronics sector

These assemblies, which often take the form of safety-related

accounts for a particularly high volume of business in this

components, such as ABS, ESP, or airbags, are typically inspected

respect.

using systems such as those offered by Viscom.
Technological developments and the accompanying technical
Due to rising technological demands, including in the consu-

and economic progress, combined with its international sales

mer goods industry, quality pressure is also far higher than in

and service presence, have helped Viscom to expand its market

previous years. However, the emphasis is being placed more on

position and achieve long-term customer retention.

process quality, as a stable process improves the delivery quality and, in particular, results in fewer rejects and hence higher

By continuously developing its products, improving its business

levels of production efficiency. At the same time, electronics

processes and adapting its sales organisation to reflect changing

manufacturers from Asia in particular that were still seen as low-

conditions, Viscom is in a position to address the challenges of

price suppliers just a few years ago are increasingly seeking to

the future and thus maintain and expand its market position.

position themselves as premium suppliers.
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SUMMARY ANALYSIS OF THE COMPANY’S NET
ASSETS, FINANCIAL POSITION AND RESULTS
OF OPERATIONS AND COURSE OF BUSINESS
Actual development of key performance indicators in 2017 compared with the forecast
Performance indicator

Forecast for 2017
(As at 31.12.2016)

Forecast for 2017
(As at 20.07.2017)*

Actual figure
for 2017

Actual figure
for 2016

Revenue

€ million

80.0 – 85.0

87.0 – 92.0

88.5

77.2

Incoming orders

€ million

80.0 – 85.0

87.0 – 92.0

90.3

83.5

EBIT

€ million

10.4 – 12.8

12.2 – 14.7

13.8

10.5

%

13.0 – 15.0

14.0 – 16.0

15.6

13.6

EBIT-Margin

*The Executive Board of Viscom AG upwardly revised the forecast on 20 July 2017 in response to extremely good business development.

Results of operations

tion system sales, particularly for the X7056RS range and the
S3088 product family, as well as the upturn in service business.

Incoming orders / order backlog

In the final quarter of 2017, revenue declined by around 9.2 % to

At € 90,250 thousand incoming orders in the 2017 financial

€ 24,023 thousand compared with the strong figure recorded in

year were up significantly on the prior-year level (previous year:

the same period of the previous year (€ 26,470 thousand).

€ 83,498 thousand). The 8.1 % increase was due in particular to
higher order volumes from major existing customers. The order

Operating profit (EBIT)

backlog amounted to € 19,777 thousand at year-end, up around

Operating profit increased by 31.7 % year-on-year to € 13,829

9 % year-on-year (previous year: € 18,069 thousand).

thousand (previous year: € 10,497 thousand).

Revenue development

The revenue growth and the more pronounced change in

Revenue in the year under review amounted to € 88,542

inventories meant that the cost of materials rose by € 8,029

thousand (previous year: € 77,245 thousand), corresponding to

thousand year-on-year to € 34,051 thousand (previous year:

a year-on-year increase of 14.6 %. At € 19,542 thousand, reve-

€ 26,022 thousand). The change in inventories amounted to

nue in the first quarter of 2017 increased by a substantial 75.7 %

€ 2,104 thousand (previous year: € -461 thousand). Staff costs

compared with the relatively low prior-year figure (€ 11,124

increased from € 26,918 thousand to € 28,724 thousand as a

thousand). This was due to the processing of the high order

result of the necessary capacity expansion, as well as salary ad-

backlog as of 31 December 2016 and the substantial volume

justments. Other operating expenses increased due to higher

of incoming orders recorded in the first quarter of 2017, some

general and administrative costs, temporary staff and exchange

of which resulted in revenue in the period under review. In the

rate losses in particular, amounting to € 16,882 thousand after

second quarter of 2017, Viscom generated revenue of € 20,353

€ 15,550 thousand in the previous year.

thousand (previous year: € 20,085 thousand), representing a moderate year-on-year increase. Consolidated revenue in the third

The revenue growth described above more than offset the in-

quarter increased by 25.9 % year-on-year to € 24,624 thousand

crease in expenses, thereby leading to the strong increase in

(previous year: € 19,566 thousand). As previously, the main rea-

operating profit.

sons for this positive development were the growth in inspec-
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EBIT-Margin

Financial result

The effects on operating profit discussed above, and particularly

The financial result improved by € 32 thousand year-on-year,

the higher level of revenue combined with the below-average

amounting to € 2 thousand in 2017 (previous year: € -30 thou-

rise in total expenses, led to an increase in the EBIT-Margin for the

sand).

2017 financial year. The EBIT-Margin amounted to 15.6 % after
13.6 % in the previous year.

Exchange rate effects
As it operates internationally, Viscom is exposed to exchange

Net profit for the period

rate risks. Due to the Company’s business volume and the deve-

Net profit for the period increased from € 7,129 thousand in the

lopment of the euro/US dollar exchange rate, the current level

previous year to € 9,073 thousand. The effects discussed under

of exchange rate risk was deemed acceptable without the need

operating profit above also had an impact on net profit for the

for hedging. Approximately 10 % of total revenue was subject to

period. The tax rate was unchanged as against the previous year.

direct exchange rate effects (previous year: 7 %).

The pre-tax return on sales was 15.6 % (previous year: 13.6 %).

Currency translation differences had an effect on earnings of
€ -420 thousand in 2017 (previous year: € -17 thousand).

Earnings per share
In the period from 29 July 2008 to 31 March 2009, Viscom ac-

Employees

quired 134,940 own shares on the stock exchange for a price of

The total number of employees increased to 415 in the course

€ 587 thousand. The share buy-back programme reduced the

of the year (previous year: 382). The workforce expansion related

number of dividend-bearing shares from 9,020,000 shares to

to all of the Company’s business areas.

8,885,060 shares. The Company did not exercise the option of
buying back shares in 2017.

13 employees were in training at the end of the year.

On the basis of 8,885,060 shares, earnings per share for the 2017

An average of 402 employees (excluding trainees) worked for

financial year amounted to € 1.02 (diluted and undiluted). In the

the Group in the 2017 financial year (previous year: 375). Of this

previous year, earnings per share amounted to € 0.80.

figure, 156 employees are classified as commercial in Sales, Development and Administration (previous year: 142), while 246

The distribution of a dividend of € 0.60 per dividend-bearing

are classified as industrial in Production, Logistics, Projects and

share will be proposed to the Annual General Meeting on

Service (previous year: 233).

30 May 2018. With its intention to distribute at least 50 % of the
net profit generated, the management is following the dividend
policy that Viscom AG has communicated for several years now.
This proposed dividend is based on the Company’s expected
economic development under consideration of funds required
for business operations.
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Employees
As at 31 December 2017

Europe

Americas

Asia

Total

Total

337

22

56

415

of which full-time

305

20

56

381

of which part-time

32

2

0

34

Trainees

13

0

0

13

Regional developments
Europe

Americas

Europe was by far the strongest regional market, accounting

2017 was characterised by growing confidence among compa-

for around 57 % of the Viscom Group’s revenue. The propensity

nies in the positive economic development in the USA. Projects

to invest among Viscom’s customers in its home market of Ger-

involving X-ray inspection systems accounted for an increased

many can be described as remaining high. Germany therefore

share of revenue in 2017. In addition to the sustained strength of

continued to be an important sales market for Viscom in 2017.

automotive supply business, orders were gained in the fields of
aviation, e-mobility and alternative power generation.

Revenue in Germany amounted to € 24,354 thousand, up
around 5 % on the prior-year figure of € 23,236 thousand.

The economic conditions improved with the adoption of the
US tax reform. Companies in the aviation industry, and particu-

In the rest of Europe, revenue decreased by around 3 % year-

larly large corporations with government orders, are enjoying

on-year to € 26,430 thousand (previous year: € 27,317 thousand).

an extremely healthy order situation. However, there is general
uncertainty concerning the future of free trade agreements, es-

These developments in Germany and the rest of Europe were

pecially the North American Free Trade Agreement (NAFTA), and

reflected in a slight increase in segment revenue, from € 50,553

environmental policy with regard to solar energy and e-mobility

thousand in 2016 to € 50,784 thousand in 2017. Due to high-

in particular.

er intersegment revenue of € 23,919 thousand (previous year:
€ 17,770 thousand) and capitalised development costs, seg-

Revenue in the Americas region increased by around 29 % year-

ment earnings increased by around 32 % to € 10,748 thousand

on-year to € 13,557 thousand (previous year: € 10,530 thousand).

(previous year: € 8,113 thousand).

At € 1,389 thousand, segment earnings were up around 78 % on
the corresponding prior-year figure (€ 780 thousand). This was
due to the substantial revenue growth and the below-average
increase in cost items in comparison.
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Asia

The inspection systems manufactured by the Company in 2017

In Asia, Viscom again expanded its business activities with high-

were primarily inspection systems from the S3088 product

end inspection systems compared with the previous year. In

family and the X7056 product group, as well as internally deve-

particular, it successfully reinforced its market leadership for the

loped X-ray tubes. Viscom has comparatively extensive product

combined optical and X-ray inspection of assemblies across a

expertise thanks to its continuous product development. The

number of customer segments. In addition to growth driven

modular structure of the individual machine types means they

by series business, customers showed increased interest in wire

can be manufactured in many different variants. This represents

bond inspection solutions.

a distinct advantage for customers.

Revenue in this region rose by around 50 %, from € 16,162

Cost-effective model variants such as the S3088 product family

thousand in 2016 to € 24,201 thousand in 2017. At € 2,105

can frequently be offered as entry-level systems with the option

thousand, segment earnings were higher than in the previous

of subsequent upgrading or retrofitting. This initial business is

year (€ 1,536 thousand). This was due to the substantial reve-

extremely important to Viscom as customer decisions in favour

nue growth and the below-average increase in cost items in

of a given system are generally long-term in nature, thereby

comparison.

ensuring follow-up sales.

Products / Inspection systems

A high degree of diversity is achieved by using standardised modules. The model variants come about through design revisions

The inspection systems manufactured by Viscom are based on

and adaptations to reflect the respective area of application.

digital image processing technology, known within the sector
as Machine Vision. Digitalised images are interpreted using spe-

In the X-ray field, Viscom focuses on technically sophisticated

cial software tools and algorithms in order to measure, check

customer projects in addition to optical inspection.

and verify the objects being inspected.
Revenue in the “Optical and X-ray series inspection systems”
Entire production processes can be monitored and controlled

product group increased by around 17 %, from € 52,102

using this measurement and inspection technology.

thousand in 2016 to € 61,137 thousand in the 2017 financial
year. Revenue in the “Special optical and X-ray inspection sys-

The recorded data may be one-, two- or three-dimensional

tems” product group declined slightly by around 2 % in the

data structures obtained using optical area scan cameras, X-ray

same period, from € 13,260 thousand to € 12,983 thousand. An

detectors, laser scanners or similar optical systems.

increase of around 21 % was recorded in the “Service” product
group, resulting in revenue of € 14,422 thousand (previous year:

While an extremely wide range of sensors is only available in
Viscom’s standard products in the area of optical technology, inhouse developments such as X-ray tubes and the related control
electronics are additionally offered in the area of X-ray products.
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€ 11,883 thousand).

Financial position

At € 2,438 thousand, most of the investments in the year under
review related to the product-specific segment “Optical and

Capital structure / liquidity

X-ray series inspection systems” (previous year: € 1,365 thousand).

Viscom was able to generate the required liquidity largely from
its own funds in the 2017 financial year. Existing credit facilities

Cash and cash equivalents / cash flow

were only utilised for short-term refinancing during the year.

Cash and cash equivalents amounted to € 11,506 thousand as

The subsidiaries did not require any loans. At 79.6 %, the Group

at 31 December 2017, up around 77 % on the previous year

equity ratio increased compared with the previous year as a

(€ 6,517 thousand).

result of the net profit for the period (previous year: 78.5 %).
There were no liabilities to banks as of 31 December 2017.

The cash flow from:

Investments

•

Operating activities amounted to € 12,752 thousand (pre-

Investments in property, plant, and equipment and intangible

vious year: € 95 thousand). This was primarily attributable

assets totalled € 3,531 thousand in 2017 (previous year: € 2,024

to the higher net profit for the period. The item was also in-

thousand).

fluenced by the positive adjustment of net profit to reflect
income tax expense and depreciation and amortisation

At € 2,317 thousand (previous year: € 1,450 thousand) the ma-

expense, as well as the increase in liabilities and income

jority of the investments related to capitalised development

taxes paid.

costs. The remainder included operating and office equipment
at € 608 thousand (previous year: € 436 thousand), vehicles at

•

Investment activities totalled € -3,428 thousand (previous

€ 278 thousand (previous year: € 43 thousand), software at

year: € -1,968 thousand) and were mainly driven by capitali-

€ 111 thousand (previous year: € 38 thousand), technical equip-

sed development costs.

ment and machinery at € 49 thousand (previous year: € 36
thousand) and leasehold improvements at € 46 thousand (previous year: € 21 thousand).

•

Financing activities totalled € -3,999 thousand (previous
year: € -3,554 thousand), particularly as a result of the distribution of dividends for the 2016 financial year.

The Europe segment accounted for € 3,116 thousand of the investments (previous year: € 1,927 thousand), while the Ameri-

Overdue trade receivables increased compared with the pre-

cas segment accounted for € 138 thousand (previous year: € 90

vious year. There were no major defaults.

thousand). € 277 thousand was invested in the Asia segment
(previous year: € 7 thousand).

As of the consolidated reporting date, all bank accounts had
a positive balance. There were no loan liabilities to third parties
as of the reporting date.
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Net assets

Default risk was addressed through the recognition of value
adjustments at the end of the year. In terms of the receivables

A net profit was generated in the 2017 financial year. This and

portfolio, percentage value adjustments increased from 3.1 % in

the lower level of receivables meant that cash and cash equi-

the previous year to 5.2 % in the year under review.

valents increased despite the dividend payment for the 2016
financial year. Inventories were higher at the end of the year

Inventories

under review than in the previous year; this was due to the red-

The carrying amount of inventories was € 24,521 thousand at

uction in raw materials and supplies, which was offset by a more

the end of the financial year (previous year: € 22,822 thousand).

pronounced increase in assemblies and partially completed

This net inventory figure included individual value adjustments

systems. Intangible assets also increased, mainly as a result of

on rental and demonstration machines in the amount of € 6,093

capitalised development costs. All in all, this meant that total as-

thousand (previous year: € 5,858 thousand) and impairment los-

sets increased from € 66,637 thousand as of 31 December 2016

ses for extended inventory coverage of € 5,569 thousand (pre-

to € 71,342 thousand as of 31 December 2017.

vious year: € 5,080 thousand). This meant that net inventories
increased by € 1,699 thousand compared with the previous year,

Current liabilities declined slightly compared with the previous

while gross inventories rose by € 2,423 thousand. The growth in

year, while non-current liabilities increased slightly.

inventories was due to the increase in inventories of completed
systems in response to the high level of incoming orders, par-

Non-current assets

ticularly in the final quarter of the year, and the higher order

Within non-current assets, intangible assets primarily comprise

backlog at the end of the year.

capitalised development costs. Intangible assets increased from
€ 7,923 thousand in the previous year to € 8,913 thousand.

Liabilities
Trade payables were essentially unchanged year-on-year at

Receivables

€ 2,609 thousand at the end of 2017 (previous year: € 2,582

At € 22,488 thousand, trade receivables were down on the pre-

thousand).

vious year due to the lower level of revenue generated towards
the end of the year (previous year: € 26,202 thousand). Value

Shareholders’ equity

adjustments on trade receivables totalled € 1,240 thousand

Total shareholders’ equity plus reserves increased from € 52,292

(previous year: € 812 thousand). Value adjustments increased to

thousand in the previous year to € 56,760 thousand in 2017. This

the same extent at Viscom AG and the branches.

change was due to the net profit for the past financial year and
the dividend distribution for the 2016 financial year. Notwith-

All in all, overdue receivables increased by 2.4 % year-on-year

standing the increase in total assets, the equity ratio therefore

to € 9,830 thousand (previous year: € 9,598 thousand). How-

rose to 79.6 % (previous year: 78.5 %).

ever, most of the overdue receivables are short-term in nature.
Around 2 % (previous year: less than 1 %) of total receivables
were more than six months overdue.
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2017
K€

2016
K€

-298

-5,530

Tier 2 liquidity
(tier 1 liquidity plus receivables and other assets less non-current liabilities)

23,089

21,095

Tier 3 liquidity
(tier 2 liquidity plus inventories)

47,610

43,917

Cash and cash equivalents

11,506

6,517

Receivables and other assets

23,862

27,044

Inventories

24,521

22,822

59,889

56,383

11,804

12,047

475

419

12,279

12,466

Net profit for the period after taxes

9,073

7,129

+ Depreciation and amortisation expense

2,068

1,778

11,141

8,907

16.0 %

13.6 %

12.7 %

10.7 %

15.6 %

13.6 %

28.8 %

21.8 %

Liabilities and provisions (-)

-12,279

-12,466

+ Cash and cash equivalents

11,506

6,517

+ Receivables and other assets

23,862

27,044

= Net debt

23,089

21,095

47,610

43,917

79.6 %

78.5 %

Key figures on the Group‘s net assets, financial position and results of operations
Tier 1 liquidity
(cash and cash equivalents less current liabilities and provisions)

Current assets

Liabilities and provisions
Current liabilities and provisions
Non-current provisions

Cash flow

Return on equity
Net profit for the period/shareholders’ equity
Return on Investment (ROI)
Net profit for the period/total assets
Return on revenue
EBT/revenue
Return on Capital Employed (ROCE)
EBIT/(total assets - cash and cash equivalents - current liabilities and provisions)
Net debt

Working capital
Current assets - liabilities and provisions
Equity ratio
Shareholders’ equity/total assets
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REPORT ON POST-REPORTING DATE
EVENTS
Please see the notes to the consolidated financial statements
for the report on events after the reporting date.

REPORT ON OPPORTUNITIES AND RISKS
Expected opportunities

Opportunities of economic development
The general economic conditions influence the Company’s

Electronics are increasingly penetrating every area of life. Elec-

business operations, its financial position and results of ope-

tronic assemblies are growing smaller and smaller, yet at the

rations and its cash flow. If the global economy enjoys a more

same time are expected to take on a growing number of func-

sustainable recovery than expected, Viscom’s revenue and

tions. This technological diversification requires top-class inspec-

results could exceed the current outlook and mid-term targets.

tion solutions that ensure product quality while also guaranteeing the sustainable stability of increasingly complex processes.

Opportunities of research and development

Customer requirements of Viscom inspection systems are there-

Viscom’s growth primarily depends on its ability to develop in-

fore becoming increasingly specific. This dynamic market envi-

novative solutions and hence constantly create added value for

ronment means that new opportunities are constantly arising

its customers. Viscom is also pressing ahead with improving the

for the Viscom Group. Systematically identifying and taking

effectiveness of research and development, shortening innova-

advantage of these opportunities is a key factor for Viscom’s

tion cycles through more streamlined development processes

sustained growth.

and cooperating more closely with customers. If these research

Viscom regularly evaluates market and competition analyses
and aligns its product portfolio accordingly. Building on this,
concrete market opportunities are derived which the Executive
Board incorporates into its annual business plan.
The following opportunities are described in greater detail
owing to their probability of occurrence and are not yet
reflected in the business plan and outlook for 2018.
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and development activities achieve greater progress than currently expected, this could entail the launch of more and improved products or mean that products become available sooner
than planned. This could have a positive impact on revenue and
earnings and help Viscom to exceed its mid-term targets.

Risk management strategy, process and
organisation

The guiding principle of risk management is that the relevant
decision-makers should be made aware of the development of
significant risks as promptly and comprehensibly as possible in

As the parent company Viscom AG is a capital market-oriented

order to facilitate a timely and appropriate response or preemp-

corporation within the meaning of section 264d of the German

tive action. To this end, regular meetings with the Executive

Commercial Code (HGB), key features of the internal control and

Board and the heads of the business areas, the heads of individu-

risk management system including the early identification of

al branches and department heads are held, at which the current

risks in accordance with section 91 (2) of the German Stock Cor-

status of and approach to the recognised significant risk posi-

poration Act (AktG) must be described in accordance with sec-

tions are clarified on the basis of corresponding evaluations and

tion 315 (4) HGB, both with regard to the accounting processes

reports. Additional information regarding the current status may

of the consolidated companies and with regard to consolidated

be required; this is obtained from employees in the respective

financial reporting.

departments. Risk identification in the individual departments is
based on a defined risk catalogue. Risks arising outside the risk

The internal control and risk management system with respect

catalogue must also be included in the reports presented at the

to the accounting process and consolidated financial reporting

regular meetings of senior employees.

is not defined by law. Viscom views the internal control and risk
management system as a comprehensive system and applies

Where possible, potential risks are evaluated according to their

the definitions of an accounting-related internal control system

probability of occurrence and the extent of the potential loss.

(IDW PS 261 para. 19 f.) and risk management system (IDW PS 340

The evaluation of the identified risks is conducted on a net basis,

para. 4) issued by the German Institute of Public Auditors (Institut

i. e. the assessment of a risk reflects the measures already taken

der Wirtschaftsprüfer in Deutschland e.V.), Düsseldorf. An internal

to minimise the likelihood of or the potential loss resulting from

control system therefore encompasses the principles, processes

a risk. In the event of persisting risks, countermeasures are resol-

and measures introduced by company management to support

ved as part of the regular meetings.

the organisational realisation of management decisions.
In terms of the accounting process, Viscom considers the materiOther risks, such as damage from fire, are covered by relevant

al features of the internal control and risk management system to

insurance policies and are not otherwise taken into account as

be those features which it believes could significantly influence

part of risk management.

the financial reporting process and the overall view presented by
the annual financial statements and management report.

As a globally operating group, Viscom is exposed to various risks.
For this reason, a comprehensive risk management system has

The Executive Board bears the overall responsibility for the in-

been devised allowing potential risks to the Group to be de-

ternal control and risk management system with respect to the

tected at an early stage and analysed and appropriate counter-

accounting process and consolidated financial reporting. All

measures to be taken. The risk management system comprises

companies included in the consolidated financial statements are

a number of control mechanisms and is an integral part of the

included in a defined management and reporting structure.

Company’s decision-making process.
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Viscom AG’s Executive Board considers the following elements

In accordance with section 91 (2) of the German Stock Corpo-

of the internal control and risk management system at Viscom to

ration Act (AktG), the risks described below are regularly evalu-

be material with respect to the accounting process and consoli-

ated at management meetings, with decisions being taken as

dated financial reporting:

required.

- Procedures to identify, evaluate and document all material

The Executive Board and the Supervisory Board meet on a

company processes and sources of risk relevant to the accoun-

regular basis in this regard.

ting process. These include financial and accounting processes
as well as administrative and operational company processes

Unless stated otherwise, the following risks are relevant for the

that generate material information required to prepare the

Group and for the individual segments.

single-entity and consolidated financial statements, including
the management report and Group management report.

Country risk
Viscom defines country risk as the introduction of national tra-

- Controls integrated into processes (e.g. IT-supported controls and access restrictions, separation of functions, analytical

ding constraints and/or customs and duties and other barriers
to trading.

controls).
Revenue is generated almost exclusively from customers in in- Monthly internal consolidated reporting with the analysis

dustrialised nations with a functioning legal system. Based on

of significant developments. At a Group level, specific control

past experience, the enactment of trade restrictions on the

measures to ensure the proper and reliable preparation of the

goods sold by Viscom is not a matter of concern. There are

consolidated financial statements include the analysis and, if

currently no import restrictions on the inspection systems pro-

necessary, correction of the single-entity financial statements

duced by Viscom. Country risk is permanently and comprehen-

presented by the Group companies, including the discussions

sively monitored. In the event of any developments suggesting

on the financial statements with the auditors and the docu-

a change in the risk situation, Viscom responds by taking appro-

ments presented by the auditors. Incorrectly completed finan-

priate measures at an early stage.

cial statements are corrected ahead of consolidation with the
help of previously determined control mechanisms and plausi-

Sector risk

bility checks.

Around three-quarters of Viscom’s customer base comes directly or indirectly from the automotive and industrial electro-

- Measures to assure the proper IT-supported processing of facts
and data relating to consolidated financial reporting.

nics sectors. Due to the specialisation on printed circuit board
inspection for automotive suppliers, there is a heightened risk
in the event of a long-term decline in this market, which has

- The completeness and correctness of the consolidated data is

become apparent in the recent past. Regardless of economic

checked using manual process controls and a system of checks

conditions in the automotive industry, the proportion of elec-

and balances.

tronics in vehicles is increasing.
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Viscom’s business strategy is to reduce this sector risk through

Bottlenecks occurred in the procurement times for some parts

various development and sales activities involving areas of

and components with certain suppliers in the period under re-

application in other industries.

view because of the overall positive order situation, resulting in
longer delivery times. The Company prevents bottlenecks by

Customer risk

changing its procurement strategy and expanding its supplier

Viscom defines customer risk as an excessive concentration on

base.

individual customers. Viscom generated approximately 58 % of
its revenue with its five largest customers (previous year: 54 %).

Liquidity risk

This figure therefore increased by four percentage points com-

There is additional potential for financing in the form of unutili-

pared with the previous year.

sed credit facilities and cash and cash equivalents. The financing
environment is not expected to deteriorate. The solid structure

Foreign currency risk

of the statement of financial position and the good prospects

Exchange rates with the euro were subject to substantial

for the future mean there are no identifiable liquidity risks. No

fluctuations in some cases.

borrowing has been required to finance past expenditure or is
expected to be required for the planned expenditure in 2018.

The development of the US dollar is an important factor for
Viscom. Sales in US dollars were affected in tranches during

Default risk

periods of positive development in order to minimise potential

As a matter of principle, default risk relating to specific custo-

exchange rate losses. Foreign currency hedges, e.g. using for-

mers cannot be ruled out. However, Viscom employs appropri-

ward exchange transactions, were not concluded in 2017 but

ate control processes to ensure that sales are only entered into

have been agreed as necessary in the past.

with customers that have a proven credit standing at the time
of sale.

Due to the Company’s business volume and the development
of the euro/US dollar exchange rate, the current level of ex-

Viscom does not act as a guarantor for the obligations of other

change rate risk was deemed acceptable without the need for

parties.

hedging. Approximately 10 % of total revenue was subject to
direct exchange rate effects (previous year: approximately 7 %).

The maximum default risk can be derived from the carrying
amount of the respective financial assets as reported in the

Procurement risk

statement of financial position.

The procurement of components and services from third-party
suppliers is generally subject to the risk of changes in prices

Trademark and patent risk

and delivery schedules. Corresponding purchasing negotiations

The Viscom brand is registered as a trademark in the key global

have succeeded in ensuring that acquisition prices have largely

industrial nations. Overlap with other brands has only occurred

remained stable. The Company is only directly dependent on

very rarely.

specific suppliers to a very limited extent.
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To prevent having to reveal its expertise to third parties, only

Assessment of the overall risk situation

a few process patents have been registered to date – e.g. the

The risks described for the individual Group companies are

patents for the MX products which have been applied for and

collated and discussed at the regular management meetings,

partially registered. There are currently no legal disputes with

where decisions are made regarding the appropriate measures

regard to trademarks or patents.

to be taken as required to counteract the risks.

Technological competitive risk

The probability of occurrence of a risk is evaluated on the basis

Some of Viscom’s competitors are subsidiaries of multinational

of the following criteria:

conglomerates with high investment potential. As a result of ongoing product innovations together with a degree of flexibility
that is significantly higher compared with its competitors – for
example in the adaptation of systems to meet customer requirements – Viscom has been able to increase or at least maintain its
market share in the past. Viscom will continue doing everything
required in order to keep developing its competitive advantage.
Taxation risks
Viscom is increasingly exposed to taxation risks due to stricter
interpretations and assessments by the tax authorities. Provisi-

Evaluation

Probability of occurrence

Probable

> 50 %

Possible

25 - 50 %

Improbable

< 25 %

The risk level is defined on the basis of the potential financial
impact:
Risk level

Potential financial impact

ons are recognised as required based on the estimated claims of
the financial authorities.

Low
Medium
High
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< € 0.5 million
€ 0.5 million - € 2.5 million
> € 2.5 million

Evaluation of individual risks:
Risk type

Potential financial impact

Probability of occurrence

Country risk

Low

Improbable

Sector risk

High

Possible

Customer risk

Medium

Improbable

Foreign currency risk

Medium

Possible

Procurement risk

Low

Possible

Liquidity risk

Low

Improbable

Default risk

Low

Improbable

Trademark and patent risk

Low

Improbable

Technological competitive risk

Low

Improbable

Medium

Possible

Taxation risks

In light of their probability of occurrence, Viscom’s management

In light of the Group’s extremely strong market position, innova-

does not believe that the risks described above pose a threat

tive technological strength and clearly structured early risk iden-

to the continued existence of the Group, either individually or

tification, Viscom’s management expects to be able to continue

cumulatively.

successfully counteracting the issues raised and any resulting
risks in the 2018 financial year.

Business risks, and in particular default risks relating to the customers accounting for the greatest proportion of revenue, are not

There were no material litigation risks as of 31 December 2017.

identifiable at present. However, future revenue remains subject
to risk insofar as it depends in particular on the ongoing development of the automotive industry.
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REPORT ON FUTURE DEVELOPMENTS
IN 2018
Economic conditions

In light of the positive economic forecasts and intensified sales
activities accompanied by a high order backlog, Viscom is opti-

The International Monetary Fund (IMF) is forecasting even stron-

mistic with regard to the 2018 financial year.

ger growth in the world economy in 2018 and 2019. Driven by
the current upturn in Europe and Asia and the tax reform in the

Business policy

USA, global economic growth is expected to amount to 3.9 % in

The core focal points of the Viscom strategy are:

both 2018 and 2019. For the USA, the IMF is forecasting growth
of 2.7 % in 2018 and 2.5 % in 2019. The IMF is also optimistic with

• extensive innovative strength

regard to the growth prospects for China. The world’s second-

• technological leadership

largest economy is expected to see economic growth of 6.6 %

• technology partnerships with key customers

this year and 6.4 % in 2019. For Germany, the IMF is forecasting

• global presence

economic growth of 2.3 % in 2018. It is also confident with

• sustainable and transparent business policy

respect to 2019, forecasting economic growth of 2.0 %.
Based on these strategic focal points, Viscom will continue to
The upturn in the German economy since 2013 has accelerated

expand its presence in the regions with the highest sales in

considerably. The ifo Institute is anticipating growth in real GDP

order to optimise direct customer support.

of 2.6 % in 2018 and 2.1 % in 2019. The excess utilisation of macroeconomic capacities is likely to increase substantially in the

Markets

forecast period, with wage and price growth intensifying. This

As an important market for Viscom and a strong technology

means Germany is on its way to an economic boom. This will be

trend setter, automotive and industrial electronics will continue

primarily driven by industry, which is benefiting from the consi-

to be extremely important to Viscom. The Company expects

derable improvement in the growth prospects for the euro zone

revenue within the European market – including Southern and

and the rest of the world and is expected to significantly expand

Eastern Europe – to increase once again in 2018.

its export and investment activity. Private consumption and the
construction industry will also continue to expand substantially,

Viscom also intends to continue to participate in investment

although their contribution is expected to weaken slightly.

opportunities in the international market. With a tailor-made
product portfolio and corresponding on-site support and other

The German Mechanical Engineering Industry Association

services, the further expansion of the Viscom Group’s strong

(VDMA) is forecasting growth in production in the German

position in America and Asia is set to continue. Viscom’s pre-

mechanical engineering sector of 3.0 % in 2018. A slowdown

sence in the growth market of China and certain individual

in exports to China and a downturn in deliveries to the United

regions of Asia will be increased further.

Kingdom are expected to be offset by significant growth on the
domestic market in 2018. The current pace of growth in terms of

The Company’s goal in Asia remains to raise the profile of the

exports to the rest of Europe and the USA is expected to remain

Viscom brand even further in this region and to make optimal

essentially unchanged.

use of opportunities in the Asian market.
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Company segments

Procurement

In addition to the primary structuring into geographical seg-

The established procurement structure has proven to be suc-

ments (markets), Viscom also performs segment reporting

cessful. Viscom will continue to count on reliable partners and

based on its business areas.

optimise its procurement structures.

The SP (serial products) business area is responsible for enhan-

Results of operations

cing, producing and distributing series systems which are the

The development of incoming orders and revenue in 2018 will

Company’s major revenue drivers.

largely depend on the overall economic situation, particularly in
the automotive industry. With budgeted revenue and incoming

The NP (new products) business area primarily serves projects

orders of € 93 to 98 million, Viscom once again expects signifi-

requiring customer-specific solutions or adaptations to series

cantly positive results of operations in 2018.

systems.
The EBIT-Margin for the 2018 financial year is likely to be betThe Service business area offers Viscom customers an improved

ween 13 % and 15 %, corresponding to an EBIT of € 12.1 to 14.7

and wider product portfolio. The share of total revenue attribut-

million.

able to this business area has increased since activities were
initiated, and further growth is anticipated.

Financial position
The current liquidity position means that no borrowing is ex-

Products / Services

pected to be necessary in 2018. Capital is available at short

Viscom develops, manufactures and sells automated optical

notice.

and X-ray inspection systems for use in industrial electronics
production.

Investments and financing
The Company plans to make additional Investments in its core

Viscom will continue to focus on the development of new stan-

business in the future. These relate to further developing its

dard inspection systems. The Group is guided by market require-

products, expanding its regional presence and strengthening

ments in this respect. Due to the steadily increasing installation

its organisational structure. These investments will be financed

base, follow-up business in the form of training, maintenance,

primarily from own funds. Other financing models are used

replacement part sales and upgrade projects will continue to

where third-party funding is more economically viable. This cur-

increase in terms of both volume and differentiation, thereby

rently applies in particular to operating premises and buildings.

helping to expand the Service business area.

Viscom made no major investments in 2017.

Production / production processes

Other cash flows and refinancing

Processes are being further standardised and rationalised as part

Additional cash flows are likely to solely take the form of divi-

of the continuous improvement of the Company’s workflows.

dend distributions to shareholders. These generally depend on

The objective is to ensure efficient production and a high level

the earnings strength in the respective period.

of product quality accompanied by short delivery times.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE STATEMENT AND
CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
Part of the Group Management Report

The Executive Board and Supervisory Board of Viscom AG are

the recommendations of the Government Commission on

committed to the principles of sound corporate governance.

the German Corporate Governance Code as published by the

These principles constitute a vital element of the modern capi-

Federal Ministry of Justice have been complied with or which

tal market. This is intended to promote the trust of investors and

recommendations have not been or will not be followed (“com-

the public in the management and supervision of listed German

ply or explain“).

companies. The principles of responsible and effective company
management and controlling aimed at transparency and value

For the period up to and including 23 April 2017, the follow-

creation determine the actions of Viscom AG’s management and

ing compliance statement refers to the recommendations by

supervisory bodies.

the Government Commission on the German Corporate Governance Code in the version dated 5 May 2015. For the period

In accordance with section 3.10 of the German Corporate Gover-

from 24 April 2017, the statement refers to the recommenda-

nance Code as well as section 289f of the German Commercial

tions by the Government Commission on the German Corpo-

Code (HGB), Viscom AG’s Executive Board, also on behalf of the

rate Governance Code in the version dated 7 February 2017 as

Supervisory Board, reports on the company’s corporate gover-

published by the Federal Ministry of Justice in the official section

nance in this section.

of the Bundesanzeiger (Federal Gazette) on 24 April 2017.

Declaration pursuant to section 161 of the German Stock

In conformity with section 161 AktG, the Executive Board and

Corporation Act (AktG)

Supervisory Board of Viscom AG declare that, in principle, the

The Executive Board and Supervisory Board of Viscom AG submit-

recommendations by the Government Commission on the

ted the annual compliance statement pursuant to section 161 of

German Corporate Governance Code have been and are being

the German Stock Corporation Act (AktG) on 28 February 2018. It

complied with. The statement has been made permanently

has been published and is permanently accessible in the Investor

available to the public on the company’s website. The following

Relations/Corporate Governance section of Viscom AG’s website

recommendations have not been and will not be followed:

at www.viscom.com/europe.
1. The company has decided to exclude deductibles from
Wording of the 2018 compliance statement

its liability insurance (D&O insurance) for the Supervisory

The German Corporate Governance Code sets out important

Board (Code section 3.8 (3)).

statutory regulations regarding the management and super-

The company has complied with the legal requirement to im-

vision of listed German companies and contains internationally

plement a deductible for Executive Board members pursuant

and nationally recognised standards for sound and responsible

to section 93 (2) sentence 3 AktG in conjunction with section

company management. The purpose of the Code is to make

23 (1) sentence 1 of the Introductory Act to the German Stock

the German corporate governance system clearer and more

Corporation Act (EGAktG) effective 1 July 2010, but continues to

transparent. It aims to increase the confidence of international

refrain from implementing a corresponding deductible for the

and national investors, customers, employees and the public in

Supervisory Board as well. In the company’s view, the nature of

German company management and supervision. Section 161

the Supervisory Board mandate, which is also emphasised by

AktG obliges listed companies to declare once a year whether

differences in remuneration, makes it reasonable to differentiate
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between the Executive Board and Supervisory Board. Extending

of the respective three-year period only if average EBIT develops

the D&O insurance deductible to members of the Viscom AG

positively during this period. This arrangement therefore has a

Supervisory Board therefore did not appear appropriate. Further-

corresponding multi-year incentive effect with positive forward-

more, a deductible for intentional infringement of obligations

looking characteristics. In the view of the Executive Board and the

does not come into question and a deductible in cases of neg-

Supervisory Board, the rolling nature of the three-year assessment

ligence in other countries has been rather uncommon to date.

period means there is no need to introduce instruments to take

There was and is, therefore, the concern that the agreement of

further account of negative developments.

a deductible may present an obstacle in the future with regard
to the search for appropriate Supervisory Board candidates who

4. The employment contracts with the members of the

also have international experience.

Executive Board of Viscom AG provide for no payment caps
on severance compensation in the case of early terminati-

2. The company has no Chairperson or Speaker of the Exe-

on of the Executive Board mandate (Code section 4.2.3 (4)).

cutive Board (Code section 4.2.1).

The Executive Board contracts do not contain any provisions

Taking into account the number of Executive Board members,

for a payment cap on severance compensation in the case of

the Executive Board and the Supervisory Board are consequent-

early termination of the Executive Board mandate of a maximum

ly of the opinion that, on a board with only three members, a

of two years’ remuneration, including in the form of (modified)

Chairperson or a Speaker is not required. In addition, the law for

tying clauses. Legal enforcement of a cap on severance pay for

stock corporations is based on a principle of consensus, i. e. on

the member of the Executive Board would often not be possible

a collegial rather than a hierarchical Executive Board. A strong

in the relevant cases. If there is neither good cause for dismis-

principle of consensus has prevailed within the Executive Board

sal in accordance with section 84 (3) sentence 1 AktG nor good

(and previously within the management) since the company

cause for extraordinary termination of the employment contract

was founded. All significant decisions are made together by the

in accordance with section 626 of the German Civil Code (BGB),

full Executive Board at all times.

the contract with the Executive Board member concerned can
be terminated only subject to mutual agreement. In such cases,

3. The multi-year assessment basis for variable remuneration

Executive Board members have no obligation to agree to caps

components is not essentially forward-looking and negative

on severance pay within the meaning of the recommendations

developments are not taken into account when determining

of the Code. These (modified) tying clauses that link the termina-

variable remuneration components (Code section 4.2.3 (2)).

tion of the Executive Board contract to dismissal for good cause

The multi-year variable remuneration paid to the Executive Board

and anticipate a cap on severance pay in such cases cannot be

of Viscom AG (bonus II) is calculated on the basis of average EBIT

implemented unilaterally by the Supervisory Board against the

for the last three years in conjunction with the achievement of a

will of the Executive Board member in question (deviation from

defined minimum average EBIT over the assessment period. The

Code section 4.2.3 paragraph 4).

Executive Board and Supervisory Board are of the opinion that this
variable remuneration structure compels the members of the Exe-

If premature termination of the Executive Board mandate is car-

cutive Board to focus on the multi-year success of their activities,

ried out for good cause for which the Executive Board member

as they can expect to receive variable remuneration at the end

is responsible, severance payments may not be made anyway.
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5. The Articles of Association and the standing rules for

Working methods of the Executive Board and the Supervisory

the Executive Board do not call for a maximum age limit for

Board

Executive Board members (Code section 5.1.2).

The Executive Board and the Supervisory Board of Viscom AG

Given the age structure of the current members of the Execu-

work together consistently and closely, in keeping with sound

tive Board, this status quo is not open to question. The company

and responsible corporate governance. They coordinate regu-

is also committed to ensuring access to the expertise of expe-

larly and promptly in the areas recommended by the Corporate

rienced members of the Executive Board. Any exclusion based

Governance Code, but also on issues beyond these areas.

solely on age does not appear expedient to the Executive Board
and Supervisory Board, since the optimum composition of the

Executive Board

Executive Board could thereby be prevented for merely formal

Viscom AG is a company incorporated under German law, which

reasons. An age limitation in the Articles of Association or the

is also the basis of the German Corporate Governance Code. The

standing rules has been and is therefore deemed unnecessary.

two-tier system of management comprising the Executive Board
and the Supervisory Board as corporate bodies which hold separate

6. The Executive Board and Supervisory Board have not pre-

powers is a basic tenet of German stock corporation law. The Exe-

viously prepared any detailed long-term succession planning

cutive Board and the Supervisory Board of Viscom AG cooperate in

(Code section 5.1.2).

all matters relating to control and supervision of the company in a

With respect to the age structure of the Executive Board, the

close and trusting fashion.

Executive Board and Supervisory Board will develop detailed
long-term succession planning for the Executive Board in future.

The Executive Board of Viscom AG currently consists of three mem-

This was not done previously as there was no need to do so.

bers: Dr. Martin Heuser (Technology), Volker Pape (Sales) and Dirk
Schwingel (Finance). The Executive Board is solely responsible for

7. The Supervisory Board has not formed any committees,

managing the company in compliance with the law, Articles of

and in particular has not formed an audit committee (Code

Association, standing rules, resolutions of the Supervisory Board

sections 5.3.1, 5.3.2, 5.3.3).

and employment contracts. The primary tasks of the Executive

The Supervisory Board consists of only three members. In the

Board are determining the strategic alignment, managing the com-

view of the Supervisory Board, the formation of an audit com-

pany and the Group, and planning, establishing and monitoring a

mittee is not expedient under the specific circumstances of the

risk management system and a compliance system. Furthermore,

company and – unlike in larger governing bodies – does not

the Executive Board is required to consider diversity and in particu-

increase efficiency. All matters are addressed by all members of

lar the fair inclusion of women in the process of filling management

the Supervisory Board, meaning that the formation of additional

positions in the company. In accordance with section 76 (4) AktG,

committees is not considered necessary.

the Executive Board of Viscom AG has determined targets for the
proportion of women in the two management levels below the

8. The fixed remuneration for the Supervisory Board stipu-

Executive Board. The top two national management levels below

lated in the Articles of Association does not take account of

Viscom AG’s Executive Board have a total of 6 and 35 employees

Chairpersons or committee members (Code section 5.4.6).

respectively. Currently 0 and 7 of these respectively are women. The

The lack of committees due to the small size of the Supervisory

proportion of women in the top two management levels below the

Board renders any further plan for the distribution of remunera-

Executive Board is therefore 0 % and 20 % respectively at this time.

tion for Chairpersons and committee members unnecessary.
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After detailed discussion, the Executive Board of Viscom AG passed

The Executive Board is also obliged to regularly inform the Super-

a resolution on 31 May 2017 setting an unchanged target of 0 % for

visory Board of the company of all matters reasonably of interest

the proportion of women in the top national management level

to it concerning the company and companies affiliated with the

and 20 % for the management level below that. These targets are

company, especially of all matters covered by section 90 AktG.

to be reached by or maintained until 30 June 2020. Employees are

These reporting duties apply to the full Executive Board. As a rule,

to be hired and promoted without regard to gender in the future,

Executive Board reports must be presented in written form except

which has also been the case in the past.

when urgency allows or necessitates a verbal report. Furthermore,
the Executive Board members must regularly report jointly to the

All members of the Executive Board are involved in the day-to-

Chairman of the Supervisory Board on strategy, business planning

day management of the company and bear responsibility for

and progress, the situation of the company, including its affiliated

operations.

companies, the risk situation and risk management as well as compliance, in written or verbal form. The management of the Group is

The Supervisory Board has resolved standing rules for the Executive

based on a reporting system that takes the form of monthly reports

Board regulating its responsibilities, work and its mode of coope-

submitted to members of the Supervisory Board. These monthly

ration with the Supervisory Board. According to these, members

reports include the consolidated income statement and individu-

of the Executive Board wield executive powers in the areas of re-

al breakdowns for the various Group companies. The reports also

sponsibility assigned to them in the allocation of duties. Insofar as

include a detailed presentation of the cost structure at Viscom AG

measures or transactions of one area of responsibility overlap with

and its Group companies, revenue in its system installation regions,

those of one or more other areas, all involved members of the Exe-

incoming orders, order backlog, the number of employees, cash

cutive Board must be in agreement. Should there be any continu-

and cash equivalents, total receivables and receivables from subsi-

ing differences of opinion, the entire Executive Board must reach a

diaries, orders placed for the purchase of goods and the inventories

joint decision. These assignments notwithstanding, each member

of goods as well as partially completed and completed systems.

of the Executive Board remains responsible for all management
issues (principle of overall responsibility). The entire Executive Board

The Executive Board also reports on significant issues pertaining

exclusively decides on any matters or transactions which are of

to the current situation of the company and directly and indirect-

extraordinary importance or carry an extraordinary economic risk.

ly associated companies and events that go beyond normal business operations of the company and affiliated companies and are

The Executive Board passes its resolutions either at meetings or, in

of special importance for the company as occasion requires. Any

the absence of objections from Executive Board members, outside

information relevant to decision making will be made available to

of meetings using modern means of communication. Two mem-

the members of the Supervisory Board in a timely manner prior to

bers of the Executive Board constitute a quorum. All resolutions of

the meeting.

the Executive Board require a simple majority of the votes cast. Meetings of the Executive Board are to be scheduled on a regular basis,

Members of the Executive Board are subject to comprehensive

if possible a weekly basis. They must take place when required to

restraint on competition during their Board membership. They are

ensure the well-being of the company. The Executive Board mem-

bound to the interests of the company. Consequently, no member

ber designated accordingly by the Supervisory Board is responsible

of the Executive Board may allow personal interests to affect his de-

for determining meeting dates, convening meetings, setting the

cisions or make use of business opportunities to which the compa-

agenda, chairing the meetings and ensuring the minutes are taken.

ny is entitled for his own benefit. Any possible conflicts of interest
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are to be disclosed promptly to the Supervisory Board, and the

man) and Prof. Ludger Overmeyer. They were individually

other members of the Executive Board are to be informed. All trans-

elected at the Annual General Meeting on 27 May 2014 pursu-

actions between the company and the Executive Board members

ant to the recommendations of the German Corporate Gover-

or closely related persons or companies have to be in accordance

nance Code. None of the Supervisory Board members were over

with standards of the trade. Significant transactions with an Exe-

70 years of age at the time of the election. The term of office

cutive Board member or related parties require the consent of the

for the Supervisory Board is five years. The current term ends

Supervisory Board.

with the regular Annual General Meeting that will approve the
actions of the members of the Supervisory Board for the 2018

In addition, Executive Board members require the consent of the

financial year of the company.

Supervisory Board to assume other professional roles, particularly
the assumption of mandates in other companies.

The proposals for suitable candidates consider the skills, expertise and experience necessary for the duties of the Super-

Both the Executive Board and the Supervisory Board are bound

visory Board. In addition to the company-specific situation, the

to the interests of Viscom AG. There were no conflicts of interest

company’s international activities, potential conflicts of interest,

to be reported to the Supervisory Board in the past financial year.

the number of independent Supervisory Board members con-

No Executive Board member is a member of any Supervisory Boards

sidered adequate by the Supervisory Board, the age limit for

at listed stock corporations outside the Group.

Supervisory Board members and the time limit for Supervisory
Board membership as well as diversity in the composition of the

Viscom AG has obtained liability insurance (D&O insurance) with a

Supervisory Board are all considered. Taking the above criteria

commensurate deductible for all members of the Executive Board.

into account, the Supervisory Board has determined concrete
objectives regarding its composition and has prepared a profile

Mandates of the Executive Board Members

of skills and expertise as required by Code section 5.4.1 for the

The members of the Executive Board do not hold any other

entire Supervisory Board. It will seek to ensure compliance with

mandates in other Supervisory Boards required by law or com-

this profile for the entire Supervisory Board when making future

parable domestic and foreign governing bodies of commercial

proposals for the election of shareholder representatives to the

enterprises.

Supervisory Board. In accordance with section 111 (5) AktG,
Viscom AG’s Supervisory Board is also obliged to set targets for

Supervisory Board

the proportion of women on the Supervisory Board. The cur-

The Supervisory Board of Viscom AG consists of three mem-

rent members of the Supervisory Board were appointed by the

bers who are elected at the Annual General Meeting, without it

Annual General Meeting on 27 May 2014 with a term of office

being bound by any proposals for suitable candidates and with

until the end of the Annual General Meeting voting on the reso-

identical terms of office, in compliance with section 11 (1) of the

lution to approve the actions of the Supervisory Board members

Articles of Association in conjunction with sections 95, 96 (1) and

for the 2018 financial year. The Supervisory Board of Viscom AG

101 (1) AktG. The company is not subject to co-determination.

currently complies in full with the concrete objectives regarding
its composition and the defined profile of skills and expertise for

The current members of the Viscom AG Supervisory Board are
Bernd Hackmann (Chairman), Klaus Friedland (Deputy Chair-
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the entire Supervisory Board.

After detailed discussion in a written circulation procedure and

of Viscom AG that was initiated in autumn 2017, the Super-

at its joint meeting on 31 May 2017, the Supervisory Board

visory Board of Viscom AG reviewed the existing target for the

of Viscom AG resolved to leave the target for the proportion

proportion of women on the Executive Board of Viscom AG at

of women on the Supervisory Board unchanged at the cur-

its joint meeting on 8 February 2018 and, after detailed discus-

rent proportion of zero percent until 30 June 2020. This target

sion, resolved to leave the target for the proportion of women

continues to be fulfilled. Should a member of the Supervisory

on the Executive Board of Viscom AG unchanged at the current

Board resign early, the Supervisory Board shall give preference

proportion of zero percent until 30 June 2020. In addition to the

to a female candidate with equal qualifications in nominations

success of the current Executive Board, this decision was taken

to fill the vacant position. Former members of the Viscom AG

because, in the view of the Supervisory Board, internal candi-

Executive Board are not members of the Supervisory Board. By

dates should be given precedence in any reappointment to or

way of a resolution on 8 May 2013, the number of indepen-

expansion of the Executive Board in order to ensure continuity

dent Supervisory Board members considered adequate by the

within the company. As the proportion of women at the first

Supervisory Board was defined in the standing rules of the

management level below the Executive Board is currently zero

Supervisory Board of Viscom AG as at least two. In the view of the

percent, it would be unrealistic to expect to be able to increase

Supervisory Board, the current Supervisory Board members

the proportion of women on the Executive Board of Viscom AG

Bernd Hackmann, Klaus Friedland and Prof. Ludger Overmeyer

in the short to medium term.

are all independent. Other than their membership of the Supervisory Board, they do not have any business or personal relations

Work within the Supervisory Board is coordinated by the Chair-

with the company or its Executive Board.

man of the Supervisory Board or, in case of his absence, by the
Deputy Chairman. The Chairman of the Supervisory Board also

The Supervisory Board monitors and advises the Executive Board

chairs the Supervisory Board meetings and upholds the Board’s

on management of transactions. It is involved in strategy and

interests when representing it. Furthermore, he is authorised

planning as well as all matters fundamental to the company. The

to issue the declarations of intent on behalf of the Superviso-

Supervisory Board has resolved standing rules for the Executive

ry Board that are necessary to implement Supervisory Board

Board, in accordance with the company’s Articles of Association.

resolutions. In urgent cases, this also includes the provisional

The standing rules include the provision that specifies the ty-

approval of company transactions that, in accordance with the

pes of major transactions of the Executive Board that require the

standing rules for the Executive Board, require the Supervisory

Supervisory Board’s approval. The Supervisory Board’s further

Board’s approval. Individual tasks and rules of procedure are sti-

responsibilities include appointing Executive Board members,

pulated in the standing rules governing the Supervisory Board

determining the remuneration system for the Executive Board

which have been resolved by the Supervisory Board in accor-

and its individual members, and examining the company’s

dance with the Articles of Association. This includes rules re-

singleentity and consolidated financial statements. The Super-

garding the authority of the Chairman of the Supervisory Board

visory Board also has to consider diversity in the compositi-

and his deputy, as well as rules pertaining to conflicts of interest

on of the Executive Board. In accordance with section 111 (5)

and efficiency reviews. According to these, the Chairman of the

AktG, Viscom AG’s Supervisory Board is obliged to set targets

Supervisory Board is required to remain in regular contact with

for the proportion of women on the Executive Board. In light

the Executive Board and discuss strategy, business development

of the long-term succession planning for the Executive Board

and the company’s risk management with them. Should he
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become aware of significant events of material importance for

Barring different arrangements made by the Supervisory Board

the assessment of the company’s situation and development

for individual cases, all members of the Executive Board attend

and of its management, he is obliged to inform the Supervisory

the quarterly meetings of the Supervisory Board. The Executi-

Board and to convene an extraordinary Supervisory Board mee-

ve Board’s written reports for the Supervisory Board are handed

ting if necessary.

out to the Supervisory Board members, unless the Supervisory
Board has decided on a different approach in a given case.

The Supervisory Board held seven regular meetings in the 2017
financial year, including one meeting for an efficiency review

The members of the Supervisory Board are independent from

under exclusion of the Executive Board. The Chairman of the

the management and maintain no business links with the com-

Supervisory Board or, in case of his absence, the Deputy Chair-

pany that could influence the independence of their opinion.

man, convenes meetings in written form with a 14-day notifi-

Consultancy, service or work contracts between Supervisory

cation period. In urgent cases, the Chairman of the Supervisory

Board members and the company have not existed and do not

Board can shorten the notification period appropriately and

exist. Supervisory Board approval has to be sought in exceptio-

convene the meeting via verbal notification or via telephone,

nal cases involving Supervisory Board members who intend ac-

in writing, by fax or e-mail. The agenda and proposals for resolu-

tivity for the company beyond the functions of the Supervisory

tions must be included with the invitations.

Board. In its report to the Annual General Meeting, the Supervisory Board provides information about any conflicts of interest

Pursuant to the standing rules of the Supervisory Board, all

that may have arisen during that financial year. There were no

meetings should be held in person. But meetings can also be

conflicts of interest to be reported to the Supervisory Board in

held as video conferences or conference calls, or individual

the past financial year.

Supervisory Board members can take part in the meeting via
phone or video. It is also possible to pass resolutions using votes

The company has obtained D&O insurance with no deductible

in written form or made via telephone or electronic forms of

for its Supervisory Board members.

communication as long as this follows the Chairman’s directive
and there are no objections raised by other members of the

Detailed information on Supervisory Board activity during the

Supervisory Board within a reasonable period of time set by the

2017 financial year is included in the “Report of the Supervisory

Chairman of the Supervisory Board. The Chairman of the Super-

Board“ to the Annual General Meeting.

visory Board must keep a record of and sign all resolutions made
in a written or other form.

Mandates of the Supervisory Board members
Bernd Hackmann, Chairman of the Supervisory Board of

All resolutions of the Supervisory Board require a simple majori-

Viscom AG, was Deputy Chairman of the Supervisory Board of

ty unless stated otherwise by law or the Articles of Association.

LPKF Laser & Electronics AG from May 2012 to July 2017 and

The Chairman of the Supervisory Board or, in case of his absence,

has been a member of the Supervisory Board of SLM Solutions

the Deputy Chairman, casts the deciding vote in the case of a

Group since April 2014. The Supervisory Board members Klaus

tie.

Friedland and Prof. Ludger Overmeyer do not hold any other
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mandates in other supervisory boards required by law or com-

The members of the Supervisory Board presently hold the

parable domestic and foreign governing bodies of commercial

following amounts of shares in the company:

enterprises.
• Bernd Hackmann:
Structure and working methods of Executive Board and Super-

5,000 shares held directly.

visory Board committees
The company’s Articles of Association allow the Supervisory
Board to form committees from among its members. The

• Klaus Friedland:
3,000 shares held directly.

Supervisory Board does not see committee formation as advisable under the circumstances of the company. The purpose

• Prof. Dr. Ludger Overmeyer:

of forming a committee, i. e. increasing the efficiency of the

1,500 shares held directly.

decision-making process, would not be achieved with a Supervisory Board of only three members. All matters are addressed

Shareholders and Annual General Meeting

by all members of the Supervisory Board, meaning that the

Shareholders of Viscom AG exercise their participation and con-

formation of additional committees is not considered necessary.

trol rights at the Annual General Meeting, that takes place at
least once a year. The Annual General Meeting decides on all

No Executive Board committees with the purpose of increasing

legally regulated issues with a binding effect for all shareholders

efficiency were formed because of the small size of the Execu-

and for the company. Each share grants one vote (one share,

tive Board.

one vote) in the decision-making process.

Shareholdings of Board members

The Annual General Meeting elects the Supervisory Board

The following members of the Executive Board presently hold

members and decides on approving the actions of the Execu-

shares in the company:

tive Board and Supervisory Board. It regularly decides on the
appropriation of retained earnings, the selection of the auditor,

•

Dr. Martin Heuser:

capital and structural measures, the approval of company con-

255,000 shares held directly; Dr. Heuser also holds 50 %

tracts and any changes to the company’s Articles of Association.

of HPC Vermögensverwaltung GmbH, which in turn holds

At the Annual General Meeting, the Executive Board and Super-

4,869,085 Viscom AG shares.

visory Board render account of the past financial year. The
German Stock Corporation Act (AktG) provides for convening an

•

Volker Pape:

extraordinary General Meeting in special cases.

255,000 shares held directly; Dr. Pape also holds 50 % of
HPC Vermögensverwaltung GmbH, which in turn holds

Shareholders are entitled to take part in the Annual General

4,869,085 Viscom AG shares.

Meeting if they register in due time and provide proof of their
right to attend the Annual General Meeting and exercise their

•

Dirk Schwingel:

voting right. Shareholders who cannot attend in person can ex-

5,000 shares held directly.

ercise their voting right via a bank, shareholder association or
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any other authorised representative. The company offers share-

The Executive Board members receive a performance-related

holders who do not wish to or are unable to exercise the voting

bonus, which comprises a bonus I relating to the recently ended

right themselves the option to vote at the Annual General Mee-

financial year and a long-term bonus II. The total bonus is limited

ting via a proxy determined by Viscom AG and bound by the

to 100 % of the annual fixed remuneration for Dr. Martin Heuser

shareholders’ instructions. This facilitates the exercising of share-

and Volker Pape and to 50 % of the annual fixed remuneration

holders’ rights in compliance with the provisions of the Code.

for Dirk Schwingel.

The invitation to the Annual General Meeting and all informa-

Bonus I for Dr. Martin Heuser and Volker Pape is one month’s fixed

tion and reports necessary for passing resolutions are made

remuneration plus 1.3 of 100 of the earnings before interest and

accessible to the public on the website of Viscom AG in German,

taxes (EBIT) reported in the consolidated financial statements.

as stipulated by the laws governing stock companies.

Bonus I for Dirk Schwingel amounts to 0.65 of 100 of earnings
before interest and taxes (EBIT) reported in the consolidated

Remuneration report

financial statements. EBIT must total at least € 1 million, otherwise the entitlement for bonus I ceases.

Viscom AG complies with the recommendations of the German
Corporate Governance Code by disclosing the individual rem-

Bonus II for Dr. Martin Heuser and Volker Pape amounts to one

uneration of the Executive Board and Supervisory Board. The

monthly fixed remuneration fixed remuneration plus 1.3 of 100

remuneration report forms part of the management report.

of the average earnings before interest and taxes (EBIT) reported in the consolidated financial statements. Bonus II for

Remuneration of Executive Board members

Dirk Schwingel is 0.65 of 100 of the average earnings before

Remuneration of Executive Board members is determined by

interest and taxes (EBIT) reported in the consolidated financial

the Supervisory Board, and consists of a fixed annual salary and

statements. The bonuses are calculated on the basis of average

a profit-related bonus. The fixed component remains constant

EBIT generated in the three most recent financial years − i. e.

over a period of several years.

the recently expired year plus the two before that (= average
EBIT). Average EBIT must total at least € 1 million, otherwise the

The variable component is determined in a bonus agreement

entitlement for bonus II ceases.

concluded in advance with Executive Board members, based on
the respective amount of the basic salary.

There is no stock option programme at Viscom AG for management and employees.
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The following table shows the grants awarded for the financial year:
Grants awarded

Dr. Martin Heuser
Technology

Volker Pape
Sales

Dirk Schwingel
Finances

in K€

2016

2017

2017
min.

2017
max.

2016

2017

2017
min.

2017
max.

2016

2017

2017
min.

2017
max.

Fixed remuneration

208

208

208

208

208

208

208

208

182

182

182

182

Additional benefits*

17

17

17

17

19

18

18

18

11

11

11

11

Total

225

225

225

225

227

226

226

226

193

193

193

193

Annual variable
remuneration

152

196

0

196

152

196

0

196

68

90

0

90

Multi-year variable
remuneration (Bonus II:
Average EBIT of last three
financial years)

146

165

0

165

146

165

0

165

65

75

0

75

Total**

208

208

0

208

208

208

0

208

91

91

0

91

Benefit expense***

3

2

2

2

5

6

6

6

6

6

6

6

Total remuneration

436

435

227

435

440

440

232

440

290

290

199

290

* Additional benefits include use of a company vehicle for business and private purposes, capital-formation benefits and a telephone allowance
** The comprehensive bonus is limited to 100 % of annual fixed remuneration for Dr. Heuser and Mr Volker Pape and to 50 % of the annual fixed remuneration for Mr Schwingel
*** Contributions to private health insurance, direct insurance and accident insurance

The following table shows the inflows for the financial year:
Inflows

Dr. Martin Heuser
Technology

Volker Pape
Sales

Dirk Schwingel
Finances

in K€

2016

2017

2016

2017

2016

2017

Fixed remuneration

208

208

208

208

182

182

Additional benefits*

17

17

19

18

11

11

Total

225

225

227

226

193

193

Annual variable
remuneration

152

196

152

196

68

90

Multi-year variable
remuneration
(Average EBIT of last
three financial years)

146

165

146

165

65

75

Other**

0

0

0

0

0

0

Total***

208

208

208

208

91

91

Benefit expense****

3

2

5

6

6

6

Total remuneration

436

435

440

440

290

290

* Additional benefits include use of a company vehicle for business and private purposes, capital-formation benefits and a telephone allowance
** e.g. claw-backs, which carry a negative amount based on previous payments
*** The comprehensive bonus is limited to 100 % of annual fixed remuneration for Dr. Heuser and Mr Volker Pape and to 50 % of the annual fixed remuneration for Mr Schwingel
**** Contributions to private health insurance, direct insurance and accident insurance
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Remuneration of Supervisory Board members

Remuneration of the members of the Supervisory Board in the

Since the beginning of the company’s 2015 financial year, each

2017 financial year is as follows:

member of the Supervisory Board receives fixed remuneration
for each full financial year of membership. Supervisory Board

2017

Fixed
remuneration

members who are only members of the Supervisory Board for
part of the financial year receive the fixed remuneration on a
pro-rata basis. The fixed remuneration is € 18,000.00 per financial year and Supervisory Board member. The Chairman of the
Supervisory Board receives double and his deputy one and a

2016 financial year was as follows:
2016

Fixed
remuneration

Factor

K€

Supervisory
Board

Role

Bernd
Hackmann

Chairman of
the Supervisory
Board

18.0

Klaus
Friedland

Deputy Chairman
of the Supervisory
Board

18.0

Total
remuneration

K€

Total
remuneration
K€

Supervisory
Board

Role

Bernd
Hackmann

Chairman of
the Supervisory
Board

18,0

2,0

36,0

Klaus
Friedland

Deputy Chairman
of the Supervisory
Board

18,0

1,5

27,0

Prof. Dr. Ludger Member of the
Overmeyer
Supervisory
Board

18,0

1,0

18,0

Total

54,0

half times the fixed remuneration.
Remuneration of the members of the Supervisory Board in the

Factor

81,0

K€

The Supervisory Board members received no remuneration or
2.0

36.0

benefits from the company for personal services rendered, such
as consulting or brokerage services.

1.5

27.0

Risk management
Part of the company’s principles of corporate governance is the

Prof. Dr. Ludger Member of the
Overmeyer
Supervisory
Board

18.0

Total

54.0

1.0

18.0

responsible handling of corporate risks. The Executive Board
of Viscom AG and the management of the Viscom Group can
make use of comprehensive Group and company reporting and

81.0

control systems which facilitate the detection, evaluation and
controlling of risks. These systems are continuously enhanced in
order to adapt them to changing conditions and are additionally
monitored by auditors. The Executive Board regularly informs
the Supervisory Board of existing risks and their development.
Details regarding risk management in the Viscom Group can
be found in the risk report. The risk report contains the report
on the accounting-related internal control and risk management system in compliance with the German Accounting Law
Modernisation Act (BilMoG).
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Transparency

throughout Europe. No such notifications were received by

Open and transparent handling of information for the relevant

the company in the 2017 financial year.

target groups of Viscom AG is a high priority within the company. The company has appointed a Corporate Governance

•

Directors’ dealings. Executive Board and Supervisory Board

Officer to monitor adherence to the German Corporate Gover-

members of Viscom AG and certain executives who have

nance Code.

regular access to insider information and are authorised to
make significant company decisions (including related par-

Viscom AG regularly reports to shareholders, financial analysts,

ties as defined by the Market Abuse Regulation (MAR)), are

shareholder associations, the media and interested parties on

required to disclose their securities transactions, in accor

the situation of the company, as well as significant corporate

dance with section 19 of the MAR. These types of transac-

changes. All significant new information that is released to

tions are published as soon as the company is informed,

financial analysts and institutional investors by Viscom AG is

via a Europe-wide information system, as well as in the In-

always simultaneously made available to all shareholders and

vestor Relations/News/Publications/Directors’ Dealings sec-

interested members of the public. Viscom uses the internet and

tion of our website at www.viscom.com/europe.

other means of communication to ensure that information is
provided promptly.

No acquisition or sales transactions for shares of Viscom AG
or for financial instruments based on these by members of

An overview of all significant information released throug-

governing bodies (directors’ dealings) were carried out in

hout the financial year is published on Viscom AG’s website at

the 2017 financial year.

www.viscom.com:
• Financial calendar. With the financial calendar published in
•

Ad hoc notices. Ad hoc notices in accordance with Art. 17

the financial reports and permanently available on Viscom

of the Market Abuse Regulation (MAR) are issued without

AG’s website, the company informs its shareholders and the

delay when facts arise concerning Viscom AG outside re-

capital market in a timely manner of the dates of significant

gular reporting that may significantly influence the share

publications such as the annual financial report, half-year

price. Viscom AG’s ad hoc notices are available to sharehol-

financial report and quarterly financial reports as well as the

ders in the Investor Relations/News/Publications/Ad hoc No-

Annual General Meeting, financial press conference and ana-

tices section of the Viscom AG website at www.viscom.com/

lyst conferences. Viscom AG’s financial calendar is available

europe.

to shareholders in the Investor Relations/Financial Calendar
section of the Viscom AG website at www.viscom.com/

•

Notices concerning voting rights. In accordance with sec-

europe.

tion 33 et seq. of the German Securities Trading Act (WpHG),
when Viscom AG becomes aware that an entity acquires,

Accounting and annual audit

exceeds or falls below 3 %, 5 %, 10 %, 15 %, 20 %, 25 %, 30 %,

Viscom AG prepares its consolidated financial statements in line

50 %, or 75 % of the voting rights in the company as a result

with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS), as they

of a purchase, disposal or in any other way, this fact will also

are supposed to be applied in the European Union. The annual

be promptly disclosed via notification system accessible

financial statements of Viscom AG are prepared according to the
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German Commercial Code (HGB). The Executive Board prepares

voluntary obligations as well as ethical principles also form an

the consolidated financial statements, which are audited by the

integral part of its corporate culture.

auditor and the Supervisory Board. Shareholders and interested
parties are informed of the general situation of the company via

In order to actively meet local and international responsibilities,

the annual and interim reports and quarterly reports. All reports

the Executive Board has developed, approved and introduced a

are accessible to all interested parties simultaneously on the

compliance policy and corresponding annex for the employees

Viscom AG website.

that goes beyond the statutory rules of conduct applicable to
all members of governing bodies and employees of the Viscom

PricewaterhouseCoopers GmbH Wirtschaftsprüfungsgesellschaft,

Group. This “Corporate Compliance Policy” stipulates how to

Hanover, was elected by the 2017 Annual General Meeting as

deal with business partners and government institutions, how

auditor and audited the consolidated financial statements and

to maintain secrecy, independence and objectivity and how to

the annual financial statements of Viscom AG. The audit took

act in cases of conflict of interest. These principles include the

place in accordance with German auditing regulations and the

avoidance of corruption and cartel agreements, compliance

standards for the audit of financial statements put forward by

with data security guidelines, equal opportunity and adherence

the Institute of Public Auditors in Germany (Institut der Wirt-

to product safety and occupational health regulations.

schaftsprüfer: IDW). Early risk detections system and reporting
obligations in compliance with corporate governance as stated

They are available to Group employees on the intranet, where

in section 161 of the German Stock Corporation Act (AktG) were

they can be accessed at all times in German and English. A

also taken into account.

whistle-blower system allows employees to report certain serious legal infringements to Viscom AG. This allows the Compli-

It was agreed with the auditor that the Chairman of the Super-

ance Officer and where applicable the Executive Board to work

visory Board would be promptly informed of any grounds for

towards containing damage and preventing further damage.

disqualification or conflicts of interest that arise during the audit,
if these are not resolved immediately.

The Compliance Officer is responsible for maintaining and
updating this policy.

The auditors shall also promptly report all findings and occurrences significant to the tasks of the Supervisory Board as

Compliance is an integral part of Viscom’s business processes

they occur during the audit. The auditors also have to inform

and has formed the basis for a comprehensive and long-term

the Supervisory Board and report in the audit report if facts arise

management process, which is an ongoing and central task for

in the course of the audit that do not conform with the compli-

the company. The topic of compliance must evolve constantly

ance statement as submitted by the Executive Board and the

in order to react to the opportunities for improvement and the

Supervisory Board in accordance with section 161 AktG.

changing demands of global business. It is the basis for ongoing
change and improvement, making it a living process within

Information on relevant company management practices

the company that will never be completed. More information

Compliance with the law is our duty as a company, and it is in

about the compliance policy is available in the Company/

every company’s own interest to reduce risks. Viscom sees it as

Corporate Compliance section of the company’s website at

its responsibility to adhere to all laws and internal regulations –

www.viscom.com/europe.
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REPORT ON ADDITIONAL DISCLOSURE
REQUIREMENTS FOR LISTED COMPANIES
Viscom AG completed its IPO (initial public offering) in May 2006

new no-par value bearer common shares (no-par value shares)

and was listed in the Prime Standard of the regulated market

with shareholders’ subscription rights in exchange for cash or

on the Frankfurt Stock Exchange until September 2009. From

non-cash contributions (authorised capital 2016). The new

September 2009, Viscom AG was listed in the General Standard

shares may also be bought by one or more banks subject to the

of the regulated market. Viscom AG switched back to the Prime

obligation that they are offered to shareholders for subscription.

Standard on 22 January 2015 and was listed in the Prime Stan-

However, the Executive Board is authorised, with the approval

dard of the regulated market on the Frankfurt Stock Exchange

of the Supervisory Board, to disapply shareholders’ subscription

on 31 December 2017. The Company’s issued capital amounts

rights on one or more occasions:

to € 9,020 thousand, divided into 9,020,000 no-par value bearer
shares each with a notional interest in the share capital of € 1.00.

(i) for capital increases against cash contributions up to a
mathematical nominal amount totalling € 902,000.00 or,

Each share entitles the bearer to one vote at the Annual General

should this amount be lower, totalling 10 % of the existing

Meeting. There is only one class of shares. None of the issued

capital stock at the time this authorisation to disapply sub-

shares are furnished with special rights.

scription rights is exercised for the first time (respectively
taking into account other authorisations to disapply sub-

HPC Vermögensverwaltung GmbH, Hanover, held an interest of
53.98 % in Viscom AG as of 31 December 2017.

scription rights that may have been exercised, according to
or with corresponding application of section 186 (3) sentence 4 of the German Stock Corporation Act (AktG)), provi-

The Supervisory Board is responsible for determining the

ded the issue price of the new shares is not significantly

number of Executive Board members, appointing and dismis-

lower than the stock market price of the Company’s exis-

sing the ordinary or alternative members of the Executive Board

ting listed shares of the same type at the time the issue price

and concluding the corresponding employment contracts. The

is finalised.

Supervisory Board appoints the Executive Board members for a
maximum of five years. Members may be reappointed or their

(ii) if the new shares are issued against contributions in kind up

term of office extended for a maximum of five years in each case.

to a mathematical nominal amount totalling € 1,804,000.00,

The Supervisory Board is authorised to transfer responsibility for

especially in relation to the acquisition of companies, com-

the conclusion, amendment or termination of the correspondi-

pany divisions and participations in companies.

ng employment contracts to a Supervisory Board committee.
(iii) to the extent required to exclude possible fractional amounts
The Supervisory Board is authorised to make amendments to

from the subscription rights.

the Articles of Association relating solely to their wording. This
also applies to amendments to the Articles of Association as a

Other authorisations to disapply subscription rights that may

result of changes in the Company’s share capital.

have been exercised according to or with corresponding application of section 186 (3) sentence 4 AktG in accordance with (i)

The Executive Board is authorised, with the approval of the

above shall not be taken into account to the extent that authori-

Supervisory Board, to increase the share capital of the Company

sations whose exercise resulted in this being the case are newly

on one or more occasions in the period until 31 May 2021 by a

issued by the Annual General Meeting.

total of up to € 4,500,000 through the issue of up to 4,500,000
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The Executive Board is authorised, with the approval of the

Viscom AG, represented by the Executive Board, is authorised to

Supervisory Board, to determine the further conditions of the

acquire own shares of up to 10 % of the current share capital in

implementation of capital increases, and in particular the con-

the period until 1 June 2020. The shares acquired on the basis

tent of the rights attached to the shares and the conditions of

of this authorisation, together with shares held by Viscom AG or

the share issue.

to be assigned in accordance with sections 71a ff. AktG, may not
exceed 10 % of the Company’s current share capital at any point.

The Supervisory Board is authorised to amend Article 6 of the

The acquired own shares may be used for all legally allowable

Articles of Association following the full or partial implementa-

purposes, excluding trading in own shares. The own shares may

tion of the capital increase or after the expiry of the authorisa-

also be resold with shareholders’ subscription rights disapplied

tion period.

and retracted in whole or in part without this requiring a further
resolution of the Annual General Meeting.

The authorisation concerning authorised capital (authorised
capital 2011) expired on 15 June 2016 and was extended by

For details, see agenda item 7 of the notice convening Viscom

resolution of the Annual General Meeting on 1 June 2016 as

AG’s Annual General Meeting on 3 June 2015 as published in

discussed above. For details, see agenda item 6 of the notice

the German Federal Gazette (Bundesanzeiger) on 23 April 2015.

convening Viscom AG’s Annual General Meeting on 1 June 2016
as published in the German Federal Gazette (Bundesanzeiger)
on 20 April 2016.

CONFIRMATION OF THE
DEPENDENCY REPORT
Viscom AG was dependent on HPC Vermögensverwaltung

companies. In the period from 1 January to 31 December 2017,

GmbH in the 2017 financial year. As there was no control ag-

no actions were taken or omitted at the instigation or in the in-

reement between the latter company and Viscom AG in this

terest of the controlling company or a company affiliated with it.”

period, the Executive Board of Viscom AG prepared a report of
the Executive Board on relationships with affiliated companies

Hanover, 28 February 2018

in accordance with section 312 (1) AktG including the following
confirmation:
“Our company received fair compensation for each of the legal
transactions listed in the report on relationships with affiliated
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Dr. Martin Heuser

Volker Pape

Dirk Schwingel

IFRS CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS 2017 / CONSOLIDATED
STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
Consolidated statement of comprehensive income
Item
G1

Revenue

G2

Other operating income

01.01.-31.12.2017
K€

01.01.-31.12.2016
K€

88,542

77,245

2,591

2,531

91,133

79,776

G3

Changes in finished goods and work in progress

2,104

-461

G4

Other own work capitalised

2,317

1,450

G5

Cost of materials

-34,051

-26,022

G6

Staff costs

-28,724

-26,918

G7

Depreciation and amortisation

-2,068

-1,778

G8

Other operating expenses

-16,882

-15,550

-77,304

-69,279

Operating profit

13,829

10,497

G9

Financial income

3

31

G9

Financial expenses

-1

-61

Financial result

2

-30

-4,758

-3,338

9,073

7,129

1.02

0.80

Currency translation differences

-607

60

Items that can be reclassified to profit or loss

-607

60

Other comprehensive income after taxes

-607

60

8,466

7,189

G10 Income taxes

Net profit for the period
G11 Earnings per share (diluted and undiluted) in €

Other comprehensive income

Total comprehensive income
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL
POSITION: ASSETS

Assets
Item

31.12.2017
K€

31.12.2016
K€

Current assets
A1

Cash and cash equivalents

11,506

6,517

A2

Trade receivables

22,488

26,202

A3

Current income tax assets

109

10

A4

Inventories

24,521

22,822

A5

Other financial receivables

145

115

A5

Other assets

1,120

717

59,889

56,383

Total current assets

Non-current assets
A6

Property, plant and equipment

1,859

1,470

A7

Intangible assets

8,913

7,923

A8

Financial assets

6

7

A8

Loans originated by the Company

15

16

A9

Deferred tax assets

660

838

Total non-current assets

11,453

10,254

Total assets

71,342

66,637
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL
POSITION: SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY AND
LIABILITIES
Liabilities and shareholders’ equity
Item

31.12.2017
K€

31.12.2016
K€

2,609

2,582

220

0

Current liabilities
P1

Trade payables

P2

Advance payments received

P3

Provisions

1,719

1,847

P4

Current income tax liabilities

1,088

876

P5

Other financial liabilities

3,575

3,613

P5

Other current liabilities

2,593

3,129

Total current liabilities

11,804

12,047

475

419

Non-current liabilities
P3

Non-current provisions

P6

Deferred tax liabilities

2,303

1,879

Total non-current liabilities

2,778

2,298

Shareholders’ equity
P7

Issued capital

9,020

9,020

P8

Capital reserve

21,321

21,321

P9

Retained earnings

26,005

20,930

P10

Exchange rate differences

414

1,021

Total shareholders’ equity

56,760

52,292

Total shareholders’ equity and liabilities

71,342

66,637
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
01.01. -31.12.2017
K€

01.01. - 31.12.2016
K€

Net profit for the period after interest and taxes

9,073

7,129

G10

Adjustment of net profit for income tax expense (+)

4,758

3,338

G9

Adjustment of net profit for interest expense (+)

1

61

G9

Adjustment of net profit for interest income (-)

-3

-31

G7

Adjustment of net profit for depreciation and amortisation expense (+)

2,068

1,778

P3

Increase (+) / decrease (-) in provisions

-57

209

A6 to
A8

Gains (-) / losses (+) on the disposal of non-current assets

-17

-34

A2 to
A5, A9

Increase (-) / decrease (+) in inventories, receivables and other assets

183

-11,872

P1 to
P5

Increase (+) / decrease (-) in liabilities

135

3,602

G10

Income taxes repaid (+) / paid (-)

-3,389

-4,085

12,752

95

102
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Consolidated statement of cash flows
Item
Cash flow from operating activities

Net cash from operating activities

Cash flow from investing activities
A6 to
A8

Proceeds (+) from the disposal of non-current assets

A6 to
A8

Acquisition (-) of property, plant and equipment and intangible assets

-1,215

-574

A7

Capitalisation of development costs (-)

-2,317

-1,450

G9

Interest received (+)

2

0

-3,428

-1,968

-3,998

-3,554

-1

0

-3,999

-3,554

-336

76

Change in cash and cash equivalents

5,325

-5,427

A1

Cash and cash equivalents as at 1 January

6,517

11,868

A1

Cash and cash equivalents

11,506

6,517

Net cash used in investing activities

Cash flow from financing activities
P8, P9

Dividend payment (-)

G9

Interest paid (-)
Net cash and cash equivalents from financing activities

Changes in cash and cash equivalents due to changes in exchange rates
Cash and cash equivalents
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STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN
SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY

Exchange rate
differences
K€

Retained
earnings
K€

Summe

K€

Capital
reserves
K€

9,020

21,321

961

17,355

48,657

Net profit for the period

0

0

0

7,129

7,129

Other comprehensive income

0

0

60

0

60

Total comprehensive income

0

0

60

7,129

7,189

Dividends

0

0

0

-3,554

-3,554

Shareholders’ equity
at 31 December 2016

9,020

21,321

1,021

20,930

52,292

Shareholders’ equity
at 1 January 2017

9,020

21,321

1,021

20,930

52,292

Net profit for the period

0

0

0

9,073

9,073

Other comprehensive income

0

0

-607

0

-607

Total comprehensive income

0

0

-607

9,073

8,466

Dividends

0

0

0

-3,998

-3,998

9,020

21,321

414

26,005

56,760

Shareholders’ equity

Shareholders’ equity
at 1 January 2016

Shareholders’ equity
at 31 December 2017

Issued capital

K€
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS
General disclosures on the Company and the
consolidated financial statements

Amendments to IAS 12: Recognition of Deferred Tax Assets
for Unrealised Losses
The amendments published by the IASB were adopted under

Fundamental accounting principles

EU law with the announcement in the EU official gazette on

Viscom AG is domiciled in Hanover, Germany, and is entered in

6 November 2017; application is mandatory for financial years

the local commercial register under HRB 59616. The Company’s

beginning on or after 1 January 2017. The amendments to

business address is Viscom AG, Carl-Buderus-Straße 9-15, 30455

IAS 12 serve to clarify the recognition of deferred tax assets for

Hanover, Germany.

temporary differences from unrealised losses. The amendments
have no effect on the Viscom Group’s financial statements.

On 28 February 2018, these consolidated financial statements
were approved by the Executive Board for presentation to the

Amendments to IAS 7: Statement of Cash Flows – Disclosure

Supervisory Board.

Initiative
The amendments published by the IASB were adopted under

The consolidated financial statements and the 2016 Group

EU law with the announcement in the EU official gazette on

management report were submitted to and published in the

6 November 2017; application is mandatory for financial years

German Federal Gazette (Bundesanzeiger).

beginning on or after 1 January 2017. As a result of the amendments to IAS 7, companies will be obliged to provide additional

The Company’s business activities encompass the develop-

disclosures on the development of liability items in the state-

ment, manufacture and sale of automated inspection systems

ment of the financial position during the reporting period for

for industrial production. Inspection is performed by the com-

which related payments are recognised in the statement of cash

puter-based optical and/or X-ray comparison of the inspected

flows in net cash from financing activities or will be recognised

objects with the specifications defined in the inspection system.

in future. Corresponding disclosures are also required on the development of the carrying amount of financial assets for which

Declaration of compliance

related payments are required to be recognised in net cash from

The present financial statements for the 2017 financial year were

financing activities. The amendments do not currently have any

prepared on the basis of uniform application of and compliance

effect on the Viscom Group’s financial statements as the Group

with all of the applicable International Financial Reporting Stan-

does not have any debt financing.

dards (IFRS) as adopted by the European Union as of the reporting date of 31 December 2017.

Annual improvements to IFRS 2014-2016
The provisions published by the IASB in December 2016 arising

Changes or additions to IFRS and changes to reporting,

from the annual improvement project were adopted under

recognition or measurement as a result

EU law with the announcement in the EU official gazette on

Compared with the consolidated financial statements dated

8 February 2018; application is mandatory for financial years

31 December 2016, the following standards and interpretations

beginning on or after 1 January 2017 (IFRS 12) or 1 January 2018

have changed or become mandatory as a result of their adopti-

(IFRS 1 and IAS 28). The provisions arising from the annual im-

on under EU law or following the effective date of the provisions:

provement project encompass changes to IFRS 1, IFRS 12 and
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IAS 28. The amendments adjusted the wording to clarify the

ded disclosures are required in the notes in order to provide the

existing rules. Other amendments impacted the recognition,

users of the financial statements with more in-depth and rele-

measurement and notes. The amendments have no material

vant information. Viscom conducted a Group-wide project to

effect on the Viscom Group’s financial statements.

examine the consequences of the application of IFRS 15 for the
consolidated financial statements. We currently anticipate the

IASB standards and interpretations not applied prematurely

following consequences:

The following IFRS were published by the IASB/IFRIC on or before
the reporting date, but only become mandatory in later reporting

• Individual obligations in connection with system deliveries

periods and/or have not been adopted under EU law. With regard

that were previously recognised at a point in time will be

to the standards and interpretations that only become manda-

recognised over time in future in accordance with IFRS

tory in later reporting periods, the Viscom Group has chosen not

15.35(b). As a result, a small proportion of revenue will be

to exercise the accounting policy choice of premature application.

recognised at a later date. No significant consequences

IFRS 15 – Revenue from Contracts with Customers

anticipated.

in terms of the date or period of revenue recognition are
The standard published by the IASB on 28 May 2014 supersedes the existing standards on revenue, IAS 18 and IAS 11, and
was adopted under EU law with the announcement in the EU

• No material consequences for the revenue already recognised
over time are currently anticipated.

official gazette on 22 September 2016; application is mandatory for financial years beginning on or after 1 January 2018. This
standard prescribes the timing and amount of revenue recogni-

• The application of IFRS 15 will result in expanded disclosures
in the notes to the financial statements.

tion. Revenue is required to be recognised when the customer
obtains control over and can use the benefits from the agreed

Amendments to IFRS 15: Clarifications to IFRS 15

goods and services. The transfer of the significant risks and re-

The amendments published by the IASB were adopted under

wards of ownership as previously prescribed by IAS 18 “Reve-

EU law with the announcement in the EU official gazette on

nue” is no longer decisive. The new model prescribes a five-step

31 October 2017; application is mandatory for financial years

framework for revenue recognition that starts by requiring the

beginning on or after 1 January 2017. The clarifications relate to

identification of the contract with the customer and the sepa-

the identification of performance obligations, principal versus

rate performance obligations contained therein. The transaction

agent considerations, licensing and transition relief. The amend-

price of the customer contract is then determined and allocated

ments have no material effect on the Viscom Group’s financial

to the individual performance obligations. Finally, the new mo-

statements.

del requires recognition to be recognised for each performance
obligation in the amount of the proportionate transaction price

IFRS 9 – Financial Instruments

allocated to the respective performance obligation as soon as

The standard published by the IASB on 24 July 2014 is a three-

the agreed service has been performed or the customer has

phase project superseding IAS 39 - Financial Instruments: Recog-

obtained control. A distinction is made between fulfilment over

nition and Measurement and was adopted under EU law with

time and at a point in time based on defined criteria. Expan-

the announcement in the EU official gazette on 22 November
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2016; application is mandatory for financial years beginning on

beginning on or after 1 January 2017. Until the new insurance

or after 1 January 2018. The standard governs the classification

contracts standard (IFRS 17) comes into force, the amendments

and measurement of financial instruments, the recognition of

to IFRS 4 provide two voluntary options for avoiding certain

impairment on financial assets and hedge accounting. Viscom

accounting consequences resulting from the different effective

conducted a Group-wide project to examine the consequences

dates of IFRS 9 and IFRS 17: A temporary exemption from ap-

of the application of IFRS 9 for the consolidated financial state-

plying IFRS 9 for insurance companies satisfying certain criteria

ments. We currently anticipate the following consequences:

(deferral approach) and the application of the overlay approach.
The amendments have no effect on the Viscom Group’s financial

• The reclassification of financial assets depending on the appli-

statements.

cable business model and the related contractual cash flows
will not have any significant valuation effects. All financial as-

IFRS 16 – Leases

sets are currently carried at amortised cost and also meet the

The standard published by the IASB on 13 January 2016 super-

conditions for classification as at amortised cost in accordance

sedes the existing standards and interpretations on leases, IAS

with IFRS 9.

17, IFRIC 4, SIC-15 and SIC-27, and was adopted under EU law
with the announcement in the EU official gazette on 31 Octo-

• The conversion from the incurred loss model to the new

ber 2017; application is mandatory for financial years beginning

expected loss model means that impairment losses will be

on or after 1 January 2019. The standard introduces an entirely

expensed at an earlier date in future. Viscom is able to apply

new approach for the accounting treatment of leases for les-

the simplified model for the vast majority of its financial assets.

sees in particular. Under IAS 17, a lease was recognised by the

No significant consequences for the net assets, financial posi-

lessee when substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership

tion and results of operations are anticipated as a result.

of the leased asset were transferred. In future, every lease will
be required to be recognised as a financing transaction in the

• There are no consequences in terms of the accounting treat-

lessee’s statement of financial position. By contrast, the accoun-

ment of financial liabilities. The new provisions relate only to

ting provisions for lessors remain largely unchanged, particularly

the accounting treatment of financial liabilities for which the

with regard to the continued classification obligation for leases.

fair value option is exercised. The Group does not make use of

However, the details of the new standard do give rise to some

this option.

differences concerning subleases and sale and leaseback transactions, for example. The Viscom Group is currently analysing the

• The new provisions on hedge accounting do not affect Viscom

impact of the changes arising from the new standard in terms

as the Group does not currently hold any hedging instruments.

of its net assets, financial position and results of operations. The
standard is expected to increase the Group’s total assets, as ope-

• The application of IFRS 9 will result in expanded disclosures in
the notes to the financial statements.

rating leases currently presented in the notes will be required
to be recognised in the statement of financial position as rightof-use assets and lease liabilities in future. Expenses for existing

Amendments to IFRS 4: Applying IFRS 9 with IFRS 4

operating leases will no longer be recognised as lease expenses

The amendments published by the IASB were adopted under

in future. As the new provisions will result in write-downs on the

EU law with the announcement in the EU official gazette on

right-of-use assets and interest expense, the Viscom Group is

3 November 2017; application is mandatory for financial years

anticipating a positive effect on its EBIT and EBIT-Margin.
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In addition, the following standards and interpretations are not yet applied:
Standard / Interpretation

Mandatory
application for
financial years
beginning on

Adoption by
the European
Commission

Standards
Amendments
to IFRS 2

"Classification and
Measurement of
Share-based Payment
Transactions"

The clarification relates to the classification and measurement
of share-based payment transactions. They concern accounting
for cash-settled share-based payment transactions that include
a performance condition, share-based payment transactions in
which the manner of settlement is contingent on future events,
share-based payment transactions settled without tax withholding,
and modifications of share-based payment transactions from cashsettled to equity-settled.

1 Jan. 2018

No

Amendments
to IFRS 3, IFRS
11, IAS 23,
IAS 12

“Annual improvements to
IFRS 2015 – 2017”

IFRS 3 and 11: The amendments clarify that the provisions of IFRS
3 on a successive business combination are required to be applied
in the case of a purchase of additional shares resulting in control
being obtained over a former joint operation within the meaning
of IFRS 10. Accordingly, the interests previously held must be
remeasured in accordance with IFRS 3.42.

1 Jan. 2019

No

IAS 23: The amendments clarify that any outstanding borrowings
originally entered into to acquire a specific qualifying asset must be
included in determining the general borrowing cost capitalisation
rate for other qualifying assets for which no specific borrowings
have been entered into from the date on which the respective
asset is substantially ready for its intended use or sale.
IAS 12: The amendments clarify the tax consequences of dividend
payments.
Amendments
to IFRS 10 and
IAS 28

“Sale or Contribution
of Assets between an
Investor and its
Associate or Joint
Venture”

Clarification regarding the sale or contribution of assets between
an investor and its associate or joint venture.

Pending

No

IFRS 14

"Regulatory Deferral
Accounts"

The standard establishes principles subject to price regulation for
entities applying IFRS for the first time. The amendments adjusted
the wording to clarify the existing rules. Other amendments
impacted the recognition, measurement and notes.

1 Jan. 2016*

Not expected to
be endorsed

IFRS 17

“Insurance Contracts”

IFRS 17 will supersede IFRS 4 “Insurance Contracts”. The standard
contains three central approaches for the recognition of insurance
contracts: the building block approach, the premium allocation
approach and the variable fee approach.

1 Jan. 2021

No

Amendments
to IFRS 9

“Prepayment Features
with Negative
Compensation”

The amendments are intended to allow measure-ment at
amortised cost or at fair value through other comprehensive
income (FVOCI) even in the case of financial assets with
prepayment features in which a party receives or pays
appropriate compensation on termination (appropriate negative
compensation).

1 Jan. 2019

No
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Standard / Interpretation

Mandatory
application for
financial years
beginning on

Adoption by
the European
Commission

Standards
Amendments
to IAS 28

“Long-term Interests
in Associates and Joint
Ventures”

The amendment to IAS 28 clarifies that long-term interests
in associates are required to be recognised and measured in
accordance with IFRS 9. Accordingly, any impairment losses on
such interests are also calculated in accordance with IFRS 9.
However, such interests continue to be included in loss allocation
when applying the equity method to the value of the interests.
Accordingly, losses are initially allocated to the equity carrying
amount and only then to the other long-term interest.

1 Jan. 2019

No

Amendments
to IAS 40

"Transfers of Investment
Property"

Clarification that an entity may only transfer a property to, or from,
investment property if there is a change in use.

1 Jan. 2018

No

IFRIC 22

"Foreign Currency
Transactions and
Advance Consideration"

Clarification as to which exchange rate is applied on the initial
recognition of a foreign currency transaction in the functional
currency of an entity that includes the receipt or payment of
advance consideration.

1 Jan. 2018

No

IFRIC 23

"Uncertainty over Income
Tax Treatments”

The interpretation contains provisions on the recognition and
measurement of items subject to uncertainty over income tax
treatments, thereby closing the gaps contained in IAS 12 “Income
Taxes”.

1 Jan. 2019

No

* In November, EFRAG announced that the European Commission would not be proposing the interim standard IFRS 14 for endorsement in EU law as very few entities would fall
within its scope

The Viscom Group does not expect the application of the stan-

The consolidated statement of comprehensive income was

dards and/or interpretations published on the reporting date

prepared in accordance with the nature of expense method.

but not yet in force to have a material impact on the net assets, financial position and results of operations of the Group in

Certain items in the statement of comprehensive income and

future periods.

the statement of financial position have been combined for
clarity of presentation; explanatory disclosures are contained

Principles underlying the preparation of the consolidated

in the notes to the consolidated financial statements. In accor-

financial statements

dance with IAS 1, assets and liabilities carried on the face of the

The financial year is the calendar year. The IFRS consolidated

statement of financial position are classified as either current or

financial statements are prepared in euro. Figures are presented

non-current. Current assets or liabilities are those designated for

in thousands of euro (€ thousand). The consolidated financial

disposal/redemption within the next year.

statements are prepared on the basis of amortised historical
cost.
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Consolidation principles

Business combinations are recognised in accordance with the

The IFRS consolidated financial statements are based on the

purchase method. Under this method, the identifiable assets

single-entity financial statements of Viscom AG and the single-

(including intangible assets not previously recognised) and

entity financial statements of the subsidiaries as of 31 December

liabilities (including contingent liabilities but excluding future

2017. The financial statements of the companies included in the

restructuring) of the acquired operations are recognised at fair

consolidated financial statements are prepared on the basis of

value. The difference between the excess of acquisition costs,

uniform accounting principles. Adjustments were made for dif-

the amount of non-controlling interests in the acquired compa-

ferences in accounting standards as necessary.

ny and the fair value of all previously held shares at the acquisition date and the share of the Group in the net assets measured

All intercompany profits and losses, income and expenses as

at fair value is recognised as goodwill. If the acquisition costs are

well as receivables and liabilities between the companies are

lower than the net assets of the acquired subsidiary measured

eliminated. Deferred taxes are recognised for consolidation

at fair value, the difference is recognised directly in the consoli-

measures affecting profit or loss.

dated statement of comprehensive income and in acquisitionrelated costs through profit or loss.

Basis of consolidation
In addition to the parent company Viscom AG, Hanover, the
following subsidiaries were included in the IFRS consolidated
financial statements:

Name

Headquarters

Equity interest

Date of initial control

Viscom France S.A.R.L.

Cergy Pontoise
Cedex, France

100 %

2001

Viscom Machine Vision Pte Ltd.

Singapore, Singapore

100 %

2001

Viscom Inc.

Atlanta, USA

100 %

2001

Viscom Machine Vision Trading Co. Ltd.

Shanghai, China

100 %

2007

Viscom Tunisie S.A.R.L.

Tunis, Tunisia

100 %

2010

The consolidated financial statements include the subsidiaries in

included in the consolidated financial statements when control is

which Viscom AG directly or indirectly holds the majority of voting

established and are deconsolidated when the conditions for con-

rights and over which it therefore exercises control. Subsidiaries are

trol are no longer met.
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Changes to accounting and measurement principles

Impairment of non-financial assets

The accounting and measurement principles applied are the same

At each reporting date, the Group determines whether there are

as in the previous year.

indications that non-financial assets are impaired. Goodwill and
other intangible assets with an indefinite useful life are reviewed at

Material judgements, estimates and assumptions

least once a year and if there are indications of impairment. Other

The preparation of the consolidated financial statements requires

non-financial assets are tested for impairment if there are indica-

certain assumptions and estimates affecting the amount and clas-

tions that the carrying amount exceeds the recoverable amount.

sification of the assets, liabilities, income, expenses and contingent
liabilities recognised.

To calculate the fair value less disposal costs, the management estimates the expected future cash flows from the cash-generating

Intangible assets

unit and selects a discount rate to determine the present value

Internally generated intangible assets are capitalised if it is suffici-

of these cash flows. In accordance with IAS 36, a cash-generating

ently certain that the respective development activity will result

unit is the smallest identifiable group of assets that generates cash

in future economic benefits that will cover the total development

flows that are largely independent of those of other units.

costs as a minimum. This requires an estimate of the future economic benefits and the outstanding development costs.

Summary of significant accounting principles
Intangible assets

Trade receivables

Intangible assets are carried at cost on initial recognition. They are

The default risk for trade receivables is estimated using the avail-

recognised if it is probable that the future economic benefits attri-

able information, particularly with regard to arrears.

butable to the asset will flow to the Company and the acquisition
or production costs of the asset can be measured reliably. The cost

Inventories

of intangible assets acquired as part of a business combination

Inventories are subject to assumptions regarding the depreciation

corresponds to their fair value at the acquisition date. After initial

parameters, e.g. inventory coverage and the measurement of the

recognition, intangible assets are carried at cost less any accumu-

degree of completion.

lated amortisation and any accumulated impairment losses. Intangible assets with a limited useful life are amortised on a straight-

Provisions

line basis over their estimated useful life. Amortisation periods

In the case of provisions, and in particular provisions for warranties

and methods are reviewed on an annual basis at the end of each

and repairs, deviations in the actual warranty and repair expenses

financial year. The amortisation of intangible assets is reported

incurred at a later date are possible as the provisions are recogni-

under depreciation and amortisation in the consolidated state-

sed on the basis of empirical values. The warranty or repair expense

ment of comprehensive income. There are no intangible assets

is quantified for each system installed and used as a benchmark for

with an indefinite useful life.

systems that are still under warranty or in repair at the end of the
respective year.

Gains and losses on the derecognition of intangible assets are calculated as the difference between the proceeds from the sale of
the asset at fair value less costs to sell and the carrying amount, and
are recognised in the period in which the asset is derecognised.
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Goodwill from business combinations is initially carried at cost. It

Viscom has six submitted patents. With the exception of the regis-

is determined as the excess of the acquisition costs, the value of

tration of three patents in Europe, Taiwan and the USA, no further

the non-controlling shares in the acquired company and the fair

patents were issued as of 31 December 2017.

value of any previously held equity on the acquisition date over the
Group’s share of the net assets measured at fair value. If the acqui-

Property, plant and equipment

sition costs are lower than the net assets of the acquired subsidiary

Property, plant and equipment is carried at cost less any accumu-

as measured at fair value, the difference is recognised directly in

lated depreciation and accumulated impairment losses. Gains and

profit or loss.

losses on the derecognition of property, plant, and equipment are
calculated as the difference between the net proceeds on the sale

After initial recognition, goodwill is subjected to annual impair-

of the respective asset and the carrying amount, and are recogni-

ment testing and carried at cost less any accumulated impairment

sed in the period in which the asset is derecognised.

losses. Impairment losses on goodwill may not be reversed.
The original acquisition cost of an item of property, plant and
In accordance with IAS 38, research costs may not be capitalised,

equipment is composed of the purchase price, including import

while development costs may only be capitalised when certain

duties and non-refundable purchase taxes, as well as any directly

precisely defined conditions are met. Development costs must

attributable costs of preparing the respective asset for use as in-

always be capitalised when it is sufficiently certain that the respec-

tended by the Company’s management and transporting it to its

tive development activity will result in future economic benefits

intended location.

that will cover the planned costs as well as the corresponding development costs. In addition, various criteria relating to the develop-

The cost of manufacture of an item of property, plant and equip-

ment project and the product or process being developed must all

ment is composed of the cost of the goods and services used

be met. In particular, the Company must intend to complete, use

in manufacturing the respective asset. This includes direct costs

or sell the development project and possess the technical, financial

as well as an appropriate proportion of the fixed and variable

and other resources required to do so. Furthermore, the Company

overheads.

must be in a position to use or dispose of the intangible asset and
derive an economic advantage from the same. Viscom capitalises

Subsequent acquisition costs relating to an item of property, plant

development costs when these criteria are cumulatively met and

and equipment that has already been recognised are added to

the development costs can be measured reliably.

the carrying amount of the respective asset when it is probable
that future economic benefits in excess of the originally assessed

Other development costs that do not meet these criteria are ex-

standard of performance of the existing asset will flow to the Com-

pensed as incurred. Development costs expensed in previous pe-

pany and the costs can be reliably determined. All other subse-

riods are not capitalised in subsequent reporting periods. Capita-

quent expenditure is expensed in the period in which it is incurred.

lised development costs are recognised as intangible assets and

Expenses for repairs and maintenance not relating to significant

amortised on a straight-line basis over their useful life, and in any

replacement investments are recognised as expenses in the con-

case over a maximum of 15 years, from the date on which they

solidated statement of comprehensive income in the financial year

become usable. Capitalised development costs that are not yet

in which they are incurred.

ready for use are subject to annual impairment testing for the
respective cash-generating unit.
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The useful lives, depreciation methods and net carrying amounts

If there is an indication that impairment no longer exists or has

are reviewed in each period. This is necessary to ensure that the

decreased, the respective impairment loss is tested and measured

depreciation methods and periods correspond to the expected

and any amount reversed as a result is recognised in profit or loss.

economic benefits from the respective items of property, plant
and equipment.

Intangible assets with an indefinite useful life and any intangible
assets that are not yet ready for use are subject to annual impair-

Gains and losses on the disposal of property, plant, and equipment

ment testing for the respective cash-generating unit.

are determined as the difference between the proceeds of disposal
and the carrying amount of the property, plant, and equipment.

Financial investments and other financial assets and liabilities

They are reported in “Other operating income” or “Other opera-

Financial instruments (financial assets and financial liabilities)

ting expenses” in the consolidated statement of comprehensive

within the meaning of IAS 32 and IAS 39 are divided into the

income.

following categories:

Assets under development are allocated to property, plant and

Financial assets held until final maturity, available-for-sale finan-

equipment and carried at cost. They are depreciated from the date

cial assets, financial assets and liabilities recognised at fair value

on which they are brought to their working condition.

through profit or loss (including assets classified for trading purposes), loans and receivables granted, and other financial liabilities.

Impairment of property, plant and equipment and intangible

The management determines the classification of financial assets

assets

on initial recognition.

Property, plant and equipment and intangible assets with an indefinite useful life are tested for impairment whenever changes

These financial assets and liabilities are carried at fair value on initial

or events take place that indicate that the carrying amount of an

recognition, which takes place at the trade date. After initial reco-

asset may not be recoverable. An impairment loss is recognised

gnition, different measurement methods apply to the various cate-

when the carrying amount of an item of property, plant and equip-

gories of financial assets and liabilities. These are described in the

ment or an intangible asset carried at cost exceeds its recoverable

accounting policies for the respective statement of financial positi-

amount. The recoverable amount is the higher of the asset’s fair

on items. Foreign currency items are translated at the middle rate

value less costs to sell and its value in use.

prevailing at the reporting date. Gains and losses due to changes
in the fair value of financial instruments are recognised in profit or

An asset’s fair value less costs to sell is the amount obtainable from

loss.

the sale of the asset in an arm’s-length transaction less the costs
of disposal. Its value in use is the present value of the estimated

Financial assets are derecognised when the Company loses control

future cash flows that are expected to arise from the continuing

of the contractual rights underlying the respective asset. Financial

use of the asset and from its disposal at the end of its useful life.

liabilities are derecognised when the corresponding contractual

The recoverable amount is determined for each individual asset or,

obligations are met or cancelled or they expire.

where this is not possible, for the cash-generating unit to which
the respective asset belongs.
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Inventories

will be settled in full. Uncollectible amounts therefore result in bad

In accordance with IAS 2, inventories are assets that are held for

debts, which are written down accordingly. These write-downs are

sale in the ordinary course of business (completed systems), that

recognised in a separate account. Foreign currency items are trans-

are in the process of production for such sale (assemblies and par-

lated at the middle rate prevailing at the reporting date.

tially completed systems), or that are held for consumption in the
production process or in the rendering of services (raw materials

Shareholders’ equity

and supplies). The production costs of finished and unfinished

Issued capital is carried at its nominal amount. Reserves are recog-

products include costs for product design, raw materials, auxiliary

nised in accordance with the provisions of the law and the Articles

materials and supplies, direct staff costs, and other direct costs and

of Association, and are carried at their nominal amount.

overheads directly attributable to production (based on average
production capacities).

Provisions
Provisions are recognised when the Company has a present obliga-

Inventories are measured at the lower of their acquisition or pro-

tion to a third party as a result of a past event, it is probable that an

duction cost as calculated using the weighted average method

outflow of resources will be required to settle the obligation, and

less discounts for obsolescence, which take the form of deductions

a reliable estimate of the amount of the obligation can be made.

for inventory coverage, and their fair value less cost to sell.
If a risk for which a provision has been recognised is expected to be
An asset’s fair value less costs to sell is the estimated proceeds

covered by reimbursements (e.g. under insurance contracts), the

recoverable in the ordinary course of business less the estimated

reimbursement should be recognised as a separate asset to the

costs up to completion and estimated selling expenses.

extent that it is sufficiently probable that it will be received. The
expense relating to the provision is recognised in the statement

Raw materials, auxiliary materials and supplies intended for produc-

of comprehensive income net of the amount recognised for the

tion are impaired in the case of inventory coverage of more than

reimbursement.

one year (slow mover measurement). Inventory coverage is calculated on the basis of historic sales in previous years. Completed

Significant provisions are recognised for warranty and repair ex-

and partially completed systems are subject to impairment testing

penses. In this case, the warranty or repair expense is quantified for

after one year, with impairment losses recognised as required.

each system installed and used as a benchmark for systems that
are still under warranty or in repair at the end of the respective year.

Trade receivables

Non-current provisions are carried at their discounted amount.

Other receivables and assets
Trade receivables are initially carried at cost, which corresponds to

Taxes

the fair value of the consideration paid, and in subsequent periods

In accordance with IAS 12, deferred taxes are determined using the

at amortised cost using the effective interest method less any allo-

balance sheet liability method for temporary differences between

wances for uncollectability. Estimates of uncollectible amounts are

the tax base of an asset or liability and its carrying amount in the

performed when it is no longer likely that the respective invoice

IFRS and tax accounts of the individual companies, temporary dif-
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ferences resulting from consolidation processes and utilisable loss

tax payable or receivable is reported in the statement of financial

carry forwards. This is based on the tax rates that are expected to

position as a receivable or a liability.

apply in the respective countries at the realisation date. These are
based on the statutory regulations in force or adopted at the re-

Leases

porting date. A tax rate of 32.6 % was applied for the calculation

In the case of finance leases under which substantially all the risks

of deferred and current taxes in Germany (previous year: 32.6 %).

and rewards incident to ownership of an asset are transferred to

The income tax rates of the foreign subsidiaries vary between 17 %

the Company, the leased asset is recognised at fair value or, if low-

(previous year: 17 %) and 25 % (previous year: 37 %). The tax rates

er, the present value of the minimum lease payments. No finance

of the foreign subsidiaries for the calculation of current taxes vary

leases were recognised in Viscom’s consolidated financial state-

between 17 % (previous year: 17 %) and 37 % (previous year: 37 %).

ments as of 31 December 2017.

Deferred taxes are recognised through profit or loss unless they

If the lessor bears substantially all the risks and rewards incident

relate to items taken directly to equity or other comprehensive in-

to the leased asset, the respective lease is treated as an operating

come. In this case, deferred taxes are also recognised in equity or in

lease. Payments under operating leases are expensed. Viscom only

other comprehensive income in the statement of comprehensive

conducted operating lease transactions.

income.
Revenue
The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the

Revenue is recognised when it is probable that the corresponding

respective reporting date. Deferred taxes are only recognised to

economic benefit will flow to the Company and the benefit can be

the extent they are expected to be realised based on future profits.

measured reliably.

Deferred taxes attributable to items taken directly to equity are

Revenue is recognised when significantly all the risks and rewards

recognised in equity.

incident to ownership of the respective asset are transferred to the
purchaser.

Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are offset if the Group
has an enforceable right to offset current tax assets and current tax

In the case of services, revenue is recognised depending on the

liabilities and if they relate to the income taxes of the same taxable

stage of completion of the respective transaction at the reporting

entity, imposed by the same taxation authority. Corresponding off-

date, providing that the outcome of the service can be measured

setting took place at the individual company level in these conso-

reliably.

lidated financial statements.
Income from leased assets is recognised on a straight-line basis
Revenue, expenses and assets are reported net of value-added tax

over the term of the rental agreement in accordance with the con-

unless the respective tax is non-deductible. Receivables and liabi-

ditions of the agreement.

lities are reported including value-added tax. The net value-added
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Borrowing costs

Differences between these exchange rates and the exchange rates

Borrowing costs are not capitalised, but instead are expensed in

at the closing date are reported in shareholders’ equity as a sepa-

the period in which they are incurred – except in the case of quali-

rate item under “Currency translation differences”. When a foreign

fied assets in accordance with IAS 23.

Group company is sold, exchange differences previously recognised directly in equity are reclassified to profit or loss as part of the

Interest

gain or loss on disposal.

Interest is recognised in interest income on the basis of the effective interest rate for the respective assets and liabilities.

Translation differences arising from business transactions in foreign
currencies are generally recognised in profit or loss. Translation

Dividends

differences from foreign-currency transactions are recognised in

Dividends are recognised when the bearer has obtained the right

profit or loss under “Other operating income” or “Other operating

to receive payment.

expenses” respectively.

Currency translation

The significant exchange rates in the financial year were as follows:

Transactions in foreign currencies and the annual financial statements of foreign Group companies are translated into euro in

Translation exchange rates 2017

accordance with the functional currency concept (IAS 21).
The assets and liabilities of foreign Group companies are translated
at the closing date exchange rate, while their income and expenses
are translated at the average exchange rate. The shareholders’

EUR 1 =
CNY x

EUR 1 =
TND x

EUR 1 =
USD x

Closing rate

7.8044

2.9377

1.1993

Average rate

7.6290

2.7085

1.1297

EUR 1 =
CNY x

EUR 1 =
TND x

EUR 1 =
USD x

Closing rate

7.3202

2.4843

1.0541

Average rate

7.3522

2.3527

1.1069

equity of the subsidiaries is translated at historic rates.
Translation exchange rates 2016
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Notes to the consolidated statement of
comprehensive income

Non-monetary remuneration, which has a corresponding offsetting item under staff costs, results from the taxation of nonmonetary benefits such as the private use of company cars.

(G1) Revenue
The Group’s revenue can be broken down as follows:
Revenue

(G3) Changes in finished goods and work in progress
2016
K€

2017
K€

Changes in finished goods and work in progress included
inventory-based manufacturing costs for completed and partially completed machines and their subassemblies. The net

Construction and delivery of
machines

66,613

58,117

Services/replacement parts

21,000

17,707

production costs of € 25,168 thousand (previous year: € 22,825

929

1,421

thousand) and a corresponding value adjustment of € 7,931

88,542

77,245

Rentals
Total

value of these machines and assemblies was € 17,237 thousand
(previous year: € 15,133 thousand), comprising acquisition and

thousand (previous year: € 7,692 thousand).
(G4) Other own work capitalised

(G2) Other operating income

Own work for new developments was capitalised in the 2017

Other operating income is composed of the following items:

financial year in the amount of € 2,317 thousand (previous year:
€ 1,450 thousand). The developments mainly related to software

Other operating income

2016
K€

2017
K€

Non-monetary remuneration

882

689

Income from the reversal of other
provisions for warranties and repairs

647

736

Income from the reversal of other
provisions

370

229

Income from exchange rate
differences

274

257

Income from sales of assets

73

55

Income from receivables previously
written off

16

29

Insurance recoveries

8

18

Income from the reversal of value
adjustments on receivables

0

29

Miscellaneous other operating
income
Total
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and new inspection systems.
(G5) Cost of materials
The cost of materials can be broken down into the cost of
purchased materials and purchased services:
Cost of materials

Materials including incidental costs
of acquisition
Purchased services
Total

2017
K€

2016
K€

31,962

24,151

2,089

1,871

34,051

26,022

The increase in the cost of materials was attributable to the
higher level of revenue and the positive change in inventories.

321

489

2,591

2,531

(G6) Staff costs

(G8) Other operating expenses

Staff costs comprise salaries and employer social security

Other operating expenses can be broken down as follows:

contributions.
Staff costs

Wages and salaries, incl. bonuses
and management bonuses

Other operating expenses
2017
K€

2016
K€

24,672

23,085

4,052

3,833

28,724

26,918

Number of employees (average for
the year)

402

375

Number of trainees (average for the
year)

12

14

415

389

Social security contributions
Total

Total

Staff costs increased primarily on account of the higher total

2017
K€

2016
K€

General and administrative costs

7,710

6,837

Rent/leases/building costs

2,258

2,240

Selling expenses

2,230

2,137

Travel expenses

2,129

2,120

Outgoing shipments

859

815

Expenses due to exchange rate
differences

694

274

Warranty/repair expenses

559

1,098

Value adjustments on receivables
and losses on receivables

443

29

16,882

15,550

Total

pay resulting from the increase in the number of Group employees and the pay rise in 2017.

The increase in other operating expenses was mainly due to
higher general and administrative costs, the increased use of

In the period under review, payments were made to defined

temporary staff and increased expenses due to exchange rate

contribution pension plans in the amount of € 1,532 thousand

differences. The higher level of repairs required in the previous

(previous year: € 1,405 thousand).

year was prevented in the 2017 financial year. The increase in
value adjustments on receivables was due to individual receiv-

(G7) Depreciation and amortisation

ables that are significantly overdue. Expenditure for research

Information on depreciation and amortisation expense can

and development amounted to 6.2 % of revenue (previous year:

be found in notes A6-A7 of the statement of financial position

6.4 %).

assets.
(G9) Financial result
Financial income decreased from € 31 thousand in the previous year to € 3 thousand in the year under review. Financial
expenses of € -1 thousand in 2017 (previous year: € -61 thousand)
meant that the financial result amounted to € 2 thousand (previous year: € -30 thousand).
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(G10) Income taxes

level of the US company, the change in the tax rate from 37 %

Income taxes for the financial years ending 31 December 2017

to 24 % as a result of the US tax reform resulted in a deferred tax

and 2016 contained the following income and expense items:

expense of € 163 thousand. Furthermore, a deferred tax liability
resulted from development costs which were only capitalised

Income taxes

2017
K€

2016
K€

Actual income taxes for the past
financial year

4,117

3,041

Actual income taxes for previous
years

99

-80

Deferred income taxes from
the accrual and reversal of
temporary differences and tax loss
carryforwards

in the IFRS financial statements. The distribution of dividends to
shareholders did not affect income taxes at the level of Viscom
AG.

The reconciliation from the expected to the reported income
tax expense was based on the tax rate of the parent company
as follows:

542

377
Reconciliation of income tax
expense

2017
K€

2016
K€

Consolidated net profit before taxes

13,831

10,467

4,512

3,415

AG as well as the foreign subsidiaries in France, America and

Anticipated tax income (-) / expense
(+) based on 32.6 % (previous year:
32.6 %)

Singapore. Actual income taxes for previous years in the amount

Prior-period taxes

202

250

of € 99 thousand related to Viscom AG (€ -29 thousand) and

Non-deductible operating expenses

164

131

Effect of tax rate change

163

-33

Difference compared with Group
tax rate

-190

-164

0

-221

-93

-40

4,758

3,338

Income tax expense reported in
the consolidated statement of
comprehensive income

4,758

3,338

Actual income taxes for the past financial year related to Viscom

the subsidiaries (€ 128 thousand) and primarily resulted from
amended assessments for previous years.
The deferred tax expense primarily resulted from changes in
temporary differences between the IFRS and tax accounts at
the level of the German, American, and Asian companies. At the

Tax-free income
Other
Actual tax expense
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Deferred tax assets

Consolidated statement
of financial position
2016
K€

2017
K€

Deferred tax assets and liabilities were offset on a company-bycompany basis. For the excess of deferred tax assets over deferred tax liabilities at the level of the respective individual company, the recoverability of the excess of deferred tax assets was
estimated as sufficiently probable based on company planning.

Inventories

540

700

As in the previous year, all changes in deferred taxes in 2017

Tax loss carryforwards

243

243

were recognised in profit or loss. Viscom AG, Hanover, did not

Deferred taxes from elimination of
intercompany profits

168

196

Other liabilities

95

153

ledge expenses relating to the write-downs of loans for 2002

Unrealised revenue

12

71

and 2003. A suit has since been brought before the Niedersäch-

Other financial liabilities

59

66

Measurement of provisions

29

49

is likely to increase by € 743 thousand if our suit is successful.

Measurement of trade receivables

33

42

€ 243 thousand in deferred taxes were capitalised in light of our

1,179

1,520

Offsetting

-519

-682

Net amount

660

838

Gross amount

Of the deferred tax assets, € 352 thousand (previous year: € 573
thousand) will be realised in more than twelve months.
Deferred tax liabilities

as of 31 December 2017. The external tax audit did not acknow-

sisches Finanzgericht (Lower Saxony Finance Court) against the
corresponding assessments. The corporation and trade tax loss

chances of success.
Due to uncertainty about the outcome of an ongoing court
appeal, around € 5,200 thousand in corporation tax loss carryforwards were not recognised in the reporting year. There is no
legal time limit for the utilisation of domestic and foreign tax
loss carryforwards.

Consolidated statement
of financial position

Retained earnings amounted to € 6,829 thousand (previous
year: € 6,643 thousand). No deferred tax liabilities are recogni-

2016
K€

2017
K€

have any assessed corporation and trade tax loss carryforwards

sed on these retained earnings, as there are currently no plans
to distribute these profits to the parent company or to sell the

2,817

2,544

subsidiaries. If deferred taxes were recognised for these timing

Measurement of trade receivables

7

10

differences, their measurement would have to take only 5 % of

Measurement of property, plant and
equipment

-2

7

2,822

2,561

-519

-682

2,303

1,879

Intangible assets

Gross amount
Offsetting
Net amount

the potential dividends plus possible foreign withholding tax
into account due in accordance with the statutory regulation in
section 8b of the German Corporation Tax Act (KStG).

Of the deferred tax liabilities, € 2,303 thousand (previous year:
€ 1,869 thousand) will be realised in more than twelve months.
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(G11) Earnings per share

to actually offset the amounts. Trade receivables were not offset

Based on an average for the year of 8,885,060 shares, earnings

against trade payables. No other legally enforceable offsetting

per share for the 2017 financial year amounted to € 1.02 (diluted

agreements were in place.

and undiluted). In the previous year, earnings per share amounted to € 0.80 (diluted and undiluted) as calculated on the basis

As in the previous year, doubtful receivables written off in full

of 8,885,060 shares. The earnings on which the calculation is

on account of being 100 % unrecoverable amounted to € 650

based (diluted and undiluted) totalled € 9,073 thousand (pre-

thousand. Cumulative value adjustments on receivables totalled

vious year: € 7,129 thousand).

€ 1,240 thousand (previous year: € 812 thousand).
Some customers were late in meeting their payment obliga-

Notes to the statement of financial position
(assets)

tions in 2017.
Value adjustments on receivables developed as follows:

(A1) Cash and cash equivalents

2016
K€

2017
K€

Cash and cash equivalents consisted of cash in hand and bank
balances totalling € 11,506 thousand (previous year: € 6,517
thousand). This related to items which were freely disposable

As of 1 January

812

812

and which had a maturity of less than three months at the end
of the year.

Addition to value adjustments on
receivables

428

29

(A2) Trade receivables

Reversal of value adjustments no
longer required

0

-29

Trade receivables are generally due within 30 to 90 days.

As of 31 December

1,240

812

Trade receivables were not exposed to interest rate risk as they
are all short-term in nature. The carrying amounts of other receivables and assets constituted a reasonable approximation of
their fair value.
Trade receivables from and trade payables to a customer or supplier of Viscom AG are only offset if Viscom can legally enforce
the offsetting of the amounts at that point in time and intends
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(A3) Current income tax assets
Current income tax assets as of 31 December 2017 consisted of
tax refund claims in the amount of € 109 thousand, which mainly resulted from excessive prepayments for the 2017 assessment
period at the subsidiaries in France and the USA.

(A4) Inventories

(A5) Other financial receivables and other assets
2016
K€

Inventories

2017
K€

Other financial receivables and
other assets

Completed systems

10,156

8,003

Security deposits for leases/duties

Raw materials and supplies

7,284

7,689

Creditors with debit balances

Assemblies and partially completed
systems

7,081

7,130

Receivable from public authorities

24,521

22,822

2016
K€

2017
K€
102

95

43

18

0

2

Subtotal of other financial
receivables

145

115

Other receivables

619

272

The completed systems reported in inventories related to ren-

Advance payments

285

282

tal and demonstration machines as well as inspection systems

Miscellaneous assets

216

163

Subtotal of other assets

1,120

717

Total

1,265

832

Total

ready for sale. All systems are subject to impairment testing
every year, with impairment losses recognised as necessary.
Assemblies and partially completed systems include pre-produced modules as well as systems currently under construction
(work in progress). In 2017, all inventories, especially those of
completed and partially completed systems, were recognised at
the same carrying amounts as in 2016.
At the end of 2017, the cumulative value adjustments amounted to € 3,731 thousand for raw materials and supplies (previous
year: € 3,246 thousand), € 1,838 thousand for assemblies and
partially completed systems (previous year: 1,834 thousand) and
€ 6,093 thousand for completed systems (previous year: € 5,858
thousand).
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(A6-A7) Property, plant and equipment / Intangible assets
Intangible assets
in K€

Patents and
similar rights
and assets

Software

Goodwill

Advance
payments for
intangible
assets

Development
costs

Total
intangible
assets

Gross carrying amounts
Cost as of 1 Jan. 2017

2,288

1,591

15

0

11,912

15,806

Exchange rate differences

0

0

0

0

0

0

Additions

0

111

0

122

2,317

2,550

Reclassifications

0

0

0

0

0

0

Disposals

0

0

0

0

0

0

2,288

1,702

15

122

14,229

18,356

2,288

1,463

15

0

4,117

7,883

Exchange rate differences

0

0

0

0

0

0

Depreciation/amortisation for the
current year

0

83

0

0

1,477

1,560

Depreciation/amortisation of disposals

0

0

0

0

0

0

2,288

1,546

15

0

5,594

9,443

0

156

0

122

8,635

8,913

Cost as of 31 Dec. 2017
Value adjustments
Accumulated depreciation/
amortisation as of 1 Jan. 2017

Accumulated depreciation/
amortisation as of 31 Dec. 2017
Carrying amounts as of 31 Dec. 2017

Property, plant and equipment
in K€

Leasehold
improvements

Technical
equipment
and
machinery

Operating
and office
equipment

1,766

947

3,295

318

6,326

22,132

Exchange rate differences

-73

-1

-41

-27

-142

-142

Additions

46

49

608

278

981

3,531

0

0

0

0

0

0

38

0

160

174

372

372

1,701

995

3,702

395

6,793

25,149

1,379

856

2,418

203

4,856

12,739

Exchange rate differences

-69

-1

-28

-16

-114

-114

Depreciation/amortisation for the
current year

54

40

374

40

508

2,068

0

0

0

0

0

0

18

0

157

141

316

316

1,346

895

2,607

86

4,934

14,377

355

100

1,095

309

1,859

10,772

Vehicles

Total property,
plant and
equipment

Total property,
plant and
equipment
and intangible
assets

Gross carrying amounts
Cost as of 1 Jan. 2017

Reclassifications
Disposals
Cost as of 31 Dec. 2017
Value adjustments
Accumulated depreciation/
amortisation as of 1 Jan. 2017

Reclassifications
Depreciation/amortisation of disposals
Accumulated depreciation/
amortisation as of 31 Dec. 2017
Carrying amounts as of 31 Dec. 2017
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Intangible assets
in K€

Patents and
similar rights
and assets

Software

Goodwill

Advance
payments for
intangible
assets

Development
costs

Total
intangible
assets

Gross carrying amounts
Cost as of 1 Jan. 2016

2,288

1,561

15

0

10,462

14,326

Exchange rate differences

0

0

0

0

0

0

Additions

0

38

0

0

1,450

1,488

Reclassifications

0

0

0

0

0

0

Disposals

0

8

0

0

0

8

2,288

1,591

15

0

11,912

15,806

2,288

1,387

15

0

3,008

6,698

Exchange rate differences

0

0

0

0

0

0

Depreciation/amortisation for the
current year

0

84

0

0

1,109

1,193

Depreciation/amortisation of disposals

0

8

0

0

0

8

2,288

1,463

15

0

4,117

7,883

0

128

0

0

7,795

7,923

Cost as of 31 Dec. 2016
Value adjustments
Accumulated depreciation/
amortisation as of 1 Jan. 2016

Accumulated depreciation/
amortisation as of 31 Dec. 2016
Carrying amounts as of 31 Dec. 2016

Property, plant and equipment
in K€

Leasehold
improvements

Technical
equipment
and
machinery

Operating
and office
equipment

1,647

959

2,963

345

5,914

20,240

Exchange rate differences

15

-1

0

7

21

21

Additions

21

36

436

43

536

2,024

Reclassifications

84

0

-84

0

0

0

1

47

20

77

145

153

1,766

947

3,295

318

6,326

22,132

1,247

856

2,061

209

4,373

11,071

15

0

3

4

22

22

117

37

374

57

585

1,778

Reclassifications

0

0

0

0

0

0

Depreciation/amortisation of disposals

0

37

20

67

124

132

1,379

856

2,418

203

4,856

12,739

387

91

877

115

1,470

9,393

Vehicles

Total property,
plant and
equipment

Total property,
plant and
equipment
and intangible
assets

Gross carrying amounts
Cost as of 1 Jan. 2016

Disposals
Cost as of 31 Dec. 2016
Value adjustments
Accumulated depreciation/
amortisation as of 1 Jan. 2016
Exchange rate differences
Depreciation/amortisation for the
current year

Accumulated depreciation/
amortisation as of 31 Dec. 2016
Carrying amounts as of 31 Dec. 2016
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Amortisation and depreciation is calculated on a straight-line

The loans were recognised at their total amortised cost of € 15

basis over the following estimated useful lives:

thousand. The interest rate for employee loans in excess of € 7
Years

thousand was between 2 % and 3 %. The fixed interest rate
means that there is a certain degree of interest rate risk. However, this risk is classified as immaterial and is not hedged.

Leasehold improvements

2 - 14

Technical equipment and machinery

2 - 13

Operating and office equipment

8 - 20

Vehicles

5-8

notes on the tax items under G10 of the consolidated statement

Software

1-6

of comprehensive income.

Patents

(A9) Deferred tax assets
A breakdown of this item is provided as part of the explanatory

12

Expertise/customer base

3-5

Development projects

4 - 15

Notes to the shareholders’ equity and liabilities
(P1) Trade payables

Intangible assets and property, plant and equipment include

Trade payables are initially carried at cost, which corresponds

assets already written off in full which are still in use and carried

to their fair value. They are subsequently carried at amortised

at their historical cost of € 4,496 thousand (previous year: € 4,052

cost using the effective interest method. Invoices are generally

thousand).

settled on a twice-weekly basis and within the agreed payment
period. Early settlement discounts are applied where possible.

Development costs of € 2,317 thousand were recognised in the

All of the Company’s trade payables are short-term in nature.

period under review (previous year: € 1,450 thousand).
(P2) Advance payments received
(A8) Financial assets / Loans and security for rent issued by

This item relates to advance payments from customers, which

the Company

are carried at amortised cost.

Security for rent relating to subsidiaries in the amount of € 6
thousand was reported in financial investments. This item also
contained unrestricted loans issued to employees and security
for rented properties.
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(P3) Provisions
Breakdown of other provisions

1 Jan. 2017

Utilisation

Reversal

Addition

31 Dec. 2017

Warranty and repair expenses

1,847

-1,205

-527

1,604

1,719

Total current provisions

1,847

-1,205

-527

1,604

1,719

Warranties

136

0

-136

160

160

Anniversaries

283

-12

-7

51

315

Total non-current provisions

419

-12

-143

211

475

2,266

-1,217

-670

1,815

2,194

in K€
Current provisions

Non-current provisions

Total

Current provisions primarily relate to provisions for expected

Non-current provisions include anniversary provisions of € 315

warranty and repair expenses. Warranty provisions are recogni-

thousand (previous year: € 283 thousand) and the non-current

sed on the basis of a calculation of the remaining months of the

portion of warranty provisions in the amount of € 160 thousand

warranty term for the projects and the average service cost per

(previous year: € 136 thousand). The warranty provisions are ex-

month during the warranty term. This item also contains provi-

pected to be claimed within 12 to 60 months, while the anni-

sions for the delivery of replacement parts within the warranty

versary provision is expected to be claimed within 1 to 40 years.

period.
(P4) Current income tax liabilities
The provisions for warranty and repair expenses decreased

Current income tax liabilities are broken down into Viscom AG’s

slightly compared with the previous year due to the reduction

trade tax liabilities (€ 281 thousand) and corporation tax liabili-

in necessary repairs.

ties (€ 358 thousand) and the tax provisions of the companies in
the USA (€ 52 thousand) and Shanghai (€ 397 thousand).

A claim is anticipated for current provisions within the next
twelve months.
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(P5) Other current and financial liabilities

The item “Other current liabilities” included taxes to be paid and

Other current and financial liabilities are composed of the

provisions to be recognised for pending holiday and overtime

following items:

payments in particular.

Other current and financial
liabilities
Management bonuses, incentives,
one-time payments

2017
K€

2016
K€

(P6) Deferred tax liabilities
A breakdown of this item is provided as part of the explanatory
notes on the tax items under G10 of the consolidated statement

2,636

2,598

Commission payments to agents

357

450

Outstanding purchase invoices

256

236

Social security

226

210

Supervisory Board

81

81

divided into 9,020,000 shares, is fully paid up. The 9,020,000

Debtors with credit balances

19

38

shares are no-par value bearer shares each with a notional in-

Subtotal of other financial
liabilities

3,575

3,613

Holiday, overtime

1,224

1,343

Other

842

1,167

Taxes

527

619

Subtotal of other current liabilities

2,593

3,129

consist of the premium from BdW (Beteiligungsgesellschaft für

Total

6,168

6,742

die deutsche Wirtschaft), which held an interest in Viscom AG

of comprehensive income.
(P7 to P10) Shareholders’ equity and reserves
The reported share capital of the parent company Viscom AG
in the amount of € 9,020,000.00 (previous year: € 9,020,000.00),

terest in the share capital of € 1.00. In the course of 2006, the
share capital, which was divided into 67,200 shares on 1 January
2006, was increased by 6,652,800 shares (€ 6,653 thousand) by
way of a capital increase from retained earnings and by a further
2,300,000 shares (€ 2,300 thousand) through the issue of new
shares in conjunction with the Company’s IPO. Capital reserves

until 1 January 2005, and the Viscom employees holding an inOther financial liabilities include current liabilities in the form

terest in the Company, as well as the premium from the issue of

of, for example, unpaid bonuses to employees and commission

new shares in the amount of € 38,591 thousand. The options for

payments for which agents are already eligible but which are

the utilisation of capital reserves are consistent with the provisi-

only due on receiving customer payment, and outstanding in-

ons of the German Stock Corporation Act (AktG). A stock option

voices, i. e. for goods that were delivered and recorded but for

plan for employees has not been established.

which the accompanying invoice had not been issued as of the
end of the year.
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As communicated in the corresponding ad hoc release on

In the 2017 financial year, a dividend of € 0.45 per share was

29 July 2008, Viscom AG initiated a buy-back of its own shares

distributed for the 2016 financial year.

via the stock exchange on that date. In the period from 29 July
2008 to 31 March 2009, Viscom AG bought back 134,940 of its

Diluted and basic earnings per share are determined by divi-

own shares. This corresponds to around 1.5 % of the Company’s

ding the consolidated net profit for the period by the number of

share capital. The purchase of own shares is recognised direct-

dividend-bearing shares.

ly in equity and serves to reduce equity. The amount was deducted from capital reserves as a lump sum. The shares were

The Executive Board is authorised, with the approval of the

acquired at an average price of € 4.33 per share. The buy-back

Supervisory Board, to increase the share capital of the Company

provides currency for potential acquisitions. In accordance with

on one or more occasions in the period until 31 May 2021 by a

section 71b AktG, shares held directly or indirectly by Viscom AG

total of up to € 4,500,000.00 through the issue of up to 4,500,000

are not entitled to dividends.

new no-par value bearer common shares (no-par value shares)
against cash or non-cash contributions (authorised capital 2016).

No additional shares were acquired in this context in the 2017
financial year. The number of dividend-bearing shares remained
the same at 8,885,060 on 31 December 2017.
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SEGMENT INFORMATION

Information on the Group’s geographical segments by sales market
Europe

Americas

Asia

Consolidation

in K€

2017

2016

2017

2016

2017

2016

External sales

50,784

50,553

13,557

10,530

24,201

16,162

0

Inter-segment sales

23,919

17,770

285

547

1,834

1,699

Total sales

74,703

68,323

13,842

11,077

26,035

Segment earnings

10,748

8,113

1,389

780

plus financial result

0

0

0

less income taxes

0

0

0

Total

2016

2017

2016

0

88,542

77,245

-26,038

-20,016

0

0

17,861

-26,038

-20,016

88,542

77,245

2,105

1,536

-413

68

13,829

10,497

0

0

0

0

0

2

-30

0

0

0

0

0

-4,758

-3,338

9,073

7,129

2017

Consolidated net profit

Segment assets
plus financial assets
plus deferred taxes and tax assets

56,546

51,945

6,481

5,439

8,317

8,760

-777

-362

70,567

65,782

1,753

1,754

0

0

0

0

-1,747

-1,747

6

7

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

769

848

71,342

66,637

Total assets

Segment liabilities
plus financial liabilities
plus deferred taxes and
provisions for taxes

11,131

11,928

3,596

2,422

2,110

3,813

-6,121

-6,991

10,716

11,172

475

419

0

0

0

0

0

0

475

419

3,391

2,756

0

0

0

0

0

0

3,391

2,756

14,582

14,347

Total liabilities

Investments

3,116

1,927

138

90

277

7

0

0

3,531

2,024

Depreciation and amortisation

1,957

1,601

74

74

37

103

0

0

2,068

1,778

The geographical segments form the basis for the internal re-

the segments and manages them using EBIT as a central bench-

porting used by Group management, as the risks and rates of

mark. Services are generally settled between the Europe seg-

return of the Group are mainly influenced by differences bet-

ment and the other segments based on transfer prices.

ween sales regions. The management evaluates the results of
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The operating segments provide supplementary internal infor-

In 2017 the 10 % revenue limit stated in IFRS 8.34 was excee-

mation for management. The geographical segments are deter-

ded with two customers. One of these customers accounted for

mined on the basis of the domicile of the respective customer.

revenue of € 25,529 thousand (previous year: € 20,907 thousand),

The reportable segments generate the majority of their revenue

while the other accounted for revenue of € 13.150 thousand

by producing and selling the product groups stated in the table

(previous year: € 14,218 thousand). In both cases, the revenue

below. Viscom generated around 58 % (previous year: around

was generated across all segments.

54 %) of revenue with the five largest customers. External
sales amounted to € 24,354 thousand (previous year: € 23,236

The “Optical and X-ray series inspection systems” business area

thousand) in Germany and to € 64,188 thousand (previous year:

includes all standard AOI and AXI machines which are identical

€ 54,009 thousand) in all other countries.

up to a certain stage of completion irrespective of the content
of the respective customer order. By contrast, “Special optical

Total non-current assets with the exception of financial instru-

and X-ray inspection systems” are usually developed specifically

ments and deferred taxes receivable (there were no assets rela-

for one customer or customer group, or constitute special in-

ted to pensions or claims under insurance contracts) in Germa-

spection systems that can be used within the production line

ny were € 10,274 thousand (previous year: € 9,107 thousand). In

but also as standalone systems, as well as X-ray tubes sold to

the remaining countries, these assets totalled € 513 thousand

OEMs. The “Service” business area offers a comprehensive and

(previous year: € 302 thousand).

global range of services with individual support packages.

Information about the product groups

Optical and X-ray series
inspection systems

Special optical and
X-ray
inspection systems

Service

Total

in K€

2017

2016

2017

2016

2017

2016

2017

2016

External sales

61,137

52,102

12,983

13,260

14,422

11,883

88,542

77,245

Assets

48,726

44,370

10,347

11,292

11,494

10,120

70,567

65,782

2,438

1,365

518

347

575

311

3,531

2,024

Investments
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Segment statement of cash flows

in K€

Europe

Americas

Asia

Consolidation

Total

2017

2017

2017

2017

2017

Cash flow from operating activities
Net profit for the period after interest and taxes

7,805

2,274

1,647

-2,653

9,073

Adjustment of net profit for income tax expense (+)

3,603

552

460

143

4,758

1

0

0

0

1

Adjustment of net profit for interest income (-)

-1,641

-1

-2

1,641

-3

Adjustment of net profit for depreciation and amortisation
expense (+)

1,957

74

37

0

2,068

-62

5

0

0

-57

0

9

-26

0

-17

2,623

-1,530

992

-1,902

183

-765

-157

-1,714

2,771

135

-2,966

0

-423

0

-3,389

10,555

1,226

971

0

12,752

Proceeds (+) from the disposal of non-current assets

1

46

55

0

102

Acquisition (-) of property, plant and equipment and
intangible assets

-800

-138

-277

0

-1,215

Dividends received (+)

1,641

0

0

-1,641

0

Capitalisation of development costs (-)

-2,317

0

0

0

-2,317

0

0

2

0

2

-1,475

-92

-220

-1,641

-3,428

-3,998

-891

-750

1,641

-3,998

-1

0

0

0

-1

Net cash and cash equivalents from financing activities

-3,999

-891

-750

1,641

-3,999

Changes in cash and cash equivalents due to changes in
exchange rates

0

-333

-3

0

-336

Change in cash and cash equivalents

5,081

243

1

0

5,325

Cash and cash equivalents as at 1 January

1,938

1,824

2,755

0

6,517

Cash and cash equivalents

7,019

1,734

2,753

0

11,506

Adjustment of net profit for interest expense (+)

Increase (+) / decrease (-) in provisions
Gains (-) / losses (+) on the disposal of non-current assets
Increase (-) / decrease (+) in inventories, receivables and
other assets
Increase (+) / decrease (-) in liabilities
Income taxes repaid (+) / paid (-)
Net cash used in/from operating activities

Cash flow from investing activities

Interest received (+)
Net cash used in investing activities

Cash flow from financing activities
Dividend payment (-)
Interest paid (-)

Cash and cash equivalents
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OTHER DISCLOSURES

Disclosures concerning financial instruments
and financial risk management

The following presentation provides information on the carrying
amounts of the individual measurement categories. The fair
values for each class of financial instrument are also shown. The

Presentation of the categories of financial instruments and the

presentation is intended to enable a comparison of the carrying

corresponding net profit in accordance with IFRS 7

amounts and fair values.

Agreements which mutually lead to the accrual of a financial
asset for a company and the accrual of a financial liability or an

For cash and cash equivalents and other current originated

equity instrument for a counterparty are classified as financial

financial instruments, including trade receivables and payables,

instruments.

financial assets as well as other receivables and liabilities, the fair
values correspond to the carrying amounts recognised at parti-

In this context, financial assets include cash and cash equiva-

cular reporting dates. The fair values of the category “Financial

lents, contractually committed rights for receiving cash or other

instruments held to maturity” corresponded to the market values

financial assets such as trade receivables, derivative financial

as of 31 December 2017.

instruments and equity instruments held in other companies.
Financial liabilities include contractual obligations, liquid assets

The categories of financial assets and liabilities are included in

or other financial assets to be released to other companies. This

the following tables:

encompasses obtained loans, trade payables and derivates.

Assets
31 Dec. 2017

Measurement
category

Total

Carrying
amount

in K€

Fair
Value

Nominal value

Amortised cost

Liquid assets / cash reserve

Loans and
receivables (LaR)

Carrying
amount

Fair
Value

Carrying
amount

Fair
Value

Financial assets and
other receivables

LaR

327

327

0

0

327

327

Trade receivables

LaR

22,488

22,488

0

0

22,488

22,488

Cash and
cash equivalents

LaR

11,506

11,506

11,506

11,506

0

0

34,321

34,321

11,506

11,506

22,815

22,815

Total

95

Liabilities and shareholders’ equity
31 Dec. 2017

Measurement
category

Total

Amortised cost
Financial
liabilities (FL)

Carrying amount

Fair Value

Carrying amount

Fair Value

in K€
Trade payables

FL

2,609

2,609

2,609

2,609

Other financial
liabilities

FL

3,476

3,476

3,476

3,476

6,085

6,085

6,085

6,085

Total

Assets
31 Dec. 2016

Measurement
category

Total

Carrying
amount

in K€

Fair
Value

Nominal value

Amortised cost

Liquid assets / cash reserve

Loans and
receivables (LaR)

Carrying
amount

Fair
Value

Carrying
amount

Fair
Value

Financial assets and
other receivables

LaR

290

290

0

0

290

290

Trade receivables

LaR

26,202

26,202

0

0

26,202

26,202

Cash and
cash equivalents

LaR

6,517

6,517

6,517

6,517

0

0

33,009

33,009

6,517

6,517

26,492

26,492

Total

Liabilities and shareholders’ equity
31 Dec. 2016

Measurement
category

Total

Amortised cost
Financial
liabilities (FL)

Carrying amount

Fair Value

Carrying amount

Fair Value

in K€
Trade payables

FL

2,582

2,582

2,582

2,582

Other financial
liabilities

FL

3,493

3,493

3,493

3,493

6,075

6,075

6,075

6,075

Total
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Financial instruments measured at fair value or amortised cost

The fair value option is not applied. At the reporting date, there

must be classified within a 3-level classification hierarchy. Clas-

were no financial instruments in the category “held for trading”.

sification is contingent on the availability of observable market
prices. Financial instruments are classified as having level-1 fair

Net gains from financial instruments resulted from changes to

value, e.g. shares or securities, if their market prices are directly

the fair value, from impairment losses, write-ups and from write-

observable in an active market. The Group has no level-1, level-2

offs. This also includes interest income and expenses and other

or level-3 financial instruments. Due to being short-term in

profit components from financial instruments not recognised at

nature, the carrying amounts of all other financial instruments

fair value through profit or loss.

constitute a reasonable approximation of the fair value.

31 Dec. 2017

Gross
amount

from

from
remeasurement

in K€
Financial assets and other receivables

Net amount
2017

Currency
translation

Value
adjustments

327

0

0

0

327

Trade receivables

23,728

0

0

-1,240

22,488

Cash and cash equivalents

11,506

0

0

0

11,506

Total

35,561

0

0

-1,240

34,321

31 Dec. 2016

Gross
amount

from

from
remeasurement

in K€
Financial assets and other receivables
Trade receivables
Cash and cash equivalents
Total

Net amount
2016

Currency
translation

Value
adjustments

290

0

0

0

290

27,014

0

0

-812

26,202

6,517

0

0

0

6,517

33,821

0

0

-812

33,009
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Interest income of € 3 thousand resulted from cash and cash

Default risk

equivalents in the 2017 financial year (previous year: € 31

Viscom employs appropriate control processes in order to en-

thousand). The value adjustment of trade receivables at € 428

sure that sales are only entered into with customers with proven

thousand (previous year: € 0 thousand) was recognised in profit

creditworthiness. This also means that the default risk associated

or loss in the 2017 financial year.

with sales must be kept within acceptable limits.

Financial risk management objectives and processes (IAS 32/

Viscom does not act as a guarantor for the obligations of other

IAS 39)

parties.

The significant risks for Viscom’s financial instruments are the
default risk, the interest rate risk and the exchange rate risk.

The maximum default risk can be derived from the carrying
amount of each financial asset as reported in the statement of

The Executive Board determined corresponding risk processes,

financial position.

which it reviews on a regular basis. These risk processes are summarised in the following section.

Maturity structure of financial assets
31 Dec. 2017

Overdue in the following time frames
Gross
amount

Not
overdue

< 31 days

31 <> 60
days

61 <> 90
days

91 <> 180
days

327

327

0

0

0

0

0

Trade receivables

23,728

13,898

3,839

2,106

1,602

686

1,597

of which impaired

1,240

39

8

1

96

30

1,066

24,055

14,225

3,839

2,106

1,602

686

1,597

Gross
amount

Not
overdue

< 31 days

31 <> 60
days

61 <> 90
days

91 <> 180
days

290

290

0

0

0

0

0

27,014

17,417

4,183

2,370

1,204

1,014

826

812

36

3

0

28

26

719

27,304

17,707

4,183

2,370

1,204

1,014

826

in K€
Financial assets and other
receivables

Total

> 181 days

Maturity structure of financial assets
31 Dec. 2016

Overdue in the following time frames

in K€
Financial assets and other
receivables
Trade receivables
of which impaired
Total
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> 181 days

No conditions of any financial asset that would otherwise be

as the significant funds were invested with a fixed interest

overdue or impaired were renegotiated in the financial year.

rate. This risk is stated in the explanatory notes on the respective
items. No derivative financial instruments are employed for the

The credit rating of financial assets that are neither overdue nor

purposes of hedging against interest rate risk.

impaired are determined on the basis of external credit ratings
(if available) or historical experiences about default rates of the

Liquidity risk

corresponding business partner.

Viscom is committed to ensuring that it has sufficient cash and
cash equivalents or irrevocable credit facilities at its disposal

Based on empirical values from the past, the Company recog-

to meet its obligations for the next three years as set out in its

nised a value adjustment that accounted for both interest rate

strategic plan. Viscom had not utilised any of the credit facilities

and default risk. Value adjustments on individual items were also

extended to it at the reporting date.

recognised.
On that date, all of the Company’s cash and cash equivalents
No interest income was generated from value adjusted financial

were held in current bank clearing accounts and as cash in hand.

assets in the period under review.
The remaining contractual terms are presented in the following
tables:

Interest rate risk
Certain financial Instruments held by Viscom are exposed to
interest rate risk. The interest rate risk is classified as insignificant,

Remaining contractual terms
31 Dec. 2017

Carrying
amount

in K€

Remaining term
< 1 year

1 to 5 years

> 5 years

Trade payables

2,609

2,609

0

0

Other financial liabilities

3,476

3,476

0

0

Total

6,085

6,085

0

0

There were no gross outflows.
Remaining contractual terms
31 Dec. 2016

Carrying
amount

in K€

Remaining term
< 1 year

1 to 5 years

> 5 years

Trade payables

2,582

2,582

0

0

Other financial liabilities

3,493

3,493

0

0

Total

6,075

6,075

0

0
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Exchange rate risk

Related party disclosures

As Viscom operates internationally, the Group is also exposed
to exchange rate risks. Approximately 10 % of the consolida-

In the year under review, the members of the Executive Board

ted revenue is exposed to an exchange rate risk in the parent

received total remuneration in the form of payments due in the

company. Around 7 % of the parent company’s expense was

short term at € 874 thousand (previous year: € 854 thousand)

denominated in a currency other than the reporting currency.

and other payments due in the longer term at € 251 thousand

These risks were not hedged on the reporting date or during the

(previous year: € 251 thousand). The remuneration for members

year. As of 31 December 2017, net receivables relevant to the

of the Supervisory Board consists solely of payments due in the

exchange rate totalled € 2,979 thousand. It included both the

short term at € 81 thousand (previous year: € 81 thousand).

receivables portfolio of Viscom AG in US dollars and the receivables portfolio of the subsidiaries in euro. Assuming a change of

Related parties and affiliated companies

5 %, the exchange rate risk recognised in profit or loss amounted

HPC Vermögensverwaltung GmbH held an interest of 53.98 % in

to € 142 thousand and would increase or reduce the Company’s

Viscom AG as of 31 December 2017. HPC Vermögensverwaltung

net profit for the period by this amount in the event of the res-

GmbH is therefore both an affiliated company and the parent

pective change. Due to the Company’s business volumes and

company of Viscom AG.

the development of the euro/US dollar exchange rate, the current level of exchange rate risk was deemed acceptable without
the need for hedging.

Goods and services from re-lated parties and affiliated
companies
in K€

2017

2016

Capital management
Viscom’s capital management aims to ensure the continued

From lease contracts:

existence of the Company as a going concern to continue pro-

HPC Vermögensverwaltung GmbH

viding shareholders with income and services due to them.

From services:
HPC Vermögensverwaltung GmbH

The uninvested and hence dedicated shareholders’ equity components of the Company are used for controlling liquidity and

61

66

688

528

From rentals:

financing the Company’s operating activities. The Company’s

HPC Vermögensverwaltung GmbH

628

590

objective is to finance operating activities primarily from own

Marina Hettwer / Petra Pape GbR

165

165

funds.

Dr. Martin Heuser / Petra Pape GbR

482

482

Use of derivative financial instruments

Sum of goods and services
received by the Group

2,024

1,831

Viscom did not use derivative financial instruments to hedge
exchange rate and interest risks in the 2017 financial year.
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Viscom AG has also concluded leases for company vehicles with

The future services for the following periods are:

HPC Vermögensverwaltung GmbH. In 2017, HPC Vermögensverwaltung GmbH provided further services such as company
childcare, cleaning services and other miscellaneous services.
The future cumulative minimum lease payments for the following periods are:
Lease obligations for company cars
in K€
Total
of which to HPC
Vermögensverwaltung GmbH
(as an affiliated company)
within 1 year of the reporting date
of which to HPC
Vermögensverwaltung GmbH
(as an affiliated company)
more than 1 but less than 5 years
after the reporting date
of which to HPC
Vermögensverwaltung GmbH
(as an affiliated company)
within more than 5 years of the
reporting date

2016

2017

1,133

1,069

96

94

566

466

51

48

Services
in K€

2016

2017

Total

688

528

of which to HPC
Vermögensverwaltung GmbH
(as an affiliated company)

688

528

within 1 year of the reporting date

688

528

of which to HPC
Vermögensverwaltung GmbH
(as an affiliated company)

688

528

more than 1 but less than 5 years
after the reporting date

0

0

within more than 5 years of the
reporting date

0

0

Other related parties
567

603

There are rental agreements for eight properties in Carl-Buderus-Straße (CBS) and one property in Fränkische Straße (FS) in

45

46

Hanover between Viscom AG and Dr. Martin Heuser/Petra Pape
GbR*, Hanover, Marina Hettwer/Petra Pape GbR**, Hanover and

0

0

HPC Vermögensverwaltung GmbH***, Hanover.
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Agreements with related parties
Agreements with
remaining terms of

Rental property

One year or less

Between one and
five years

More than five years

Start of lease

Basic lease term

Net rent, monthly (€)

Net rent, annual (€)

CBS 8 *

1 Jan. 2013

3 months

4,000

48,000

FS 28 *

1 Nov. 2008

5 years

2,400

28,800

CBS 9 *

1 Jan. 2001

10 years

5,000

60,000

CBS 11 *

1 Aug. 2001

10 years

22,500

270,000

CBS 10 ***

1 Mar. 2002

10 years

23,600

283,200

CBS 10a ***

15 Nov. 2005

10 years

22,300

267,600

CBS 6 ***

1 Dec. 2015

10 years

22,350

268,200

CBS 13 *

1 Nov. 2007

10 years

6,500

78,000

CBS 15 **

15 Nov. 2007

10 years

15,900

190,800

Total rental obligations with a remaining lease term of 1 year or less

1,453,800
(previous year:
1,239,600)

Total rental obligations with a remaining term of 1 to 5 years

4,932,700
(previous year:
4,654,300)

Total rental obligations with a remaining lease term of more than 5 years

2,839,650
(previous year:
3,187,950)

The right to terminate the leases of buildings CBS 9 and

In addition, a rental agreement for 10 years was concluded on

CBS 11 was not used in 2010. Both lease agreements were the-

1 December 2015 for facilities in building CBS 6. This was amen-

refore extended for another 10 years. In addition, the right to

ded on 1 December 2016 to include additional building units.

terminate the lease of building CBS 10 was not used in 2011. The

In addition, the right to terminate the leases of buildings CBS 13

lease agreement was therefore extended for another ten years.

and CBS 15 was not exercised in 2016. Both lease agreements

The right to terminate the lease of FS 28 was not used in 2012.

were therefore extended for another 10 years.

In addition, the right to terminate the lease of building CBS 10a
was not used in 2014. The lease agreement was therefore ex-

Service agreements

tended for another ten years. Furthermore, a rental agreement

In 2017, painting and tiling services were purchased and an au-

for 10 years was concluded on 1 December 2015 for facilities in

dio system leased from the other related parties HPC Malerfach-

building CBS 6 and extended on 1 December 2016 to include

betrieb GmbH, HPC Fliesen GmbH and Magic Mile Music GmbH

additional space. In addition, the right to terminate the leases

in the total amount of € 58.9 thousand (previous year: € 34.8

of buildings CBS 13 and CBS 15 was not exercised in 2016. Both

thousand).

lease agreements were therefore extended for another 10 years.
Furthermore, the right to terminate the lease of building CBS 8

Loan agreements

was not used in 2017.

At the reporting date, there were no receivables or liabilities
resulting from loan agreements with related parties.
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Additional disclosures

12 months with effect from 15 May 2017. On 1 January 2017, the
rental agreement for the office in Shanghai was concluded for

Obligations arising from operating leases for the lessee

an additional two years and the rental agreement for the apart-

Details on vehicle and building leases are disclosed in the

ment was extended for a year until 2 January 2018. The rental

section on related parties.

agreement for the office in Atlanta was also extended for an additional five years on 1 March 2016. The rental agreement for the

The rented properties in the USA, France, Tunisia, Singapore and

office in Paris was automatically extended in 2013. Furthermore,

China are leased from third parties.

additional office space was rented in Singapore in 2017 with
the conclusion of a corresponding two-year rental agreement.

The rental agreement for the office in Tunis was automatical-

A new three-year rental agreement for office space in Huizhou,

ly extended for another year on 15 September 2017. The ren-

China, was also concluded in 2017.

tal agreement for the office in San José was also automatically
extended for another year. The rental agreement for the office

Operating lease expenses of € 2,258 thousand were recognised

in Singapore was extended by an additional 24 months with

in the 2017 financial year (previous year: € 2,240 thousand).

effect from 1 December 2016, while the rental agreement for
the apartment in Singapore was extended by an additional

Agreements with third parties
Agreements with
remaining terms of

Rental property

Start of lease

Basic lease term

One year or less

Shanghai, China

1 Jan. 2014

1 year

2,307

27,684

Singapore,
Singapore

15 May 2014

2 years

2,934

35,208

Tunis, Tunisia

15 Sep. 2011

1 year

504

6,048

San José, USA

1 Oct. 2011

1 year

793

9,516

21 Aug. 2014

2 years

7,202

86,424

Shanghai, China

1 Jan. 2015

2 years

6,784

81,405

Singapore,
Singapore

1 Jul. 2017

2 years

3,220

38,640

Huizhou, China

1 Jul. 2017

3 years

410

4,920

Atlanta, USA

1 Oct. 2006

5 years

6,954

83,448

Paris, France

1 Aug. 2004

9 years

2,083

24,996

Singapore,
Singapore

Between one and
five years

Net rent, monthly (€)

Net rent, annual (€)

Total rental obligations with a remaining lease term of 1 year or less

337,255
(previous year:
337,592)

Total rental obligations with a remaining term of 1 to 5 years

304,027
(previous year:
558,971)
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Purchase commitments

Voting rights notification

Purchase commitments from delivery contracts amounted to

1. Details of issuer

around € 2,534 thousand (previous year: € 4,953 thousand) as
of 31 December 2017. A purchase agreement for land was concluded on 22 December 2017, resulting in an obligation in the
amount of € 328 thousand.
Contingent liabilities

Viscom A G
Carl-Buderus-Straße 9-15
30455 Hanover
Germany
2. Reason for notification

There were no contingent liabilities as of 31 December 2017.

Acquisition/disposal of shares with voting rights
Acquisition/disposal of instruments

Shareholder structure

Change in total number of voting rights

In May 2006, HPC Vermögensverwaltung GmbH, Hanover, informed Viscom AG in accordance with section 21 (1a) of the old

x

version of the German Securities Trading Act (WpHG) that its
share of the voting rights in Viscom AG exceeded 50 % on 9 May
2006. Dr. Martin Heuser and Volker Pape informed Viscom AG
in accordance with section 21 (1a) WpHG that more than 50 %

Other reason:
Voluntary group notification; threshold reached
solely at the level of subsidiaries due to internal
restructuring

3. Details of the party subject to the notification obligation

of the voting rights in Viscom AG were attributable to them on

Name:

City and country of registered office:

9 May 2006. The voting rights held directly by HPC Vermögens-

Allianz SE

Munich, Germany

verwaltung GmbH are attributable to Dr. Martin Heuser and
Volker Pape in full in accordance with section 22 (1) sentence 1
no. 1 of the old version of the WpHG.

4. Names of shareholders
holding voting rights of 3 % or more, if different from 3.
Allianz I.A.R.D. S.A.

HPC Vermögensverwaltung GmbH held an interest of 53.98 %
in Viscom AG as of 31 December 2017.

5. Date on which the threshold was reached:
21 Dec. 2017

Allianz SE, Munich, Germany, submitted the following notification to the Company on 17 January 2018 in accordance with

6. Total share of voting rights

section 33, 34 WpHG:

New
Previous
notification
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Share of
voting
rights
(total of
7.a.)

Share of
instruments
(total of
7.b.1.+
7.b.2.)

Total
shares (total of 7.a.
+ 7.b.)

Total
number
of voting
rights in
the issuer

7.36 %

0%

7.36 %

9020000

6.06 %

n/a %

n/a %

-

8. Information about the party subject to the notification obligation

7. Details of the voting rights held
a. Voting rights (section 33, 34 WpHG)
ISIN

absolute

DE0007846867

The party subject to the notification obligation (3.) is
not controlled and does itself not control any other
entities with voting rights in the issuer requiring notification (1.).

in %

directly
(section 33
WpHG)

indirectly
(section 34
WpHG)

directly
(section 33
WpHG)

indirectly
(section 34
WpHG)

0

663814

0%

7.36 %

x

Full chain of subsidiaries beginning with the ultimate
controlling person or entity:
Voting rights
in % if 3 % or
more

Instruments
in % if 5 % or
more

Total in % if 5
% or more

Allianz SE

0%

0%

0%

Allianz
Argos 14
GmbH

0%

0%

0%

0%

0%

0%

Allianz
France S.A.

0%

0%

0%

Allianz
I.A.R.D. S.A.

7.36 %

0%

7.36 %

Entity
Total

663814

7.36 %

b.1. Instruments within the meaning of section 38 (1) no. 1 WpHG
Type of
instrument

Maturity/
expiry
date

Exercise
period/
term

Voting
rights
(absolute)

Voting
rights
in %
0%

Total

0

0%

b.2. Instruments within the meaning of section 38 (1) no. 2 WpHG
Type of
instrument

Maturity/
expiry
date

Exercise Cash or Voting
period/ physical rights
settle- (absoluterm
ment
te)

Voting
rights
in %

9. In case of proxy voting in accordance with section 34 (3) WpHG
0%

Total

0

Allianz
Holding
France SAS

0%

(only possible in the case of allocation in accordance with section 34 (1) sentence 1 no. 6 WpHG)
Date of Annual General
Meeting:
Total share of voting rights
% (corresponds to voting
after Annual General Meeting: rights)
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REPORT ON POST-REPORTING DATE EVENTS

Events after the reporting date

German Corporate Governance Code

There were no significant events after the end of the financial

The Executive Board and Supervisory Board of Viscom AG sub-

year.

mitted the annual Compliance Statement, according to section
161 of the German Stock Corporation Act (AktG), in February
2018. It has been published and is permanently accessible on
the Viscom AG website.

TOTAL AUDITORS’ FEES (SECTION 314 (1)
NO. 9 OF THE GERMAN COMMERCIAL CODE
(HANDELSGESETZBUCH – HGB))

The fee charged for the work of the Group auditor PricewaterhouseCoopers GmbH Wirtschaftsprüfungsgesellschaft for the
financial year breaks down as follows:

Total auditors’ fees
in K€
Year-end audit services

115

98

Other confirmation services

0

0

Other services

0

12

115

110

Total

106

2016

2017

RESPONSIBILITY STATEMENT

“To the best of our knowledge and in accordance with the
applicable accounting principles, the consolidated financial
statements give a true and fair view of the Group’s net assets,
financial position and results of operations, and the Group management report includes a fair review of the development and
performance of the business and the position of the Group, together with a description of the principal opportunities and risks
associated with the expected development of the Group.”
Hanover, 28 February 2018

Dr. Martin Heuser

Volker Pape

Dirk Schwingel
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„REPORT OF THE INDEPENDENT AUDITOR

To Viscom AG, Hanover

Group management report is consistent with the consolidated
financial statements and German statutory provisions and pre-

REPORT ON THE AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL

sents an accurate view of the opportunities and risks of future

STATEMENTS AND THE GROUP MANAGEMENT REPORT

development in all material respects. Our audit opinion on the
Group management report does not extend to the content of

Audit opinions

the elements of the Group management report set out in the

We audited the consolidated financial statements of Viscom

“Other information” section.

AG, Hanover, and its subsidiaries (the Group), comprising the
consolidated statement of financial position for the year ended

In accordance with section 322 (3) sentence 1 HGB, we hereby

31 December 2017, the consolidated statement of comprehen-

declare that our audit did not give rise to any objections as to

sive income, the consolidated statement of changes in equity

the appropriateness of the consolidated financial statements

and the consolidated statement of cash flows, for the financial

and the Group management report.

year from 1 January to 31 December 2017 and the notes to
the consolidated financial statements, including a summary of

Basis of our audit opinions

the significant accounting policies. We also audited the Group

We conducted our audit of the consolidated financial state-

management report of Viscom AG for the financial year from

ments and the Group management report in accordance with

1 January to 31 December 2017. In accordance with German

section 317 HGB and the EU Audit Regulation (No. 537/2014),

statutory provisions, we did not audit the content of the ele-

taking into account the generally accepted standards for the au-

ments of the Group management report set out in the “Other

dit of financial statements promulgated by the German Institute

information” section of our auditor’s report.

of Public Auditors (IDW). Our responsibility in accordance with
these provisions and principles is described in the “Auditor’s

In our opinion based on the findings of our audit,

responsibility for the audit of the consolidated financial statements and the Group management report” section of our

• the attached consolidated financial statements comply with

auditor’s report. We are independent of the Group companies

the IFRS as required to be applied in the EU and the supplemen-

in accordance with the relevant provisions of European law and

tary German statutory provisions of section 315e (1) of the Ger-

the German provisions of commercial and professional law and

man Commercial Code (HGB) in all material respects and, taking

have complied with our other professional obligations under

these provisions into account, give a true and fair view of the

German law in line with these requirements. Furthermore, we

net assets and financial position of the Group as at 31 Decem-

declare in accordance with Art. 10 (2) f ) of the EU Audit Regulati-

ber 2017 and the results of operations for the financial year from

on that we have not conducted any non-audit services as prohi-

1 January to 31 December 2017

bited by Art. 5 (1) of the EU Audit Regulation. We believe that the
audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to

• and the attached Group management report provides an ac-

provide a basis for our audit opinions on the consolidated finan-

curate view of the situation of the Group on the whole. This

cial statements and the Group management report.
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Particularly important items for the audit of the consolidated

Development costs relate to development projects for proto-

financial statements

types and software that are intended to be used in the Viscom

Particularly important items are those items that, in our profes-

Group’s operations throughout their lifetimes. Development

sional judgement, we consider to have been most relevant for

costs are capitalised at the date on which the criteria set out

our audit of the consolidated financial statements for the finan-

in IAS 38.57 are fulfilled, whereas research costs are recognised

cial year from 1 January to 31 December 2017. These items were

as expenses. Capitalised development costs are amortised on a

taken into account in connection with our audit of the consoli-

straight-line basis over a maximum useful life of four years for

dated financial statements as a whole and the formation of our

prototypes and between four and 15 years for software from the

audit opinion; a separate audit opinion is not issued for these

date on which they become usable.

items.
The useful lives and carrying amounts of capitalised developIn our view, the following items were the most relevant for our

ment costs that are already in use are tested for validity and

audit:

evidence of potential impairment at the end of each financial
year. In accordance with IAS 36, capitalised development costs

 Recognition and measurement of development costs

are considered to be impaired when the recoverable amount of
the respective asset falls below its carrying amount. Capitalised

 Recognition and measurement of completed systems and

development costs not yet in use are also tested for impairment

assemblies and partially completed systems within inventories

annually.

We structured our presentation of these particularly important

The recoverability of development costs is based on estimates

audit items as follows:

and assumptions by the legal representatives and is subject to
uncertainty. In addition, capitalised development costs make

 Item and problem

a direct contribution to consolidated net profit on account of
their recognition in the consolidated income statement. In our

 Audit procedure and findings

view, development costs therefore constitute an important item
for our audit.

 Reference to additional information
 In the course of our audit, we initially performed reconciliaThe particularly important audit items are presented below:

tion audit activities between the documentation of capitalised
development costs, the amounts reported in non-current assets

 Recognition and measurement of development costs

and the consolidated statement of financial position. With regard to initial measurement, we reviewed content and consi-

 In the consolidated financial statements of Viscom AG, capi-

stency of the procedures established by Viscom AG concerning

talised development costs are reported in intangible assets in

the fulfilment of the criteria set out in IAS 38.57 and the delimi-

the amount of € 8.6 million. This item accounts for around 12 %

tation of research and development activities.

of total assets.

109

We performed corresponding audit activities to examine the

is caused by production. Valuation allowances are recognised

amount and basis of the allocation of capitalised costs to exis-

as required to ensure that the carrying amount of the systems

ting development projects that are not yet available for use,

reflects the lower of cost or net realisable value at the reporting

taking into account the current development status of the indi-

date.

vidual projects reported.
Measurement with regard to recoverability is based on estimates
With regard to impairment testing, we reviewed the calculation

and assumptions by the legal representatives of the Company

of the recoverable amount including the valuation parameters

and is subject to uncertainty. In our view, inventories therefore

applied. In particular, we reviewed the plausibility and consis-

constitute an important item for our audit.

tency of the sales forecasts used as the basis for determining
recoverability.

 In the course of our audit, we performed reconciliation audit
activities between the general ledger and the subsidiary ledger

The procedures established by the legal representatives, inclu-

and examined the scope and the calculation of cost and the

ding the assumptions and estimates applied with regard to the

methods applied by the Company in impairment testing taking

delimitation, recognition and measurement of development

net realisable value into account, among other things.

costs, are verifiable, adequately documented and, in our view,
suitable for ensuring the proper accounting treatment of deve-

The assumptions and estimates applied by the legal represen-

lopment costs as a whole.

tatives with regard to the assessment of the recoverability of
inventories are verifiable, adequately documented and, in our

 The disclosures on development costs can be found under

view, suitable for ensuring the proper accounting treatment of

“Summary of significant accounting principles” and in notes G4

inventories as a whole.

and A7 of the notes to the consolidated financial statements.

 The disclosures on inventories can be found under “Summary
 Recognition and measurement of completed systems and

of significant accounting principles” and in note A4 of the notes

assemblies and partially completed systems within inventories

to the consolidated financial statements.

 Inventories totalling € 24.5 million are reported in the con-

Other information

solidated financial statements of Viscom AG. This item accounts

The legal representatives are responsible for the other informati-

for around 34 % of total assets. Finished goods and work in

on. The other information encompasses the following elements

progress, reported in the consolidated financial statements as

of the Group management report that we received prior to

“Completed systems” and “Assemblies and partially completed

the date of this auditor’s report and whose content we did not

systems”, account for € 17.2 million of this figure.

review:

Inventories are carried at the lower of cost or net realisable va-

• the Group corporate governance statement in accordance

lue. Cost includes the direct material and production costs and

with section 315d HGB contained in the “Corporate governance

appropriate portions of material and production overheads and

statement/Corporate governance report” section of the Group

of the depreciation of non-current assets to the extent that this

management report
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• the corporate governance report in accordance with section

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the legal

3.10 of the German Corporate Governance Code

representatives are responsible for assessing the Group’s ability
to continue as a going concern. They are also responsible for dis-

The annual report is expected to be provided to us after the
date of the auditor’s report.

closing any items of relevance to the Group’s ability to continue
as a going concern. Furthermore, they are responsible for performing accounting on a going concern basis unless there is an

Our audit opinions on the consolidated financial statements

intention to liquidate the Group or to discontinue business ope-

and the Group management report do not extend to the other

rations or there is no realistic alternative to this course of action.

information described above; accordingly, we do not issue an
audit opinion or any other form of audit conclusion on this

The legal representatives are also responsible for the preparation

information.

of a Group management report which, on the whole, provides
an accurate view of the situation of the Group and is consistent

In connection with our audit, we are responsible for reading the

with the consolidated financial statements and German statu-

other information and assessing whether the other information

tory provisions and accurately presents the opportunities and
risks of future development in all material respects. In addition,

• contains any significant discrepancies compared with the con-

the legal representatives are responsible for the precautions and

solidated financial statements, the Group management report

measures (systems) that they deem necessary in order to enable

or the findings obtained in the course of our audit, or

the preparation of a Group management report in accordance
with the applicable German statutory provisions and to provide

• otherwise appears to contain significant misstatements.

sufficient suitable evidence for the disclosures contained in the
Group management report.

Responsibility of the legal representatives and the Supervisory Board for the consolidated financial statements and

The Supervisory Board is responsible for monitoring the Group’s

the Group management report

accounting process in respect of the preparation of the consoli-

The legal representatives are responsible for the preparation

dated financial statements and the Group management report.

of consolidated financial statements which comply with the
IFRS as required to be applied in the EU and the supplemen-

Auditor’s responsibility for the audit of the consolidated

tary German statutory provisions of section 315e (1) HGB in all

financial statements and the Group management report

material respects and for ensuring that, taking these provisions

Our objective is to obtain reasonable assurance that the con-

into account, the consolidated financial statements give a true

solidated financial statements as a whole are free of material

and fair view of the net assets, financial position and results of

misstatements, whether deliberate or accidental, and that, on

operations of the Group. Furthermore, the legal representatives

the whole, the Group management report provides an accu-

are responsible for the internal controls that they deem neces-

rate view of the situation of the Group and is consistent with

sary in order to enable the preparation of consolidated financi-

the consolidated financial statements, the findings obtained in

al statements that are free of material misstatements, whether

the course of our audit and German statutory provisions and

deliberate or accidental.

accurately presents the opportunities and risks of future development in all material respects, and to issue an auditor’s report
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containing our audit opinions on the consolidated financial

• assess the appropriateness of the accounting policies applied

statements and the Group management report.

by the legal representatives and the reasonableness of the estimates used by the legal representatives and the corresponding

Reasonable assurance involves a high degree of assurance but

disclosures.

does not guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with
section 317 HGB and the EU Audit Regulation and taking into

• draw conclusions about the appropriateness of the going

account the German standards for the audit of financial state-

concern approach adopted by the legal representatives and,

ments promulgated by the German Institute of Public Auditors

based on the audit evidence obtained, establish whether there

(IDW) will always identify material misstatements. Misstate-

is material uncertainty with respect to events or circumstances

ments may result from breaches of the relevant provisions or

that could give rise to significant doubts as to the Group’s ability

errors and are considered to be material if they could be rea-

to continue as a going concern. If we come to the conclusion

sonably expected to affect the economic decisions taken by

that such material uncertainty exists, we are obliged to refer

the users on the basis of the consolidated financial statements

to the corresponding disclosures in the consolidated financial

and the Group management report, either individually or

statements and the Group management report in our auditor’s

cumulatively.

report or, if these disclosures are inappropriate, to modify our
audit opinion accordingly. We draw our conclusions on the basis

In the course of our audit, we exercise professional judgement

of the audit evidence obtained up until the date of our auditor’s

and adopt a critical approach. We also

report. However, future events or circumstances may mean that
the Group is unable to continue as a going concern.

• identify and assess the risks of material misstatements, whether
deliberate or accidental, in the consolidated financial statements

• assess the overall presentation, structure and content of the

and the Group management report, plan and perform our audit

consolidated financial statements and the disclosures contained

procedures in response to these risks, and obtain audit evidence

therein and whether the consolidated financial statements pre-

that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our au-

sent the underlying transactions and events such that they

dit opinions. The risk that material misstatements may not be

give a true and fair view of the net assets, financial position and

identified is higher in the case of breaches of relevant provisions

results of operations of the Group in accordance with IFRS as re-

than in the case of errors, as such breaches may include fraudu-

quired to be applied in the EU and the supplementary German

lent collaboration, falsification, deliberate omissions, misleading

statutory provisions of section 315e (1) HGB.

presentations or the bypassing of internal controls.
• obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence for the accounting
• obtain an understanding of the relevant internal control sys-

information of the companies or business activities within the

tem for the audit of the consolidated financial statements and

Group in order to allow us to issue audit opinions on the con-

the relevant precautions and measures for the audit of the

solidated financial statements and the Group management re-

Group management report in order to allow us to plan audit

port. We are responsible for leading, monitoring and performing

procedures that are appropriate in the given circumstances but

the audit of the consolidated financial statements. We bear sole

that are not aimed at expressing an opinion on the effectiveness

responsibility for our audit opinions.

of these systems.

112

• assess the consistency of the Group management report with

OTHER STATUTORY AND OTHER LEGAL REQUIREMENTS

the consolidated financial statements, its compliance with the
relevant statutory provisions and the view it provides of the

Additional disclosures in accordance with Art. 10 of the EU

Group’s situation.

Audit Regulation
We were elected as the auditor of the consolidated financial

• conduct audit procedures relating to the future-oriented state-

statements by the Annual General meeting on 31 May 2017.

ments made by the legal representatives in the Group manage-

We were engaged by the Supervisory Board on 22 December

ment report. In particular, we examine the significant assump-

2017. We have audited the consolidated financial statements

tions underlying the future-oriented statements made by the

of Viscom AG, Hanover, without interruption since the 2010

legal representatives on the basis of sufficient appropriate audit

financial year.

evidence and assess whether the future-oriented statements
have been derived properly from these assumptions. We do

We hereby declare that the audit opinions contained in this

not issue a separate audit opinion on the future-oriented state-

auditor’s report are consistent with the additional report to the

ments or the underlying assumptions. There is a significant un-

Supervisory Board in accordance with Art. 11 of the EU Audit

avoidable risk that future events could deviate materially from

Regulation (audit report).

the future-oriented statements.
RESPONSIBLE AUDITOR
Among other things, we discuss the planned scope and timing

The auditor responsible for the audit is Jens Wedekind.”

of the audit and significant audit findings, including any defects
in the internal control system, identified in the course of our

Hanover, 28 February 2018

audit with the officers responsible for controlling.
PricewaterhouseCoopers GmbH
We issue a declaration to the officers responsible for controlling

Wirtschaftsprüfungsgesellschaft

stating that we have complied with the relevant requirements
concerning auditor independence, and discuss with them all re-

Jens Wedekind

ppa. Thomas Monecke

lationships and other matters that could be reasonably assumed

German Public Auditor

German Public Auditor

to have an effect on our independence and the corresponding
protective measures.
We determine which of the matters discussed with the officers
responsible for controlling were most relevant for our audit of

We inform, that the German version of the report of the independent auditor is the binding/legally valid version on pages
110 - 116 of the German Annual Report.

the consolidated financial statements for the current reporting
period, which are therefore classified as particularly important
items. We describe these items in our auditor’s report unless the
public disclosure of the respective item is prohibited by law or
by other provisions.
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GLOSSARY OF TECHNICAL TERMS
Term

Definition

AOI

Automated optical inspection

AXI

Automated x-ray inspection

CCI (Conformal Coating Inspection)

Conformal coating inspection

EMS (Electronic Manufacturing Services)

Contract manufacturer / subcontractor – especially for
Consumer, Communication and Computer products

Flat Panel Detector (FPD)

Flat Panel Detector (FPD) for x-rays with high image quality

High-speed data interface

Data interface between sensor and analysis computer

MX products

Inrared-light-machines for tests with electronic semiconductors

NP

New products

OEM (Original Equipment Manufacturer)

Manufacturer of a brand product

proALPHA

Enterprise resource planning (ERP) system

Quality Uplink

Facilitates combination of the results of different inspection gates

SI

Software platform for SP-products (AOI / AXI)

SP

Serial products

vVision

Machine operating interface

XM technology

New Viscom-camera / lighting technology with three times more
throughput than 8M technology and additional options, such as 3D
sensors

FINANCIAL CALENDAR 2018
21.03.2018

Annual Report 2017, Press Conference

Hanover

22.03.2018

DVFA Analyst Conference

Frankfurt am Main

15.05.2018

Interim Report 3M/2018

Hanover

30.05.2018

Annual General Meeting

Hanover, Altes Rathaus

14.08.2018

Interim Report 6M/2018

Hanover

13.11.2018

Interim Report 9M/2018

Hanover

FIVE-YEAR REPORT
Profit and loss

2017

2016

2015

2014

2013

Revenue

K€

88,542

77,245

69,389

62,254

49,820

EBIT

K€

13,829

10,497

10,157

9,378

6,772

EBT

K€

13,831

10,467

9,352

9,462

7,046

Income taxes

K€

-4,758

-3,338

-5,823

-2,777

-2,323

Net profit for the period

K€

9,073

7,129

3,529

6,685

4,723

K€

59,889

56,383

53,203

55,365

62,785

Balance sheet
Assets
Current assets
Non-current assets

K€

11,453

10,254

9,927

9,093

8,573

Total assets

K€

71,342

66,637

63,130

64,458

71,358

Liabilities
Current liabilities

K€

11,804

12,047

12,539

9,264

8,319

Non-current liabilities

K€

2,778

2,298

1,934

1,610

1,473

Total shareholders‘ equity

K€

56,760

52,292

48,657

53,584

61,566

Total shareholders‘ equity and liabilities

K€

71,342

66,637

63,130

64,458

71,358

K€

12,752

95

5,955

4,755

7,174

Cashflow statement
CF from operating activities
CF from investing activities

K€

-3,428

-1,968

-2,359

-2,233

-2,478

CF from financing activities

K€

-3,999

-3,554

-8,943

-15,126

-5,331

Cash and cash equivalents

K€

11,506

6,517

11,868

16,933

29,285

415

382

362

325

300

1,215

574

816

587

699

Personnel
Employees at year-end

Investments
Tangible and intangible assets (paid)

K€

Share
9,020,000

9,020,000

9,020,000

9,020,000

9,020,000

Dividend payment*

Number of shares
K€

5,331

3,998

3,554

8,885

15,104

Dividend per share*

€

0.60

0.45

0.40

1.00

1.70

Shareholder capital per share

€

6.29

5.80

5.39

5.94

6.83

Key figures
EBIT-Margin

%

15.6

13.6

14.6

15.1

13.6

Return on equity

%

16.0

13.6

7.3

12.5

7.7

Equity ratio

%

79.6

78.5

77.1

83.1

86.3

*Dividend proposal 0.60 € per dividend-bearing share for the financial year 2017
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